FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT AREA REPRESENTATIVE



OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC a Wyoming limited liability company 15011 N. 75th Street, Suite #2 Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 Phone: (480) 797-2854

E-Mail: Support@OHMFitness.com Website: www.OHMFITNESS.com

OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC offers area representative ("AR") franchises for the operation of a business that solicits, screens, recruits, develops, services and supports third party franchisees that operate OHM® exercise and fitness studios within a designated development territory.

The total investment necessary to begin operation of an OHM® AR franchise ranges from \$135,000 to \$403,000. This includes \$125,000 to \$375,000 that must be paid to us and our affiliates.

This Disclosure Document summarizes certain provisions of your franchise agreement ("ARA") and other information in plain English. Read this Disclosure Document and all accompanying agreements carefully. You must receive this Disclosure Document at least 14 calendar days before you sign a binding agreement with, or make any payment to, the franchisor or an affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale. Note, however, that no government agency has verified the information contained in this document.

You may wish to receive your disclosure document in another format that is more convenient for you. To discuss the availability of disclosures in different formats, contact Steven Belknap at 15011 N. 75th Street, Suite #2, Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 or by phone at (480) 797-2854.

The terms of your contract will govern your franchise relationship. Don't rely on the Disclosure Document alone to understand your contract. Read all of your contract carefully. Show your contract and this Disclosure Document to an advisor, like a lawyer or accountant.

Buying a franchise is a complex investment. The information in this Disclosure Document can help you make up your mind. More information on franchising, such as "A Consumer's Guide to Buying a Franchise," which can help you understand how to use this Disclosure Document, is available from the Federal Trade Commission (the "FTC"). You can contact the FTC at 1-877-FTC-HELP or by writing to the FTC at 600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20580. You can also visit the FTC's home page at www.ftc.gov for additional information. Call your state agency or visit your public library for other sources of information on franchising.

There may also be laws on franchising in your state. Ask your state agencies about them.

Issuance Date: May 1, 2024

How to Use this Franchise Disclosure Document

Here are some questions you may be asking about buying a franchise and tips on how to find more information:

QUESTION	WHERE TO FIND INFORMATION
How much can I earn?	Item 19 may give you information about outlet
	sales, costs, profits or losses. You should also try
	to obtain this information from others, like
	current and former franchisees. You can file
	their names and contact information in Item 20 or
	Exhibit D.
How much will I need to invest?	Items 5 and 6 list fees you will be paying to the
	Franchisor or at the Franchisor's direction. Item
	7 lists the initial investment to open. Item 8
	describes the suppliers you must use.
Does the Franchisor have the	Item 21 or Exhibit E includes financial
financial ability to provide	statements. Review these statements carefully.
support to my business?	
Is the franchise system stable,	Item 20 summarizes the recent history of the
growing, or shrinking?	number of company-owned and franchised
	outlets and AR franchises.
Will my business be the only	Item 12 and the "territory" provisions in the AR
OHM® AR franchise in my	agreement describe whether the Franchisor and
area?	other franchisees can compete with you.
Does the Franchisor have a	Items 3 and 4 tell you whether the Franchisor or
troubled legal history?	its management have been involved in material
	litigation or bankruptcy proceedings.
What is it like to be an OHM®	Item 20 or Exhibit D lists current and former
AR franchisee?	franchisees. You can contact them to ask about
	their experiences.
What else should I know?	These questions are only a few things you should
	look for. Review all 23 Items and all Exhibits in
	this disclosure document to better understand this
	franchise opportunity. See the table of contents.

What You Need To Know About Franchising Generally

<u>Continuing responsibility pay fees</u>. You may have to pay royalties and other fees even if you are losing money.

Business model can change. The franchise agreement may allow the Franchisor to change its manuals and business model without your consent. These changes may require you to make additional investments in your franchise business or may harm your franchise business.

<u>Supplier restrictions</u>. You may have to buy or lease items from the Franchisor or a limited group of suppliers the Franchisor designates. These items may be more expensive than similar items you could buy on your own.

<u>Operating restrictions</u>. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from operating a similar business during the term of the franchise. There are usually other restrictions. Some examples may include controlling your location, your access to customers, what you sell, how you market, and your hours of operation.

<u>Competition from Franchisor</u>. Even if the franchise agreement grants you a territory, the Franchisor may have the right to compete with you in your territory.

Renewal. Your franchise agreement may not permit you to renew. Even if it does, you may have to sign a new agreement with different terms and conditions in order to continue to operate your franchise business.

When your franchise ends. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from operating a similar business after your franchise ends even if you still have obligations to your landlord or other creditors.

Some States Require Registration

Your state may have a franchise law, or other law, that requires franchisors to register before offering or selling franchises in the state. Registration does not mean that the state recommends the franchise or has verified the information in this document. To find if your state has a registration requirement, or to contact your state, use the agency information in Exhibit A.

Your state also may have laws that require special disclosures or amendments be made to your franchise agreement. If so, you should check the State Specific Addenda. See the Table of Contents for the location of State Specific Addenda.

Special Risks to Consider About This Franchise

- 1. <u>Out-of-State Dispute Resolution:</u> The franchise agreement and area representative agreement ("ARA") require you to resolve disputes with the Franchisor by mediation, arbitration and/or litigation only in Arizona. Out-of-state mediation, arbitration, or litigation may force you to accept a less favorable settlement for disputes. It may also cost more to mediate, arbitrate, or litigate with the Franchisor in Arizona than in your own state.
- 2. **Spousal Liability:** Your spouse will be liable for all financial obligations under the ARA even though your spouse has no ownership interest in the franchise. This guarantee will place both your and your spouse's marital and personal assets, perhaps including your house, at risk if your franchise fails.
- 3. **Short Operating History:** The franchisor is in the early stages of development and has limited operating experience. This franchise is likely to be a riskier investment than a franchise in a system with a longer operating history.
- 4. <u>Financial Condition</u>. The Franchisor's financial condition, as reflected in its financial statements (see Item 21) calls into question the franchisor's financial ability to provide services and support to you.
- 5. <u>Sales Performance Required</u>. You must maintain minimum performance levels. Your inability to maintain these levels may result in loss of any territorial rights you are granted, termination of your franchise, and loss of your investment.

Certain states may require other risks to be highlighted. If so, check the "State Specific Addenda" pages for your state.

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

THE STATE OF MICHIGAN PROHIBITS CERTAIN UNFAIR PROVISIONS THAT ARE SOMETIMES IN FRANCHISE DOCUMENTS. IF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING PROVISIONS ARE IN THESE FRANCHISE DOCUMENTS, THE PROVISIONS ARE VOID AND CANNOT BE ENFORCED AGAINST YOU.

Each of the following provisions is void and unenforceable if contained in any documents relating to a franchise:

- (a) A prohibition on the right of a franchisee to join an association of franchisees.
- (b) A requirement that a franchisee assent to a release, assignment, novation, waiver, or estoppel which deprives a franchisee of rights and protections provided in this act. This shall not preclude a franchisee, after entering into a franchise agreement, from settling any and all claims.
- (c) A provision that permits a franchisor to terminate a franchise prior to the expiration of its term except for good cause. Good cause shall include the failure of the franchisee to comply with any lawful provision of the franchise agreement and to cure such failure after being given written notice thereof and a reasonable opportunity, which in no event need be more than 30 days, to cure such failure.
- (d) A provision that permits a franchisor to refuse to renew a franchise without fairly compensating the franchisee by repurchase or other means for the fair market value at the time of expiration of the franchisee's inventory, supplies, equipment, fixtures, and furnishings. Personalized materials which have no value to the franchisor and inventory, supplies, equipment, fixtures, and furnishings not reasonably required in the conduct of the franchise business are not subject to compensation. This subsection applies only if: (i) the term of the franchise is less than 5 years and (ii) the franchisee is prohibited by the franchise or other agreement from continuing to conduct substantially the same business under another trademark, service mark, trade name, logotype, advertising, or other commercial symbol in the same area subsequent to the expiration of the franchise or the franchisee does not receive at least 6 months advance notice of franchisor's intent not to renew the franchise.
- (e) A provision that permits the franchisor to refuse to renew a franchise on terms generally available to other franchisees of the same class or type under similar circumstances. This section does not require a renewal provision.
- (f) A provision requiring that arbitration or litigation be conducted outside this state. This shall not preclude the franchisee from entering into an agreement, at the time of arbitration, to conduct arbitration at a location outside this state.
- (g) A provision which permits a franchisor to refuse to permit a transfer of ownership of a franchise, except for good cause. This subdivision does not prevent a franchisor from exercising a right of first refusal to purchase the franchise. Good cause shall include, but is not limited to:
- (i) The failure of the proposed transferee to meet the franchisor's then current reasonable qualifications or standards.

- (ii) The fact that the proposed transferee is a competitor of the franchisor or subfranchisor.
- (iii) The unwillingness of the proposed transferee to agree in writing to comply with all lawful obligations.
- (iv) The failure of the franchisee or proposed transferee to pay any sums owing to the franchisor or to cure any default in the franchise agreement existing at the time of the proposed transfer.
- (h) A provision that requires the franchisee to resell to the franchisor items that are not uniquely identified with the franchisor. This subdivision does not prohibit a provision that grants to a franchisor a right of first refusal to purchase the assets of a franchise on the same terms and conditions as a bona fide third party willing and able to purchase those assets, nor does this subdivision prohibit a provision that grants the franchisor the right to acquire the assets of a franchise for the market or appraised value of such assets if the franchisee has breached the lawful provisions of the franchise agreement and has failed to cure the breach in the manner provided in subdivision (c).
- (i) A provision which permits the franchisor to directly or indirectly convey, assign, or otherwise transfer its obligations to fulfill contractual obligations to the franchisee unless provision has been made for providing the required contractual services.

If the franchisor's most recent financial statements are unaudited and show a net worth of less than \$100,000.00, the franchisee may request the franchisor to arrange for the escrow of initial investment and other funds paid by the franchisee until the obligations, if any, of the franchisor to provide real estate, improvements, equipment, inventory, training or other items included in the franchise offering are fulfilled. At the option of the franchisor, a surety bond may be provided in place of escrow.

THE FACT THAT THERE IS A NOTICE OF THIS OFFERING ON FILE WITH THE ATTORNEY GENERAL DOES NOT CONSTITUTE APPROVAL, RECOMMENDATION, OR ENDORSEMENT BY THE ATTORNEY GENERAL.

Any questions regarding this notice should be directed to:

State of Michigan
Department of Attorney General
CONSUMER PROTECTION DIVISION
Attention: Antitrust & Franchise
G. Mennen Williams Building, 6th Floor
525 West Ottawa
Lansing, Michigan 48909
Telephone Number: (517) 373-7117

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ITEM 1. FRANCHISOR AND ANY PARENTS, PREDECESSORS AND AFFILIATES	1
ITEM 2. BUSINESS EXPERIENCE	3
ITEM 3. LITIGATION	4
ITEM 4. BANKRUPTCY	4
ITEM 5. INITIAL FEES	4
ITEM 6. OTHER FEES	5
TYPE OF FEE ¹	5
ITEM 7. ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT	6
YOUR ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT – AREA DEVELOPER	6
ITEM 8. RESTRICTIONS ON SOURCES OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES	8
ITEM 9. FRANCHISEE'S OBLIGATIONS	9
OBLIGATION	9
ITEM 10. FINANCING	10
ITEM 11. FRANCHISOR'S ASSISTANCE, ADVERTISING, COMPUTER SYSTEMS AN TRAINING	
ITEM 12. TERRITORY	16
ITEM 13. TRADEMARKS	17
ITEM 14. PATENTS, COPYRIGHTS, AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION	18
ITEM 15. OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ACTUAL OPERATION OF THE FRANCHISE BUSINESS	19
ITEM 16. RESTRICTIONS ON WHAT THE FRANCHISEE MAY SELL	19
ITEM 17. RENEWAL, TERMINATION, TRANSFER, AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION	20
ITEM 18. PUBLIC FIGURES	22
ITEM 19. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPRESENTATIONS	22
ITEM 20. OUTLETS AND FRANCHISEE INFORMATION	23
ITEM 21. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	26

ITEM 22. CO	NTRACTS	26
ITEM 23. REG	CEIPTS	26
Exhibit "A"	State Agencies And Administrators And Agent For Service Of Process	
Exhibit "B"	Area Representative Agreement	
Exhibit "C"	Table Of Contents Of Area Representative Brand Standards Manual	
Exhibit "D"	List Of Area Representatives	
Exhibit "E"	Financial Statements	
Exhibit "F"	Franchisee Disclosure Questionnaire	
Exhibit "G"	State Addenda And Riders	
Exhibit "H"	General Release	
Exhibit "I"	State Effective Dates	
Exhibit "J"	Receipts	
Exhibit "H" Exhibit "I"	General Release State Effective Dates	

Applicable state law may require additional disclosures related to the information contained in this disclosure document. These additional disclosures, if any, appear as an addendum or rider in Exhibit "G."

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

OHM® FITNESS STUDIO AREA REPRESENTATIVE FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT

ITEM 1. FRANCHISOR AND ANY PARENTS, PREDECESSORS AND AFFILIATES

To simplify the language in this Disclosure Document, "we," "us" and "the Company" mean OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC - the franchisor. "You" means the person who buys an area representative OHM® franchise - the franchisee, and includes your partners if you are a partnership, your shareholders if you are a corporation, and your members if you are a limited liability company.

Corporate Information

OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC is a Wyoming limited liability company that was organized on June 3, 2021. Our principal business address is located at 15011 N. 75th Street, Suite #2, Scottsdale, AZ 85260, and our telephone number is (480) 797-2854. Our agent for service of process is disclosed in Exhibit A. to this Disclosure Document. We do not do business under any names other than "OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC" and "OHM®".

Business History

We began offering OHM® franchises and Area Representative ("AR") franchises in October 2021. We are not engaged in any business other than the offering of OHM® single unit franchises and AR franchises. ARs are authorized to open and own, or to solicit, recruit, service and support owners for, a specified number of franchises located in a defined geographic area according to a development schedule. As of the issuance date of this Disclosure Document, we have sold 5 AR franchises. We have never offered franchises in any other line of business.

OHM® single unit franchises are offered under a separate Disclosure Document. As of the date of this Disclosure Document we have sold 14 OHM® franchises. An OHM® franchised business consists of a fitness and training studio ("Studio") specializing in group class workout sessions utilizing an electronic magnetic stimulation body suit (the "OHM® Body Suit") that is worn to achieve in a 25 minute workout what is typically achieved in a traditional 2 hour workout session.

We have not operated a business similar to the OHM® business being offered under this franchise. However, our affiliate currently operates 1 OHM® studio in Arizona and our principals have previously owned and operated other fitness franchises and AR territories. The studio opened in Scottsdale in August 2022.

Parents, Affiliates and Predecessors

We do not have any predecessors or parent company.

We have 4 affiliates. Our affiliate OHM Distribution, LLC sells inventory items for resale to our franchisees such as the OHM® Body Suit, accessories, merchandise and other retail items. Our affiliate OHM 001, LLC owns and operates the studio located in Arizona. Our affiliate OHM At Home, LLC, will offer athome training products and services. Our affiliate OHM Virtual, LLC will offer gaming through use of headsets. Our affiliates will share our principal business address. Our affiliates have never offered franchises in this or any other line of business and neither has operated an OHM® studio.

Except as disclosed above, we do not have any affiliates that offer franchises or provide any goods or services to our franchisees.

Description of Franchised Business

As an AR, you will be responsible for performing a variety of franchise sales, servicing and support functions with respect to OHM® franchisees. These services include soliciting, screening, recruiting, developing, servicing and supporting OHM® franchises. We will delegate to you our franchise support obligations under the franchise agreements we sign with franchisees in your Development Territory.

In exchange, we will pay you the following commissions for revenues we receive from third party franchisees that purchase OHM® franchises in your Development Territory: (i) 50% of the net initial franchise fee; and (ii) 2.25% of the Gross Revenues generated by franchisees. The "net" initial franchise fee means the total amount of the initial franchise fee that we collect less any amounts we must pay to third party brokers, in-house commissioned salespeople, online lead generation service companies or other referral sources, relating to the sale. You are essentially acting as our "broker" within your Development Territory. As such, you should check with your state to see if you need to be registered or licensed as a "broker" to sell or offer franchises in your state. With our prior approval, you may engage other brokers, lead generation companies or referral sources to solicit and refer prospects to you. However, you are solely responsible for all brokerage and other fees owed to brokers, lead generation companies and referral sources that you engage, meaning that these fees will be paid by you directly out of the 50% of the net initial franchise fee that we pay to you.

We will pay you the same commissions on the fees that you (or your affiliates) pay for each OHM® Studio owned and operated by you (or your affiliate).

You must sign our standard form of AR Agreement (the "ARA"), the form of which is attached to this Disclosure Document as Exhibit B. You will perform your AR services according to the policies and procedures described in our AR Manual (the "AR Manual"). All of our policies and procedures may change from time to time.

As an AR, you will solicit and screen prospective franchisees to ensure they meet our minimum qualifications and requirements. You will refer any qualified prospect to us and we will determine, in our commercially reasonable judgment, whether to sign a franchise agreement with the prospect. You are not authorized to sign franchise agreements or other binding agreements with franchisees. However, you are responsible for complying with all franchise laws relating to your solicitation of franchisees, including providing a copy of our Franchise Disclosure Document in the time and manner required by applicable law (unless we choose to control the disclosure process ourselves).

If we sign a franchise agreement with a franchisee in your Development Territory, you must provide the franchisee with all pre-opening support and ongoing assistance that we require, including in the areas of: (i) site selection and lease negotiation; (ii) constructing, developing and equipping OHM® Studios; (iii) conducting grand openings and sales and marketing support; (iv) operational and quality control issues; (v) the sourcing of equipment, fixtures, furnishings, inventory and supplies; and (vi) the closure, relocation, renewal and transfer of OHM® Studios. You will also help us administer the franchise system in your Development Territory by monitoring and inspecting the operations of OHM® businesses, assisting us with enforcing the terms of franchise agreements and the Manual against franchisees who are in breach of their obligations, and assisting franchisees who seek to close or transfer their franchises. You are required to perform these services in a manner that meet, in our sole discretion, our standards and specifications in order to entitle you to receive 2.25% of the Gross Revenue generated by franchisees in your Territory to us.

You must develop the minimum number of franchises in your Development Territory that are specified in the development schedule that is described in Attachment "D" to your ARA. Any OHM® Studio that you directly own and operate (including any Studios owned and operated by your affiliates) will be counted in

determining whether you are meeting your minimum development obligations. Unless we agree to the contrary, you must directly own and operate at least 3 OHM® Studio during the entire term of the ARA.

We have developed a distinct system (the "System") for the operation of an OHM® Studio and an OHM® Business. Distinctive characteristics of the System include an exercise curriculum, logo, proprietary techniques and products, the unique OHM® Body Suit, confidential brand standards manual and operating system. You will operate your OHM® AR franchise as an independent business using the Marks, the System, the OHM® name, as well as the support, guidance and other methods and materials provided or developed by us.

Market and Competition

The target market for OHM® customers includes women and men interested in fitness and exercise programs that are shorter and more efficient than traditional exercise class workouts. Our clients include men and women between the ages of 19 and 90, although the majority of our clients are men and women between the ages of 23 and 57.

We believe that the market for the services offered at an OHM® Studio is competitive and rapidly developing. OHM® Studios compete primarily with other gyms, health clubs, exercise fitness centers, training classes, personal instructors and in-home fitness concepts. Some of these businesses operate through franchise systems. They may be independently owned and operated or may consist of regional or national chains.

As an AR, you will compete with other franchise systems in the fitness industry seeking to recruit franchisees in your Development Territory.

Laws and Regulations

You must comply with all federal and state licensing and other regulatory requirements relating to the operation of your Business. You should inquire about such laws. Some states have laws and regulations that specifically apply to gyms and health clubs which may imposes restrictions or requirements relating to the sale of memberships valid for a specified period of time, the training of and on-site access to certain first aid devices such as automated external defibrillators and procedures such as CPR, the holding of membership fees in an escrow account before a Studio is open, as well as other restrictions on what health clubs offer for sale. You should obtain advice and guidance on these possible restrictions before opening your Studio.

As an AR, you must also comply with all local, state and federal laws that apply to businesses generally.

We require all OHM® instructors to obtain certification by the American Council on Exercise (ACE) and the National Academy of Sports Medicine (NASM).

ITEM 2. BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

<u>Douglas Payne – Chief Executive Officer & Co-Founder</u>

Mr. Payne has been our and our affiliates' Chief Executive Officer since our inception on June 3, 2021. From January 1, 2009 to May 1, 2022, he owned a European Wax Center in Scottsdale, Arizona.

Eric Hamann – Vice President – Finance & Co-Founder

Mr. Hamann has been our and our affiliates' Vice President-Product Development since our inception on June 3, 2021. He served as President of Southwest Dealer Services, Inc. located in Irvine, California from 1990 to 2019. After his nearly 30-year tenure with Southwest Dealer Services, Inc., Mr. Hamann took time off from traditional employment from 2019 to 2021 to consider new business and investment opportunities.

Steven Belknap – Vice President – Regional Sales and Co-Founder

Mr. Belknap has been our and our affiliates' Vice President – Regional Sales since our inception on June 3, 2021. He has been the Divisional Vice President of Southwest Dealer Services, Inc., Irvine, California since 1993. He was also a European Wax Center franchisee in Scottsdale, Arizona from August 2007 to April 2022.

<u>Joshua Coba - Vice President - Operations</u>

Mr. Coba has been our and our affiliates' Vice President - Operations since October 30, 2022. From 2004 to 2017, Mr. Coba was the co-founded and Vice President - Operations of European Wax Center (NYSE: EWCZ) located in Fort Lauderdale, Florida.

ITEM 3. LITIGATION

No litigation is required to be disclosed in this Item.

ITEM 4. BANKRUPTCY

No bankruptcy is required to be disclosed in this Item.

ITEM 5. INITIAL FEES

At the time you sign the ARA, you must pay us an initial development fee that is calculated as \$12,500 multiplied by the total number of OHM® Studios to be developed in your Development Territory. For example, a Development Territory that could sustain 10 OHM® Studios would require a Development Fee of \$125,000. We anticipate that most development fees will range from \$125,000 (for a Development Territory that can sustain 10 franchises) to \$375,000 (for a Development Territory that can sustain 30 franchises). The development fee is non-refundable, uniformly imposed and fully earned upon receipt. You must pay us the development fee by wire transfer.

Currently, we require all area representatives to also commit to develop at least 3 franchised OHM® Fitness Studios. Franchised OHM® Studios are offered under a separate disclosure document.

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

ITEM 6. OTHER FEES

TYPE OF FEE ¹	AMOUNT	DUE DATE	REMARKS
Technology Fee ²	Not currently charged under AR Agreement	10 days after invoicing or as otherwise specified from time to time	Payable if we require AR's to enter into a license for any proprietary software or technology. We collect a monthly fee which we estimate will range from \$450 to \$999 remit that sum to the master licensor. The fee is based on the fee charged by the licensor for your use of these items plus an administrative fee. If this fee is charged to AR's, they will also pay a Technology Fee under each separate franchise agreement with us.
On-Site Training Fees	Up to \$1,000 per person per day plus reimbursement of expenses	10 days after invoice	Payable if we provide any on-site training in your Development Territory. You must also reimburse us for all expenses we incur, including food, lodging and travel.
Marketing Materials and Inventory	Varies depending on item purchased, currently between \$1,500 and \$2,500	10 days after invoice or as otherwise specified from time to time	We need not be a supplier of these items. The difference between the low end and the high end is based upon your volume of purchases of the following goods and services: promotional offer marketing, winding clings, place holder cards, external national marketing and media.
Audit Fee	Actual cost of audit (including travel and lodging expenses for audit team)	10 days after invoice	Payable only if the audit (i) reveals that you have committed a material default; or (ii) is necessary because you fail to furnish required information or reports to us in a timely manner.
Renewal Fee	25% of development fee imposed for Development Territory	At time you sign renewal AR Agreement	Not applicable
Transfer Fee	\$10,000	Before transfer	Payable when you transfer or sell your franchise. No charge if franchise transferred to an entity that you control or for certain transfers of ownership interests between existing owners. Subject to State Law.
Management Fee	Currently \$1,500 per month plus our actual costs incurred in operating your Studio.	10 days after invoice	If you default under the AR Agreement or the Managing Owner ceases to perform his or her responsibilities and you fail to designate an qualified replacement within 30 days, we may designate an interim manager to manage your Business you hire a qualified Managing Owner or the default is cured.
Indemnification	Will vary with circumstances	10 days after invoice	You must indemnify and reimburse us for any damages, losses or expenses we incur as a result of the operation of your Business or your breach of the AR Agreement.

TYPE OF FEE ¹	AMOUNT	DUE DATE	REMARKS
Attorneys' Fees and Costs	Will vary with circumstances	Upon demand	You must reimburse us for all attorneys' fees and other costs we incur relating to your breach of any term of the AR Agreement or any other agreement with us or our affiliates.
Insurance	Actual cost of premiums, plus our costs and expenses	10 days after invoice	If you fail to obtain and maintain the insurance we require, and we elect to do so on your behalf, you must reimburse us.

NOTES:

- (1) All fees are imposed by and are payable to us. All fees are non-refundable and uniformly imposed on area representatives. The fees disclosed in this table are in addition to the fees that are imposed under the AR Agreement and disclosed in our single unit Franchise Disclosure Document.
- (2) You must purchase and utilize all software and technology that we require for the operation of your Business. We reserve the right to enter into a master license agreement with any software or technology supplier and sublicense the software or technology to you, in which case we may charge you for all amounts that we must pay to the licensor based on your use of the software or technology. This sublicense agreement is contained in the franchise Disclosure Document that you have received. We also reserve the right to create new or additional proprietary software that must be used by ARs, in which case we may require that you enter into a license agreement with us and pay us reasonable initial and ongoing licensing, support and maintenance fees. All of the fees referenced in this paragraph comprise the technology fee. We can change the software and technology that must be used by our franchisees at any time, which may result in a change in the technology fee.

ITEM 7. ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT

YOUR ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT – AREA DEVELOPER				
Type of Expenditure	AMOUNT 1	METHOD OF PAYMENT	WHEN DUE	TO WHOM PAYMENT IS TO BE MADE
Development Fee ²	\$125,000 to \$375,000	Lump sum	At time you sign AR Agreement	Us
AR Training Program Expenses (travel, hotel and living expenses for 1 person) ³	\$1,500 to \$5,000	Lump sum	Before opening	Suppliers
AR Office Expenses (includes 3 months' rent, security deposit and basic office furnishings, equipment and supplies) ⁴	\$0 to \$5,000	As incurred	Before opening and 3 months after	Landlord and suppliers
AR Initial Marketing Expenses ⁵	\$4,500 to \$5,000	Lump sum	30 days before through 60 days after opening	Advertising suppliers

YOUR ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT – AREA DEVELOPER				
Type of Expenditure	AMOUNT 1	METHOD OF PAYMENT	WHEN DUE	TO WHOM PAYMENT IS TO BE MADE
Insurance	\$1,500 to \$4,000 (this is in addition to the insurance expenses associated with your OHM® Studio business)	Lump sum	Before opening	Insurance companies
Professional Fees	\$1,000 to \$4,500	Lump sum	Before opening	Attorneys and accountants
Additional Funds (3 month period after opening) ⁶	\$1,500 to \$4,500	As incurred	As incurred	Suppliers and employees
Total Estimated Initial Investment ⁶	\$135,000 to \$403,000			

NOTES:

- (1) We do not offer direct or indirect financing for any of these items at this time. None of the fees payable to us are refundable. We are unaware of any fees payable to third party suppliers that are refundable. This table does not include the costs that you will incur relating to the establishment and operation of your OHM® Studio business. The table above only lists your expenses that are in addition to those you will incur with respect to the establishment of your OHM® Studio.
- (2) The low end of the Development Fees assumes a Development Territory that can sustain 10 outlets ($$12,500 \times 10 = $125,000$) and the high estimate assumes a Development Territory that could sustain 30 outlets ($$12,500 \times 30 = $375,000$).
- (3) This estimate includes the estimated cost to attend the area development portion of our initial training program. ARs must also attend our standard initial training program that we require for all OHM® business franchisees.
- (4) The low end of this estimates assumes that you will use an OHM® Studio owned by you under a franchise agreement with us for your office. The high end of this estimates assumes that you will purchase or lease an office suitable to perform you obligations under the AR Agreement. The estimate above includes 3 month's rent, security deposit and office furniture, equipment and supplies.
- (5) We require that you spend at least \$1,500 per month to market the franchise opportunity. Some ARs may choose to spend more. This estimate is for 3 months beginning 30 days prior to opening and ending 60 days after opening.
- (6) This estimates your expenses during the first 3 months of operation, including marketing and other miscellaneous expenses and required working capital. It does not include any wage or salary paid to you and assumes you will not hire any managers or employees during the first 3 months of operation. This estimate includes working capital that is in addition to the working capital required for your OHM® business. These figures are estimates based on the past experience of our principals in developing and operating the OHM® Fitness franchises.

ITEM 8. RESTRICTIONS ON SOURCES OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Source Restricted Purchases and Leases - Generally

We require that you purchase or lease certain "source restricted" goods and services for the development and ongoing operation of your Business. By "source restricted," we mean that the good or service must meet our specifications and/or must be purchased from an approved or designated supplier (in some cases, an exclusive designated supplier, which may be us or an affiliate). If we have designed an exclusive designated supplier for any item, you may not use another supplier without our prior written approval. Our specifications and list of approved and designated suppliers are contained in the AR Manual. We will notify you within 30 days of any changes to our specifications or list of approved or designated suppliers. We may notify you of these changes in various ways, including written or electronic correspondence, verbal or telephonic notification, amendments or updates to the AR Manual, bulletins, or other means of communication.

Supplier Criteria

Our criteria for evaluating a supplier include standards for quality, delivery, performance, design, appearance and price of the product or service as well as the dependability, reputation and financial viability of the supplier. Upon your request, we will provide you with any objective specifications pertaining to our evaluation of a supplier, although certain important subjective criteria (e.g., product appearance, design, functionality, etc.) are important to our evaluation but cannot be described in writing.

If you want to purchase or lease a source restricted item from a non-approved supplier, you must send us a written request for approval and submit any additional information that we request. We may require that you send us samples from the supplier for testing. We may also require that we be allowed to inspect the supplier's facilities. We will notify you of our approval or disapproval within 30 days after we receive your request for approval plus all additional information and samples that we require. We may, at our option, reinspect the facilities and products of any approved supplier and revoke our approval if the supplier fails to meet any of our then-current criteria. You must reimburse us for all costs that we incur in reviewing a proposed supplier and testing the products.

Current Source Restricted Items

As described in the separate FDD you received relating to the purchase of your OHM® Studio franchise, we currently require that you purchase or lease a variety of source restricted goods and services relating to the operation of your OHM® business. We estimate that 15% of the total purchases and leases that will be required to establish and operate your Business will consist of source restricted goods or services.

In addition to those purchases, as an area representative we require that you purchase (i) errors and omissions insurance in the minimum amount of \$1,000,000 per occurrence and \$2,000,000 in the aggregate (ii) general liability insurance in the minimum amount of \$1,000,000 per occurrence and \$2,000,000 in the aggregate relating to your area representative business; (iii)worker's compensation and employer's liability insurance.

We also require that all of your marketing materials comply with our standards and requirements. We must approve all of your marketing materials before you use them, including marketing materials that you use to solicit the sale of franchises. You must purchase all branded marketing materials only from us or other suppliers that we designate or approve. We may require that you utilize a designated marketing company to implement your grand opening marketing campaign and/or ongoing marketing campaigns (we do not have a designated marketing company at this time).

Purchase Agreements

We may try to negotiate relationships with suppliers to enable our affiliates and franchisees to purchase certain items at discounted prices. If we succeed, you will be able to purchase these items at the discounted prices that we negotiate (less any rebates or other consideration paid to us). Alternatively, we reserve the right to purchase the items in bulk and resell them to you at our cost plus a reasonable markup (your total cost to purchase the items from us will not exceed your total cost to purchase the items directly from the supplier without the benefit of our group purchasing power).

Currently, we have negotiated proprietary pricing with a OHM® Body Suit provider, proprietary Music Service, Software/POS Platform, specialized towel manufacturer, Red Light Therapy Manufacture and Nutritional Supplement company . If you do not use our recommended provider, you must hire another provider of your choosing (if available) to provide these services, provided that Franchisor approves such providers upon your submission to Franchisor of their pricing and their provision of services.

There are no purchasing cooperatives, although we reserve the right to establish one or more purchasing cooperatives in the future. You do not receive any material benefits for using designated or approved suppliers other than having access to any discounted pricing that we negotiate

Franchisor Revenues from Source Restricted Purchases

We are not currently an approved or designated supplier for any items that must be purchased or leased by area representatives. However, we reserve the right to designate ourselves or an affiliate as an approved or designated supplier for any items we specify in the future.

No persons affiliated with us are currently an approved (or the only approved) supplier for an area representative.

None of our officers own an interest in any approved suppler.

Neither we nor our affiliates have received any revenues from franchisee purchases from us or other designated or approved suppliers during fiscal year ending December 31, 2023.

ITEM 9. FRANCHISEE'S OBLIGATIONS

This table lists your principal obligations under the Area Representative Agreement ("ARA") and other agreements. It will help you find more detailed information about your obligations in these agreements and other items in this Disclosure Document.

OBLIGATION	SECTIONS IN AGREEMENT	DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT ITEM
a. Site selection and acquisition/lease	Not Applicable	Item 7 & Item 11
b. Pre-opening purchases/leases	Section 17.4, 20.3	Item 5, Item 7, Item 8 & Item 11
c. Site development and other pre-opening requirements	Not Applicable	Item 6, Item 7 & Item 11
d. Initial and ongoing training	Section 11	Item 6 & Item 11
e. Opening	Section 3	Item 11
f. Fees	Section 5, 7.2, 8.3, 11.3, 11.5, 13.7, 24.2	Item 5 & Item 6

OBLIGATION	SECTIONS IN AGREEMENT	DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT ITEM
g. Compliance with standards and policies/Operating Manuals	Section 12.1, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 22.1	Item 11
h. Trademarks and proprietary information	Section 22	Item 13 & Item 14
i. Restrictions on products/services offered	Section 17.3	Item 16
j. Warranty and client service requirements	Section 17.2	Not Applicable
k. Territorial development and sales quotas	Section 13.1	Item 12
1. Ongoing product/service purchases	Section 17.4	Item 8
m. Maintenance, appearance and remodeling requirements	Section 17.4(b)	Item 11
n. Insurance	Section 20.3	Item 6, Item 7 & Item 8
o. Advertising	Section 16	Item 6, Item 7 & Item 11
p. Indemnification	Section 23	Item 6
q. Owner's participation/ management/staffing	Section 8	Item 11 & Item 15
r. Records/reports	Section 15.3, 15.4, 20.1	Item 6
s. Inspections/audits	Section 21	Item 6 & Item 11
t. Transfer	Section 24	Item 17
u. Renewal	Section 7	Item 17
v. Post termination obligations	Section 26	Item 17
w. Non-competition covenants	Section 19	Item 17
x. Dispute resolution	Section 27	Item 17
y. Franchise Owner Agreement (brand protection covenants, transfer restrictions and financial assurance for owners and spouses)	Attachment C	Item 15

ITEM 10. FINANCING

We do not offer direct or indirect financing. We do not guarantee any of your notes, leases or obligations.

ITEM 11. FRANCHISOR'S ASSISTANCE, ADVERTISING, COMPUTER SYSTEMS AND TRAINING

Except as listed below, we are not required to provide you with any assistance.

Before you begin soliciting, developing or servicing franchisees, we will:

- 1. License you the Marks necessary to begin operating your Business. (Section 3)
- 2. Loan you 1 copy of the AR Manual, which will help you establish and operate your Business. See Section below entitled "Manuals" for additional information. (Section 12.1)
- 3. Provide an initial area representative training program. See Section below entitled "Area Representative Training Program" for additional information. (Section 11.1)

- 4. Provide you with access to certain franchise marketing materials that you may download for the marketing of OHM® franchises. (Section 12.2)
- 5. Provide you with a copy of our then-current form of Franchise Disclosure Document for the offer and sale of OHM® franchises in your Development Territory. (Section 13.4)

During the operation of your Business, we will:

- 1. Pay you commissions based on the initial franchise fees and royalty fees that we collect from franchisees located in your Development Territory. Commissions are paid by the 15th day of each month for fees collected during the prior month. (Section 6)
- 2. Maintain, or cause an affiliate of ours to maintain, the corporate website to fulfill a variety of functions, including the promotion of OHM® businesses as well as the solicitation of the purchase of OHM® franchises. If the website generates a franchise lead seeking to purchase a franchise within your Development Territory, we will refer the lead to you. (Section 12.3)
- 3. Provide you with reasonable levels of ongoing consultation, guidance, assistance and support to enable you to market, develop and support franchises. (Section 12.4)
- 4, Provide you with our most current form of FDD for use in your Development Territory, as well as all modifications and updates. (Section 13.4) It is our obligation to ensure that our FDD is currently registered, if required, in your Development Territory.

During the operation of your Business, we may, but need not:

- 1. Provide on-site training or assistance that you request at a mutually convenient time. See Section below entitled "Area Representative Training Program" for additional information. (Section 11.3)
- 2. Provide periodic refresher or additional training programs for area representatives. See Section below entitled "Area Representative Training Program" for additional information. (Section 11.2)
- 3. Hold periodic national area representative conferences to discuss business and operational issues affecting area representatives. Attendance at these conferences is mandatory. (Section 11.4)
- 4. Establish an area representative advisory council to provide us with suggestions to improve the OHM® franchise system and the method of operation of area representatives. See Section below entitled "Advisory Council" for additional information. (Section 18)

Area Representative Training Program

Overview

We will provide an area representative training program for the Managing Owner and all your initial employees who will be involved with soliciting and/or supporting franchises.. Training takes place at our affiliate-owned OHM® Fitness Studio in Scottsdale, Arizona—or any other location we designate in the future. The training program includes franchise sales training, franchise service, and support training. The franchise sales training is designed to introduce you to certain legal compliance issues pertaining to the offer and sale of franchises, as well as certain Area Representative operational matters. The franchise service and support training are designated to teach you how to evaluate, inspect, and support franchisees. The entire training program is three days. Your Managing Owner must complete the initial training to our satisfaction within 30 days after the effective date of your AR Agreement and prior to soliciting, recruiting, servicing or supporting franchisees.

We can modify the training program at our discretion based upon our subjective assessment of the skills, abilities, and prior experience of your owners and employees. Currently, we intend to offer the initial training program as often as necessary to meet the demand of our area representatives.

Training Topics

The classroom portion of the initial training program consists of the following:

TRAINING PROGRAM®

Subject	Hours of Classroom Training	Hours of On-The- Job Training	Location
OHMIntro to OHM® fitness Overview	3	0	Our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona
Rick Management	1	0	Our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona
Intro to OHM®	1	0	Our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona
Strong Vibrations	1	0	Our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona
Franchise Sales	2	0	Our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona
Finance	1	0	Our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona
Real Estate	1.5	0	Our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona
Sudio Opener	0.5	0	Our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona
HR	0.75	0	Our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona
Studio Hiring	1	0	Our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona
Training	0.75	0	Our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona
Operations	2	0	Our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona
Capture OHM®	1	0	Our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona
Presales	1	0	Our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona
Strategy & Brand	1	0	Our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona
Campaigns, Challenges, and Specialty Classes	0.75	0	Our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona
Marketing Your Region	1	0	Our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona
Parting Words & The Road Ahead	0.75	0	Our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona
Final Exam & Feedback	2	0	Our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona

Subject	Hours of Classroom Training	Hours of On-The- Job Training	Location
Total	23 Hours	0	

Training Materials

The training materials will consist of the AR Manual, franchise marketing materials, our Franchise Disclosure Document. as well as various other materials. The format for training may include conference calls and webinars and/or lectures. You will not be charged an additional fee for any of the training materials.

Instructors

Our instructors include Douglas Payne, Steven Belknap, Allie Heartworm, Rachal Davis, Andrea Colabufo, Lynnette Mendoza, and others at their direction. Douglas is one of our founders. He has been with OHM® since June, 2021 and has a total of 18 years of experience in the subject matter being taught. Steve is also one of our founders. He has been with OHM® since June, 2021 and has a total of 13 years of experience in the subject matter being taught. Allie is our Director of Quality and has deep experience in multi-unit franchise development and operations. She has been with OHM® since June, 2021 and has 10 years' experience in the subject matter being taught and has been with OHM® since January, 2022. Lynnette Mendoza is our Director of Pre-Sales and has been with OHM® since August of 2022. She has over a decade of experience in the subject matter being taught and is well-versed in multi-unit franchise development and operations. All of the training staff will have at least 5 years' experience with us and at least 3 years' experience in the field being taught.

Ongoing Training

From time to time, we may provide periodic refresher courses for ARs. Attendance at these training programs is mandatory. You may also request that we provide additional training (either at corporate headquarters or at your studio). We are not required to provide this additional training.

Training Fees and Costs

We do not charge a training fee for any of the training materials, the initial training program, or any system-wide refresher or additional training that we conduct at our headquarters or at an affiliate owned OHM® Studio. You must pay us a training fee of up to \$1,000 per person per day for:

- (i) each person that attends our initial training program after you open your Business (such as new Managing Owner or managers);
- (ii) any person who must retake training after failing to successfully complete training on a prior attempt;
 - (iii) any remedial training that we require based on your operational deficiencies; or
 - (iv) each person to whom we provide additional training that you request.

If we agree to provide onsite training or assistance, you must reimburse us for all costs incurred by our representative for meals, travel, and lodging (this obligation does not apply to on-site training we provide as part of the pre-opening initial training program). You are responsible for all expenses and costs that your trainees incur for training, including wages, travel, and living expenses.

Manual

We will lend you our AR Manual in text or electronic form for the term of your AR Agreement. The AR Manual contains a total of 400 pages. A copy of the Table of Contents to the AR Manual is attached to this Disclosure Document as Exhibit C.

Site Development

You must purchase or lease an office from which you will administer your Business. We do not have any standards or specifications for your office except that it must be suitable for training and supporting franchisees. It must also present a professional appearance. Your area representative office may be located within the facility for your OHM® Studio.

We do not select a site for your office or identify an area within which you must establish your office. We do not own the premises and then lease it to you. You do not need our approval of the location of your office. However, your office must be located within your Development Territory.

If you establish a separate office for your Business, you do not need our approval of the lease for that office. Similarly, we do not require that the lease for the area representative office include any specific terms.

If you sign an ADA, we must approve the location of each franchise to be developed under our then-current site selection criteria.

Computer System

You must purchase the computer system we specify relating to the operation of your OHM® Studio. The computer system is described in detail in our separate Franchise Disclosure Document for our OHM® franchise offering. We do not require that area representatives use any specialized computer system for the area representative component of the business. However, we may impose this requirement in the future.

You must purchase and utilize all software and technology that we require for the operation of your Business. We reserve the right to enter into a master license agreement with any software or technology supplier and sublicense the software or technology to you, in which case we may charge you for all amounts that we must pay to the licensor based on your use of the software or technology. We also reserve the right to create new or additional proprietary software that must be used by area representatives, in which case we may require that you enter into a license agreement with us and pay us reasonable initial and ongoing licensing, support and maintenance fees. All of the fees referenced in this paragraph comprise the technology fee. We can change the software and technology that must be used by our area representatives at any time, which may result in a change in the technology fee.

We will have independent unlimited access to the data collected on your computer system. We may also inspect your computer system and access the data as part of an inspection. There are no contractual limits imposed on our access to your computer information.

Marketing Fund

We do not require that area representatives contribute to a marketing fund and we are not obligated to conduct marketing for area representatives.

Local Advertising

On an annual basis, you will develop a marketing plan for the development of your Development Territory for the ensuing 12-month period. As part of the marketing plan, we may require that you spend an agreed

upon minimum amount of funds to promote the franchise opportunity on an annual basis (\$1,500 per month is the minimum).

You agree to participate at your own expense in all advertising, promotional and marketing programs that we require. We may require that you administer a regional marketing program and/or marketing cooperative within your Development Territory for the benefit of all OHM® Studios located in your Development Territory.

Before you begin soliciting franchisees, we will provide you with access to certain franchise marketing materials that you may download from our intranet site. You may reproduce these materials at your cost. Throughout the term of your AR Agreement, we will provide you with access to any new or updated marketing materials that we develop. You may not use any advertising materials that have not been prepared or approved by us. You must submit to us any advertising materials that you prepare or modify and we will have 14 days to review and either approve or reject the materials. If we fail to issue our approval or rejection within such 14-day period, the materials will be considered approved. You must immediately stop using any advertising materials that we disapprove (including items we previously approved and later disapprove). In some states (including California), all franchise advertisements must be submitted to the appropriate regulatory agency prior to use. We will submit such advertising materials to any required regulatory agency for their approval.

You may not maintain your own website or solicit franchisees on the Internet or on any social media site or through any other electronic, mobile or digital device, method or system without our prior written approval. Specifically, you may not maintain a website, conduct e-commerce, or otherwise maintain a presence or advertise on the Internet or any other public computer network (including social network services and social media sites such as Facebook, Twitter and LinkedIn) relating to your Business except as we specifically approve or require. We may impose mandatory marketing requirements that involve the use of the Internet or social media sites from time to time, including the use of micro-sites that you will administer in accordance with our policies and other requirements. If we do so, you agree to comply with all policies and procedures we specify from time to time. If we allow you to operate a micro-site or other website, we will own your domain name and associated URLs at all times. You may not apply for or acquire any domain name or URL that includes any of the Marks without our prior written consent. You agree to comply with any social media policy that we may develop.

We do not require that area representatives participate in an advertising cooperative.

You are not required to participate in an advertising cooperative.

Advisory Council

We may, but need not, create an AR advisory council to provide us with suggestions to improve the System and the methods of operation of area representatives. We would consider all suggestions from the advisory council in good faith, but we would not be bound by any such suggestions. The advisory council would be established and operated according to rules and regulations we periodically approve, including procedures governing the selection of representatives of the advisory council to communicate with us on matters raised by the advisory council. You would have the right to be a member of the advisory council as long as you are not in default under your AR Agreement and you do not act in a disruptive, abusive or counterproductive manner, as determined by us in our discretion. As a member, you would be entitled to all voting rights and privileges granted to other members of the council. We would not be a member of the advisory council. Each member would be granted 1 vote on all matters on which members are authorized to vote. We would have the power to form, change or dissolve the advisory council in our discretion.

Opening Requirements

You may not begin soliciting the sale of franchises or servicing and supporting franchises until you: (i) successfully completion the initial training program; (ii) purchase all required insurance; and (iii) obtain all required licenses, permits and other governmental approvals. The typical AR will begin operating within 2 months of signing the AR Agreement. The time to opening depends on how long it takes to obtain the required governmental licenses and approvals..

ITEM 12. TERRITORY

Location of your Office

You must purchase or lease an office from which you will administer your Business. Your area representative office may be located within the facility for your OHM® Studio.

We do not select a site for your office or identify an area within which you must establish your office. You do not need our approval of the location of your office. However, your office must be located within your Development Territory.

Your Protected Development Territory

Before you sign your AR Agreement, we will designate the boundaries of the area in which you will solicit and service franchisees and operate your Business (your "Development Territory"). Your Development Territory will be described in Attachment "B" to your AR Agreement. There is no specific minimum or maximum area that we must include in a development territory although the smallest development territory would be capable of supporting a minimum of 10 OHM® Studios.

Under your AR Agreement, we will grant you certain territorial protections. Specifically, during the term of your AR Agreement, we will not grant area representative rights to any other person for any portion of your Development Territory. However, we reserve the right to: (i) directly solicit, screen, recruit, develop, service and/or support franchises that are located within your Development Territory; and (ii) engage the services of a third party franchise broker, franchise sales company, in-house commissioned salespeople and/or utilize any lead generation service that we desire in order to solicit, screen and/or recruit franchises that are located within your Development Territory. However, if you have successfully completed the initial training program and you are in compliance with your AR Agreement, we will turn all leads for your territory over to you. If we solicit the sale of a franchise within your Development Territory during the term of your AR Agreement (whether directly or indirectly through a third-party broker, franchise sales company, in-house commissioned salesperson or lead generation service), we will still pay you a commission equal to 50% of the net initial franchise fee that we collect from that sale. Similarly, if you are in compliance with your AR Agreement and we agree to service or support a franchisee within your Development Territory during the term of your AR Agreement, we will still pay you a commission equal to 2.25% of the Gross Revenue generated by franchisees that we service or support. The "net initial franchise fee" is the total amount of the initial franchise fee that we collect less any amounts we must pay to third party brokers we hire, online lead generation service companies we hire or other referral sources relating to the sale. You may not sell outside of the Development Territory. You may not sell through any other channels of distribution.

You will not receive an exclusive Development Territory. You may face competition from other franchisees, from outlets that we own, or from other channels of distribution or competitive brands that we control.

You will not receive any rights to develop any other territories.

Alternative Channels of Distribution

We reserve the right to sell or license others to sell competitive or identical goods or services (whether under the Marks or under different trademarks) through alternative channels of distribution, such as sales over the Internet or through catalogs or telemarketing. If we sell a franchise or franchise license in your Development Territory through alternative channels of distribution, we will still pay you your standard commission on the sale as further described above.

Restrictions on Your Sales and Marketing Activities

We reserve the right to sell or license others to sell competitive or identical goods or services (whether under the Marks or under different trademarks) through alternative channels of distribution, such as sales over the Internet or through catalogs or telemarketing. If we sell a franchise in your Development Territory through alternative channels of distribution, we will still pay you your standard commission on the sale as further described above.

Minimum Performance Requirements

You are required to develop your Development Territory according to the development schedule in your AR Agreement. Specifically, you must ensure that the minimum number of OHM® Studios are established within the time periods described in the development schedule. If you fail to comply with your minimum development obligations, we have the right to terminate your AR Agreement.

Additional Territories

The AR Agreement gives you the right to purchase additional franchises for OHM® businesses that you will own and operate in your Development Territory. We reserve the right to limit the maximum number of OHM® Studios that you operate in your Development Territory at any given point in time in order to prevent excessive competition between you and the other franchisees in your Development Territory and/or to ensure that you have sufficient time and resources to properly support franchisees in your Development Territory.

Competitive Businesses Under Different Marks

Currently, neither we nor any affiliate of ours intends to operate or franchise another business under a different trademark that sells products or services similar to the products or services offered by area representatives. However, we reserve the right to do so in the future.

ITEM 13. TRADEMARKS

OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC owns the following trademarks registered on the United States Patent and Trademark Office principal register:

MARK	Registration Number	Registration Date
FITNESS	7021870 (Principal)	April 11, 2023

All required affidavits for the registered trademark ("Marks") have been filed. Our Mark has been accepted by the United States Patent and Trademark Office and as required was published for Opposition. We do not anticipate any opposition to our Mark.

We grant you the right to operate a franchise under the name "OHM®" and logo shown on the cover page of this Disclosure Document. By trademark, we mean trade names, trademarks, service marks, and logotypes used to identify your OHM® franchise or the products or services sold at your Business. We may change the trademarks you may use from time to time (including by discontinuing use of the Marks). If this happens, you must change to the new trademark at your expense. We have no obligation to reimburse you for any losses you may incur as a result of modifying or disclontinuing use of any trademark.

You must follow our rules when using the Marks. You cannot use our name or mark as part of a corporate name or with modifying words, designs, or symbols unless you receive our prior written consent. You may not use the OHM® name relating to the sale of any product or service that is not previously authorized by us in writing.

You must notify us immediately when you learn about an infringing or challenging use of the Marks. We will take the action we think appropriate, but we are not required to take any action if we do not feel it is warranted. We may require your assistance, but you are not permitted to control any proceeding or litigation relating to our Marks. You must not directly or indirectly contest our right to the Marks.

We are not required under the AR Agreement to: (i) protect your right to use the Marks or protect you against claims of infringement or unfair competition arising out of your use of the Marks; or (ii) participate in your defense or indemnify you for expenses or damages you incur if you are a party to an administrative or judicial proceeding involving our marks or if the proceeding is resolved in a manner that is unfavorable to you.

We do not know of any superior prior rights or infringing uses that could materially affect your use of the principal trademarks in any states. There are currently no effective agreements that significantly limit your rights to use or license the trademarks. There are no currently effective material determinations of the Patent and Trademark Office, the Trademark Trial and Appeal Board, the trademark administrator of this state or any court; no pending infringements, oppositions or cancellations; and no pending material litigation involving any of the Marks. We do not know of any infringing uses that could materially affect your use of the Marks.

ITEM 14. PATENTS, COPYRIGHTS, AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION

No patents or pending patent applications are material to the franchise. Although we have not filed an application for copyright registration for the Manual, our website or our marketing materials, we do claim a copyright to these items. During the term of your AR Agreement, we will allow you to use our proprietary information relating to the development, marketing and operation of an area representative business, including, methods, techniques, specifications, procedures, policies, marketing strategies and information comprising the System and the AR Manual. If we require you to modify or discontinue use of the subject matter covered by any materials in which we claim a copyright, we are not required to compensate you in any manner. You will own your customer data during the term of the franchise but we may use that data for any purpose. Upon the termination or expiration of the AR Agreement you must assign ownership of all customer data to us. All ideas, improvements, inventions, marketing materials, and other concepts you develop relating to the operation of your Business will be owned by us.

Our manuals, communications, guidelines and other materials contain our confidential and proprietary information and trade secrets (collectively the "Confidential Information") that we will continue to further develop. This includes site selection criteria, methods, formats, specifications, standards, systems, procedures, sales and marketing techniques, knowledge and experience used in developing and operating OHM® Studios; market research and advertising, marketing and promotional programs, customer communication and retention programs, and any other information or data that we designate as confidential or proprietary.

You are required to maintain the confidentiality of all of our proprietary information and use it only in strict accordance with the terms of the AR Agreement and the AR Manual. You may not use any Confidential Information in any other business or capacity. You must promptly tell us when you learn about unauthorized use of our proprietary information. We are not obligated to act, but will respond to this information as we deem appropriate. You are not permitted to control any proceeding or litigation alleging the unauthorized use of any of our proprietary information. We have no obligation to indemnify you for any expenses or damages arising from any proceeding or litigation involving our proprietary information. There are no infringements that are known by us at this time.

There are no current material determinations of the United States Patent and Trademark Office, the United States Copyright Office, or a court regarding any patents or copyrights

ITEM 15. OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ACTUAL OPERATION OF THE FRANCHISE BUSINESS

Under your AR Agreement, you must designate an owner (the "Managing Owner") who will be primarily responsible for the daily management and supervision of your area representative Business. In addition to the initial training for an OHM® Studio, your Managing Owner must also successfully complete our area representative initial training program (if offered by us). Your other owners are not required to directly participate in the operation of your Business. The Managing Owner must at all times own a controlling interest in the area representative entity (or the franchise if there is no entity). However, we may modify or waive this requirement for a given franchisee.

The Managing Owner must dedicate his or her full-time efforts to the operation of your Business. Any new Managing Owner must successfully complete the initial training program before becoming involved with the supervision, management or operation of the Business. The Managing Owner must also complete any mandatory refresher or advanced training courses that we require.

All of your employees and other agents or representatives who may have access to our confidential information must sign a Confidentiality Agreement, which is attached to the AR Agreement as Attachment "E". Each owner of the area representative entity (i.e., each person holding an ownership interest in you) and the spouse of each owner must sign a Franchise Owner Agreement, the form of which is attached to the AR Agreement as Attachment "C".

ITEM 16. RESTRICTIONS ON WHAT THE FRANCHISEE MAY SELL

We must approve all goods and services that you sell as part of your Business. You must offer all goods and services that we require. You may not sell any goods or services that we have disapproved. We have the unrestricted right to change the goods and/or services that you are required to sell as part of your Business at any time in our sole discretion, and you must comply with any such change.

We will provide you with our suggested pricing for the goods and services you sell. We must approve any material deviations from our suggested pricing. We may require that you participate in a gift card or other customer loyalty program in accordance with our policies and procedures. In order to participate, you may be required to purchase additional equipment and pay any fees relating to the use of that equipment. If we establish a gift card or loyalty program, we have the right to determine how the amount of the gift cards or loyalty cards will be divided or otherwise accounted for, and we reserve the right to retain the amount of any unredeemed gift cards.

ITEM 17. RENEWAL, TERMINATION, TRANSFER, AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

This table lists certain important provisions of the Area Representative Agreement (ARA) and related agreements. You should read these provisions in the agreements attached to this Disclosure Document.

THE FRANCHISE RELATIONSHIP				
Provision	SECTIONS IN AGREEMENT	SUMMARY		
a. Length of the franchise term	Section 7.1	10 years		
b. Renewal or extension of the term	Section 7.1	If you meet our conditions for renewal, you can enter into 1 successor area representative agreement. The renewal term will be 10 years, for a total maximum term of 20 years. We may grant you additional renewal terms but we have no obligation to do so (subject to state law).		
c. Requirements for you to renew or extend	Section 7.1 & 7.2	You must: not be in default; give us timely notice; negotiate new development schedule; sign our then-current form of area representative agreement and related documents (e.g., Franchise Owner Agreement, etc.); sign a general release; and pay the renewal fee. If you renew, you may be required to sign a contract with materially different terms and conditions than the original contract. Subject to State Law.		
d. Termination by you	Section 25.1	You can terminate only if we fail to cure a material default within the cure period or any grounds permitted by law.		
e. Termination by us without cause	Section 25.4	We can terminate without cause if you and we mutually agree to terminate.		
f. Termination by us with cause	Section 25.2 & 25.3	We can terminate if you default. Subject to State Law.		
g. "Cause" defined - curable defaults	Section 25.2 & 25.3	You have 10 days to cure any monetary default. You have 30 days to cure any other default (other than defaults described below under "non-curable defaults"). Subject to State Law. Subject to State Law.		
h. "Cause" defined - non-curable defaults	Section 25.2	The following defaults cannot be cured: insolvency, bankruptcy or seizure of assets; failure to maintain required license or permit; conviction of certain types of crimes or subject of certain administrative actions; failure to comply with material law; commission of act that may adversely affect reputation of our system or the Marks; material misrepresentations; abandonment of management functions by Managing Owner; unauthorized transfers; failure to meet minimum development obligations; violation of confidentiality, noncompetition or nonsolicitation covenant; breach of Franchise Owner Agreement; unauthorized use of intellectual property; committing your 3rd default in any 12 month period; or termination of any other agreement between you and us or an affiliate due to your default. Termination of any other agreement with us, including any franchise agreement. Termination of your AR Agreement constitutes a default under any other agreement with us, including any franchise agreement. Subject to State Law.		

THE FRANCHISE RELATIONSHIP			
Provision	SECTIONS IN AGREEMENT	SUMMARY	
i. Your obligations on termination/non-renewal	Section 26	Obligations include: cease use of intellectual property; return manual and branded materials and training materials; assign telephone numbers, listings and domain names to us; cancel fictitious names; provide files and information on franchisees; and pay amounts due (also see "r", below).	
j. Assignment of contract by us	Section 24.1	No restriction on our right to assign.	
k. "Transfer" by you – definition	Section 24.2 & Attachment A	Includes transfer of contract or assets, or ownership change.	
Our approval of transfer by you	Section 24.2, 24.3 & Attachment A	If certain conditions are met, you may transfer to a newly-formed entity wholly owned by you, or in certain instances, to an existing owner, without our approval. We have the right to approve all other transfers but will not unreasonably withhold approval.	
m. Conditions for our approval of transfer	Section 24.2	Transferee must: meet our qualifications; successfully complete training (or commit to do so); obtain all required licenses and permits; and sign a new area representative agreement for the remainder of the term (or at our option, take assignment of existing AR Agreement). You must: be in compliance with Franchise Agreement and AR Agreement; pay us the transfer fee; and sign a general release (subject to state law). You must assign all Franchise Agreements you signed to the same transferee (or at our option the transferee must sign our then-current form of Franchise Agreement for each transferred OHM® business) unless we agree to contrary. We must notify you that we do not intend to exercise our right of first refusal. Subject to State Law.	
n. Our right of first refusal to acquire your business	Section 24.5	We have the right within 30 days after we receive a from you a copy of a boni fide signed written offer to purchase your franchise to match any bona fide, arms-length offer for your business.	
o. Our option to purchase your business	Not Applicable	Not Applicable	
p. Your death or disability	Section 24.4	Within 180 days, franchise must be assigned by estate to an assignee in compliance with conditions for other transfers. We may designate manager to operate the Business prior to transfer.	
q. Non-competition covenants during the term of the franchise	Section 19.2 & 19.3	No involvement in competing business; comply with non- solicitation and non-disclosure covenants. Subject to State Law	
r. Non-competition covenants after the franchise is terminated or expires	Section 19.2, 19.4 & 26	No involvement for 2 years in competing business within development territory or any other active OHM® territory; comply with non-solicitation and non-disclosure covenants; cease use of intellectual property. Subject to State Law/	
s. Modification of the agreement	Section 29.3 & 29.8	Requires writing signed by both parties (except for unilateral changes to AR Manual or unilateral reduction of scope of restrictive covenants by us). Other modifications to comply with various states laws.	

THE FRANCHISE RELATIONSHIP			
Provision	SECTIONS IN AGREEMENT	SUMMARY	
t. Integration/merger clause	Section 29.8	Only the terms of the AR Agreement and attachments to AR Agreement are binding (subject to state law). Any representations or promises made outside the Disclosure Document and AR Agreement may not be enforceable. Nothing in the AR Agreement or any related agreements is intended to disclaim any of the representations we made in this Disclosure Document.	
		No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.	
u. Dispute resolution by arbitration or mediation	Section 27	Subject to state law, all disputes must be mediated before litigation, except for certain disputes involving our intellectual property or compliance with restrictive covenants.	
v. Choice of forum	Section 27	Subject to state law, all mediation and litigation must take place in county where we maintain our principal place of business (currently, Maricopa County, Arizona) at time dispute arises.	
w. Choice of law	Section 29.1	Subject to state law, Arizona law governs.	

ITEM 18. PUBLIC FIGURES

We do not use any public figures to promote our franchise.

ITEM 19. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPRESENTATIONS

The FTC's Franchise Rule permits a franchisor to disclose information about the actual or potential financial performance of its franchised and/or franchisor-owned outlets, if there is a reasonable basis for the information and the information is included in the disclosure document. Financial performance information that differs from that included in this Item 19 may be given only if: (1) a franchisor provides the actual records of an existing outlet you are considering buying; or (2) a franchisor supplements the information provided in this Item 19, for example, by providing information about performance at a particular location or under particular circumstances.

We do not make any representations about a franchisee's future financial performance or the past financial performance of company-owned or franchised outlets. We also do not authorize our employees or representatives to make any such representations either orally or in writing. If you are purchasing an existing outlet, however, we may provide you with the actual records of that outlet. If you receive any other financial performance information or projections of your future income, you should report it to the franchisor's management by contacting Steve Belknap, 15011 N. 75th Street, Suite #2, Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 and telephone number (480) 797-2854, the Federal Trade Commission, and the appropriate state regulatory agencies.

ITEM 20.
OUTLETS AND FRANCHISEE INFORMATION

Т	TABLE 1 - SYSTEM-WIDE OUTLET SUMMARY FOR YEARS 2021 TO 2023					
Outlet Type	Year	Outlets at the Start of the Year	Outlets at the End of the Year	Net Change		
Franchised	2021	0	0	0		
	2022	0	5	+5		
	2023	5	12	+7		
Company-Owned	2021	0	1	+1		
	2022	1	1	0		
	2023	1	1	0		
Total Outlets	2021	0	1	+1		
	2022	1	6	+5		
	2022	6	13	+7		

TABLE 2 - TRANSFERS OF OUTLETS FROM FRANCHISEES TO NEW OWNERS (OTHER THAN THE FRANCHISOR) FOR YEARS 2021 TO 2023			
State	Year	Number of Transfers	
Total	2021	0	
	2022	0	
	2023	0	

THIS REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

TABLE 3 - STATUS OF FRANCHISED OUTLETS FOR YEARS 2021 TO 2023								
State	Year	Outlets at Start of Year	Outlets Opened	Termin- ations	Non- Renewals	Reacquired by Franchisor	Ceased Operations - Other Reasons	Outlets at End of Year
Arizona	2021	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2022	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	0	1	1	0	0	0	0
California	2021	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2022	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
Colorado	2021	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2022	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2023	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
District	2021	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
of Columbia	2022	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
Columbia	2023	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
Florida	2021	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2022	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	1	0	0	0	0	2
Kansas	2021	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2022	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2023	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
Missouri	2021	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2022	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
 	2023	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
New	2021	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Jersey	2022	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
 	2023	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
North	2021	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Carolina	2022	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
 	2023	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
Texas	2021	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2022	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2023	0	3	0	0	0	0	3
Totals	2021	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2022	0	5	0	0	0	0	5
 	2023	5	8	1	0	0	0	12

	TABLE 4 - STATUS OF COMPANY-OWNED OUTLETS FOR YEARS 2021 TO 2023						
State	Year	Outlets at Start of Year	Outlets Opened	Outlets Reacquired From Franchisee	Outlets Closed	Outlets Sold to Franchisee	Outlets at End of Year
Arizona	2021	0	1	0	0	0	1
	2022	1	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	1
Totals	2021	0	1	0	0	0	1
	2022	1	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	1

TABLE 5 - PROJECTED OPENINGS AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2023				
State	Franchise Agreements Signed but Outlet Not Opened	Projected New Franchised Outlets in the Next Fiscal Year (2024)	Projected New Company-Owned Outlets in the Next Fiscal Year (2024)	
California	0	2	0	
Florida	0	1	0	
Illinois	0	1	0	
Maryland	0	1	0	
Michigan	0	1	0	
Minnesota	0	1	0	
Nevada	0	1	0	
New York	0	1	0	
North Carolina	0	1	0	
Oregon	0	1	0	
Utah	0	1	0	
Total	0	12	0	

Notes to Tables:

1. Our fiscal year ends on December 31st. All references to years in these tables refer to December 31 of that year. The outlets listed in Table 1 through Table 4 only refer to outlets that are open on the relevant date.

Our fiscal year ends on December 31st.

A list of all OHM® franchisees and area representatives as of the end of our previous fiscal year is attached to this Disclosure Document as Exhibit D (Part A), and as of the date of this disclosure documents (Part B), including their names and the addresses and telephone numbers and a brief history of each member of the area representative. In addition, Exhibit E (Part C) lists the name, city and state, and the current business telephone number (or, if unknown, the last known home telephone number) of every franchisee and area representative who had an agreement, outlet terminated, canceled, not renewed, or otherwise voluntarily or involuntarily ceased to do business under the franchise or area representative agreement during our most

recently completed fiscal year or who has not communicated with us within 10 weeks of the issuance date of this Disclosure Document.

If you buy this area representative agreement, your contact information may be disclosed to other buyers when you leave the franchise system.

During the last 3 fiscal years, no current or former area representatives have signed confidentiality clauses that restrict them from discussing with you their experience as a franchisee in our franchise system.

There are no (i) trademark-specific franchisee organizations associated with the franchise system being offered that we have created, sponsored or endorsed or (ii) independent franchisee organizations that have asked to be included in this Disclosure Document.

ITEM 21. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Exhibit "E" contains our audited financial statements as of, and for the period ended, December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, and our audited balance sheet as of December 31, 2021. We have not been in business for three years or more, and therefore cannot include all financial statements required by the Federal Rule of the Federal Trade Commission. Our unaudited Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Statement as of April 30, 2024, are also attached as Exhibit "E." Our fiscal year ends on December 31.

ITEM 22. CONTRACTS

Attached to this Disclosure Document (or the AR Agreement attached to this Disclosure Document) are copies of the following franchise and other contracts or agreements proposed for use or in use in this state:

Exhibits to Disclosure Document

Exhibit "B"	Area Representative Agreement
Exhibit "C"	Manual Table of Contents

Exhibit "F" Franchisee Disclosure Questionnaire

Exhibit "G" State Addenda And Riders

Exhibit "H" General Release

Attachments to Area Representative Agreement

Attachment "A"	Definitions
Attachment "B"	Development Territory
Attachment "C"	Franchise Owner Agreement
Attachment "D"	Development Schedule
Attachment "E"	Confidentiality Agreement

ITEM 23. RECEIPTS

Exhibit "J" to this Disclosure Document are detachable receipts. You are to sign both, keep one copy and return the other copy to us.

EXHIBIT A TO DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT

STATE AGENCIES AND ADMINISTRATORS

CALIFORNIA

Commissioner of Business Oversight

Department of Business Oversight

320 West 4th Street, #750 Los Angeles, CA 90013 (213) 576-7500

Toll Free: 1-866-275-2677 Website: www.dipi.ca.gov Email: Ask.DFPI@dfpi.ca

HAWAII

Commissioner of Securities of the State of Hawaii 335 Merchant Street, Room 203 Honolulu, Hawaii 96813 (808) 586-2722

Agents for Service of Process:

Commissioner of Securities of the State of Hawaii

Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs

Business Registration Division 335 Merchant Street, Room 203 Honolulu, Hawaii 96813 (808) 586-2722

ILLINOIS

Illinois Attorney General Chief, Franchise Division 500 South Second Street Springfield, IL 62706 (217) 782-4465

INDIANA

Secretary of State Securities Division Room E-018 302 West Washington Street Indianapolis, IN 46204 (317) 232-6681

MARYLAND

Office of the Attorney General Securities Division 200 St. Paul Place Baltimore, Maryland 21202 (410) 576-6360

MICHIGAN

Franchise Administrator Consumer Protection Division 670 Law Building Lansing, MI 48913 (517) 373-7117

MINNESOTA

MN Department of Commerce Commissioner of Commerce 85 7th Place East, Suite 280 St. Paul, MN 55101 (651) 539-16 00

NEW YORK

Investor Protection Bureau 28 Liberty Street, 21st Floor New York, NY 10005 (212) 416-8222

NORTH DAKOTA

North Dakota Securities Department State Capitol, Fifth Floor, Dept 414 600 East Boulevard Avenue Bismarck, North Dakota 58505-0510 (701) 328-4712

RHODE ISLAND

Department of Franchise Regulation 1511 Pontiac Avenue John O. Pastore Complex Bldg 69-1 Cranston, Rhode Island 02920 (401) 462-9527

SOUTH DAKOTA

Department of Labor and Regulation Division of Securities 124 S Euclid, Suite 104 Pierre, South Dakota 57501 (605) 773-4823

VIRGINIA

State Corporation Commission
Division of Securities and Retail
Franchising
1st Floor (service of process)
9th Floor (administrator)
1300 East Main Street
Richmond, Virginia 23219
(804) 371-9051

WASHINGTON

Department of Financial Institutions
Securities Division
P. O. Box 41200
Olympia, WA 98504
(360) 902-8760

WISCONSIN

Department of Financial Institutions Division of Securities 201 W Washington Avenue, Suite 500 Madison, WI 53703 (608) 261-9555

FRANCHISOR'S AGENT FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS

We intend to register this disclosure document as a "franchise" in some or all of the following states, in accordance with the applicable state law. If and when we pursue franchise registration (or otherwise comply with the franchise investment laws) in these states, we will designate the following state offices or officials as our agents for service of process in those states:

CALIFORNIA	MARYLAND
Commissioner of Business Oversight Department of	
Business Oversight	Place
1515 K Street, Suite 200	Baltimore, Maryland 21202-2020
Sacramento, California 95814 (415) 972-8559	(410) 576-6360
HAWAII	MICHIGAN
Commissioner of Securities Department of	Consumer Protection Division Franchise Section
Commerce	670 Law Building
and Consumer Affairs	
335 Merchant Street, Room 203	Lansing, Michigan 48913
Honolulu, Hawaii 96813	(517) 373-7117
(808) 586-2722	
<u>ILLINOIS</u>	MINNESOTA
Illinois Attorney General Franchise Bureau	Commissioner of Commerce
500 South Second Street	Minnesota Department of Commerce
	85 7th Place East, Suite 280
Springfield, Illinois 62706	St. Paul, Minnesota 55101
(217) 782-4465	(612) 539-1600
INDIANA	NEW YORK
Indiana Secretary of State Franchise Section	New York Secretary of State
302 West Washington, Room E-111 Indianapolis,	99 Washington Avenue
Indiana 46204 (317) 232-6681	Albany, New York 12231
(317) 232-0081	
NORTH DAKOTA Securities Commissioner 600	VIRGINIA
East Boulevard Avenue State Capitol	Clerk of State Corporation Commission 1300 East
Bismarck, North Dakota 58505 (701) 224-4712	Main Street
	Richmond, Virginia 23219 (804) 371-9051
RHODE ISLAND Director of Department of	WASHINGTON
Business Regulation John O. Pastore Complex, Bldg 69-1 1511 Pontiac	Department of Financial Institutions Securities Division
Avenue	150 Israel Rd SW
Cranston, Rhode Island 02920 (401) 277-3048	Tumwater, Washington 98501 (360) 902-8760
,	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
SOUTH DAKOTA	WISCONSIN Commissioner of Securities Fourth
Director of Division of Securities 445 East Capitol	Floor
Avenue Diogra South Delete 57501 2017 (605) 773 4013	101 East Wilson Street Madison, Wisconsin 53702
Pierre, South Dakota 57501-2017 (605) 773-4013	(608) 266-8559
TEXAS Edward Le	
2470 Gray Falls, Suite 285 Houston, Texas 77077	
281.661.1999	

EXHIBIT B TO DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT

AREA REPRESENTATIVE AGREEMENT

[See Attached]



OHM® FITNESS

AREA REPRESENTATIVE AGREEMENT

Area Representative:	
Date:	
Territory:	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	DEFINITIONS	1
2.	PREAMBLES	1
3.	GRANT OF AREA REPRESENTATIVE RIGHTS	1
4.	TERRITORIAL PROTECTIONS & LIMITATIONS	1
5.	DEVELOPMENT FEE AND ANNUAL SUPPORT FEE	2
6.	COMMISSIONS	2
7.	TERM AND RENEWAL.	3
8.	MANAGEMENT AND STAFFING.	3
9.	FRANCHISEE AS ENTITY	4
10.	FRANCHISE OWNER AGREEMENT	5
11.	TRAINING AND CONFERENCES.	5
12.	OTHER FRANCHISOR ASSISTANCE	<i>6</i>
13.	FRANCHISE SALES AND DEVELOPMENT.	6
14.	TRAINING FRANCHISEES	
15.	SUPPORTING, SERVICING AND MONITORING FRANCHISEES	8
16.	MARKETING	
17.	OPERATING STANDARDS.	10
18.	ADVISORY COUNCIL	
19.	RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS	11
20.	YOUR OTHER RESPONSIBILITIES	13
21.	INSPECTIONS AND AUDITS	14
22.	INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY	15
23.	INDEMNITY	16
24.	TRANSFERS	16
25.	TERMINATION	
26.	POST-TERM OBLIGATIONS	
27.	DISPUTE RESOLUTION	20
28.	YOUR REPRESENTATIONS	21
29.	GENERAL PROVISIONS	22

ATTACHMENTS

ATTACHMENT "A" DEFINITIONS

ATTACHMENT "B" DEVELOPMENT TERRITORY

ATTACHMENT "C" FRANCHISE OWNER AGREEMENT

ATTACHMENT "D" DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE

ATTACHMENT "E" CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT

AREA REPRESENTATIVE AGREEMENT

THIS AREA REPRESENTATIVE AGREEMENT (this "<u>Agreement</u>") is entered into as of the "<u>Effective Date</u>") between OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC, a Wyoming limited liability company ("<u>we</u>" or "<u>us</u>") and ("<u>you</u>"). You and we are collectively referred to as the "Parties".

1. **DEFINITIONS.** Capitalized terms used in this Agreement are defined either in the body of this Agreement or in <u>Attachment "A"</u>. For capitalized terms that are defined in the body of this Agreement, Attachment "A" lists the Sections of this Agreement in which such terms are defined.

2. **PREAMBLES**.

- (a) We grant franchises for the operation of a fitness and training Studio that operates under the name OHM® Fitness and specializes in conducting class fitness lessons utilizing an electro muscle stimulation body suit (the "OHM Body Suit").
- (b) All OHM® Fitness Studios operate using a system that was developed by us and our affiliates (the "Operating System") as well as our Copyrights, Marks and Know-How. The distinctive characteristics of our Operating System include logo, proprietary techniques and products, confidential brand standards manual and operating system.
- (c) We desire to increase the number of franchised OHM® Fitness Studios and establish an administrator of the OHM® Fitness franchise system (the "Franchise System") within the geographic area described on Attachment "B" (the "Development Territory").
- (d) You wish to represent us as an independent contractor to solicit, screen, recruit, develop, service and support OHM® Fitness Studio franchises in the Development Territory and we are willing to allow you to do so upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.
- 3. **GRANT OF AREA REPRESENTATIVE RIGHTS.** Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, and solely during the Term, we hereby grant you: (i) Area Representative Rights authorizing you to solicit, screen, recruit, develop, service and support OHM® Fitness Studio franchises solely within the Development Territory; (ii) a license to use the Intellectual Property solely in connection with the activities contemplated by this Agreement; and (iii) the right and obligation to directly own and operate at least three (3) OHM® Fitness Studios pursuant to separate Franchise Agreements between you and us. You understand that you do not have the right to: (i) sell franchises; (ii) sign Franchise Agreements or other binding agreements with franchisees; or (iii) agree to negotiated modifications to our standard form of franchise agreement. You may begin soliciting, recruiting, training and supporting franchisees after you have successfully completed our initial training program and obtained all required insurance.

4. TERRITORIAL PROTECTIONS & LIMITATIONS.

4.1 <u>Protected Rights</u>. For the duration of the Term, we will not grant Area Representative Rights to any other person for the Development Territory. You understand that nothing in this Agreement provides you with any protections relating to the sale of fitness or other related services or products within the Development Territory, and any such protections (if any) would only be granted pursuant to the terms of a Franchise Agreement. You further understand that your protected territorial rights are subject to the limitations described in <u>Section 4.2</u> below. We reserve all rights not expressly granted to you.

- 4.2 <u>Limitations on Protected Territorial Rights</u>. We reserve the right to: (i) directly solicit, screen, recruit, develop, service and/or support OHM® Fitness franchises that are located within your Development Territory provided that we pay you the full commissions described in <u>Section 6</u> with respect to such franchises; (ii) engage the services of third party franchise brokers or franchise sales companies and/or utilize any lead generation services that we desire in order to solicit, screen and/or recruit OHM® Fitness franchises that are located within your Development Territory provided that we pay you the full commissions described in <u>Section 6</u> with respect to such franchises. You understand that only we may sign Franchise Agreements with OHM® Fitness franchisees that you solicit or that we solicit as described above.
- 5. **DEVELOPMENT FEE AND ANNUAL SUPPORT FEE.** Upon execution of this Agreement, you shall pay us a non-refundable one-time development fee of \$______. The development fee must be paid by cashier's check, wire transfer or other immediately available funds. The development fee is in addition to any other amounts you are required to pay under this Agreement or any Franchise Agreement. You are responsible for all costs and expenses that you and your employees incur in connection with the performance of your obligations under this Agreement.

6. **COMMISSIONS.**

- Commission on Franchise Sales. For each franchise that we sell during the Term that is located in the Development Territory (including Studios operated by you and your affiliates), we will pay you a commission equal to 50% of the "net" initial franchise fee that we collect. The "net" initial franchise fee is the total amount of the initial franchise fee that we collect less any amounts we must pay to third party brokers we hire, online lead generation service companies we hire or other referral sources relating to the sale. If you choose to engage the services of third-party brokers, online lead generation service companies or other referral sources, you are solely responsible for all fees owed to such brokers, companies and referral sources. You understand that we have complete discretion to determine the amount of the initial franchise fee that we charge and that we may: (i) negotiate reduced initial franchise fees for particular transactions or classes of franchisees; (ii) increase or decrease the amount of the standard initial franchise fee from time to time; and/or (iii) offer financing or installment payment plans with respect to the initial franchise fee. If payment of the initial franchise fee for a franchise sold during the Term extends beyond the expiration of this Agreement, we will continue to pay you your commission in the time and manner specified in this Agreement with respect to such initial franchise fee provided that we did not terminate this Agreement prior to its expiration date due to your default. You are not entitled to any commission with respect to any initial franchise fee that we are unable to collect.
- 6.2 <u>Commission on Royalty Fees</u>. For each OHM® Fitness franchise operated in the Development Territory (including Studios operated by you and your affiliates), we will pay you a commission equal to 2.25% of the Gross Revenues generated by the franchisees during the Term. You understand that we have complete discretion to determine the amount of the royalty fee that we charge and that we may: (i) negotiate reduced royalty fees for particular transactions or classes of franchisees; and/or (ii) increase or decrease the amount of the standard royalty fees from time to time. You are not entitled to any commission with respect to any royalty fee that we are unable to collect or if we determine, in our reasonable discretion, that you have not provided the required support services to the franchised Studios in your Territory.
- 6.3 <u>Timing for Payment</u>. Except as described above, you are not entitled to commissions on any other fees or payments made by franchisees in your Development Territory. We will pay you your commission on or before the 15th day of each month for initial franchise fees and royalty fees collected during the prior month. You understand that our obligation to pay you a commission only arises after our actual receipt of the fee in good funds. If payment of all or any portion of the fee is deferred for any reason

(including, without limitation, our negotiation of a payment plan, offer of financing, or state imposed impound condition), our obligation to pay you your commission will be deferred accordingly.

7. TERM AND RENEWAL.

- 7.1 Term. The term of this Agreement will begin on the Effective Date and expire 10 years thereafter (the "Term"). Upon the expiration of the Term, you may enter into a maximum of one (1) successor area representative agreement (a "Successor Agreement") as long as you meet the conditions for renewal specified below. Each Successor Agreement shall be the current form of area representative agreement that we use in granting Area Representative Rights as of the expiration of the Term or renewal term, as applicable. The terms and conditions of the Successor Agreement may vary materially and substantially from the terms and conditions of this Agreement, except that: (i) the geographic area that comprises the Development Territory shall not be reduced unless a reduction is mutually agreed upon by the Parties; and (ii) you shall not be required to pay an additional Development Fee. The renewal term will be 10 years, for a maximum total term of 20 years. You will have no further right to operate your Business following the expiration of the final renewal term unless we grant you another franchise in our sole discretion. If this Agreement is a Successor Agreement, the renewal provisions in your original area representative agreement will dictate the length of the Term of this Agreement as well as your remaining renewal rights, if any.
- Owners (as applicable) must: (i) notify us in writing of your desire to enter into a Successor Agreement not less than 180 days nor more than 270 days before the expiration of the Term; (ii) not be in default under this Agreement or any other agreement with us or any affiliate of ours at the time you send the renewal notice or the time you sign the Successor Agreement; (iii) negotiate a new Development Schedule that is mutually agreeable to the Parties; provided, however, that if we determine in our commercially reasonable judgment that the Development Territory cannot support any additional OHM® Fitness Studios, then you may not solicit or recruit any additional franchises except to the extent that the Franchise Agreements for existing franchises are terminated or expire without the execution of a successor franchise agreement; (iv) sign the Successor Agreement and all ancillary documents that we require area representatives to sign; (v) sign a General Release; (vii) pay us a renewal fee equal to 25% of the development fee imposed under Section 5; and (vii) take any additional action that we reasonably require.
- 7.3 Interim Term. If you do not sign a Successor Agreement after the expiration of the Term and you continue to accept the benefits of this Agreement, then at our option, this Agreement may be treated either as: (i) expired as of the date of the expiration with you then operating without a franchise to do so and in violation of our rights; or (ii) continued on a month-to-month basis (the "Interim Term") until either Party provides the other Party with 30 days' prior written notice of the Party's intention to terminate the Interim Term. In the latter case, all of your obligations will remain in full force and effect during the Interim Term as if this Agreement had not expired, and all obligations and restrictions imposed on you and your Owners upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement will be deemed to take effect upon the termination of the Interim Term.

8. MANAGEMENT AND STAFFING.

8.1 Owner Participation. You acknowledge that a major requirement for the success of your Business is the active, continuing, and substantial personal involvement and hands-on supervision by your Managing Owner. At a minimum, the Managing Owner must: (i) successfully complete the initial training program for OHM® Fitness franchisees and area representatives and all mandatory refresher or advanced training programs; (ii) ensure that the Business is operated in accordance with the standards and requirement imposed by this Agreement and the AR Manual; and (iii) submit an initial and annual business plan for

your Business. The Managing Owner must participate personally and substantially in the management of the Business and dedicate his or her full-time efforts to the Business. You may not permit a transfer of all or any portion of the Managing Owner's responsibilities to a substitute Managing Owner at any time during the Term without our prior written consent, which we will not unreasonably withhold. Any substitute Managing Owner that we approve after opening must successfully complete the initial training program. The Managing Owner (or a substitute Managing Owner) must own and control not less than a controlling ownership interest and voting rights in the area representative Entity.

- 8.2 Employees. You must hire, train, and supervise honest, reliable, competent and courteous employees for the operation of your Business. You must employ (or retain on an independent contractor basis) franchise salespersons, field consultants and other staff necessary to perform all activities contemplated by this Agreement. You must ensure that all of your staff maintains any required licenses, certifications or other credentials that are necessary to offer or sell franchises. You must pay all wages, commissions, benefits, worker's compensation premiums and payroll taxes (and other withholdings required by law) due for your employees. These employees will be employees of yours and not of ours. You must ensure that a sufficient number of trained employees are available to meet the operational standards of your Business and provide adequate levels of support to franchisees at all times. You must ensure that your employees perform their duties in compliance with the terms of the AR Manual and any other materials applicable to employees that we communicate to you. You may give your employees only the minimum amount of information from the AR Manual that is necessary to enable them to perform their assigned tasks. You must ensure that your employees do not make or retain copies of the AR Manual or any portion of the AR Manual. We do not control the day-to-day activities of your employees or the manner in which they perform their assigned tasks. We also do not control the hiring or firing of your employees.
- 8.3 <u>Interim Manager</u>. We have the right, but not the obligation, to designate an individual of our choosing (an "<u>Interim Manager</u>") to manage your Business if either: (i) your Managing Owner ceases to perform the responsibilities of a Managing Owner (whether due to retirement, death, disability, or for any other reason) and you fail to find an adequate replacement Managing Owner within 30 days; or (ii) you are in material breach. The Interim Manager will cease to manage your Business at such time that you hire an adequate replacement Managing Owner who has successfully completed training, or you cure the material breach, as applicable. If we appoint an Interim Manager, you agree to compensate the Interim Manager at a rate that we establish in our commercially reasonable discretion. The Interim Manager will have no liability to you except for gross negligence or willful misconduct. We will have no liability to you for the activities of an Interim Manager unless we are grossly negligent in appointing the Interim Manager.
- 9. **FRANCHISEE AS ENTITY.** The Owners must form an Entity to be the "area representative" under this Agreement. If the Entity did not initially sign this Agreement, the Owners must assign this Agreement to the Entity before you begin operating your Business. You agree to provide us with a list of all of the Entity's Owners. All Owners of the Entity (whether direct or indirect) are jointly and severally responsible for the Entity's performance of this Agreement. Upon our request, you must provide us with a resolution of the Entity authorizing the execution of this Agreement, a copy of the Entity's organizational documents and a current Certificate of Good Standing (or the functional equivalent thereof). You represent that the Entity is duly formed and validly existing under the laws of the state of its formation or

incorporation. The Entity's organizational documents must incorporate the transfer restrictions set forth in this Agreement as they pertain to a transfer of an interest in the Entity.

10. **FRANCHISE OWNER AGREEMENT.** All Owners (whether direct or indirect) of the Entity that is the "area representative" under this Agreement and their spouses must sign a Franchise Owner Agreement, the current form of which is attached as Attachment "C".

11. TRAINING AND CONFERENCES.

- 11.1 Area Representative Training. You must attend and complete our standard initial training program provided to franchisees purchasing an OHM® Fitness Studio franchise. In addition to this training, we may provide additional training for your area representative business that includes two components: franchise sales training and franchise service and support training. This training program introduces you to certain issues pertaining to the offer and sale of franchises. We will also provide you with franchise service and support training, which is designed to teach you how to evaluate, inspect and support franchisees. The initial training program will be conducted at an affiliate-owned OHM® Fitness Studio in Scottsdale, Arizona or any other location that we designate. Any individual who fails to complete the initial training program to our satisfaction must retake training until he or she completes the training to our satisfaction. The Managing Owner must successfully complete initial training within 30 days after the Effective Date and prior to soliciting, recruiting, servicing or supporting franchisees.
- 11.2 <u>Ongoing Training</u>. From time to time, we may offer refresher or additional training courses for your Managing Owner and other employees relating to the operation of your Business. Attendance at these training programs is mandatory.
- 11.3 <u>Initial On-Site Training</u>. We may, but need not, provide up to five (5) days of on-site training in your Development Territory with respect to the performance of your duties under this Agreement, including assisting you with your first "discovery day" and assisting you with providing the preopening support to the first franchisee that you recruit. If you request additional on-site training or you request that we provide pre-opening or post-opening support to any franchisees in your Development Territory, we may, if we choose to provide such training, require that you pay us an on-site assistance fee of up to \$1,000 per day plus reimbursement of all reasonable travel and living expenses (including food, lodging and travel) incurred by our representatives in providing such on-site training or support. Any such fees and reimbursement will be due 10 days after invoicing. Our determination of whether to provide the on-site training will be based upon our subjective assessment of your prior experience and qualifications.
- 11.4 <u>Conferences</u>. We may hold periodic national or regional conferences to discuss various business issues and operational and general business concerns affecting area representatives. We may hold these conferences separately or in conjunction with conferences for OHM® Fitness franchisees. Attendance at these conferences is mandatory. We will not require attendance at more than 1 conference during any calendar year, which conference will be in addition to any conferences required under any Franchise Agreements you sign with us.
- 11.5 <u>Fees and Expenses</u>. Except as otherwise provided in <u>Section 11</u>, we will not charge you any fees to attend any of our training programs or conferences. You are responsible for all food, lodging and travel costs that your Managing Owner and other Owners and employees incur while attending a training program or conference.

12. OTHER FRANCHISOR ASSISTANCE.

- 12.1 <u>Manuals</u>. We will grant you electronic access to our AR Manual, which will assist and guide you in the proper development and operation of your Business. The AR Manual is further described in <u>Section 17.1</u>. We may grant you electronic access to our Franchisee Manual or we may provide in hard copy format. You must ensure that all franchisees develop and operate their OHM® Fitness Studios in accordance with the Franchisee Manual.
- Marketing Materials. Before you begin soliciting and recruiting prospective franchisees, we will provide you with access to certain franchise marketing materials that you may download from our intranet site. Throughout the Term, we will provide you with access to any new or updated marketing materials that we develop. We may make these materials available for download over the Internet or we may enter into an arrangement with third party suppliers to produce the materials for your purchase. Alternatively, we may require that you purchase these materials directly from us at our cost to produce them. You must also reimburse us for any shipping and handling charges that we incur to deliver the materials to you.
- 12.3 OHM® Fitness Website. We or an affiliate of ours will maintain the OHM® Fitness website to fulfill a variety of functions, including, without limitation, the promotion of OHM® Fitness Studios and the solicitation of the purchase of franchises. If the website generates leads for prospective franchise purchasers in your Development Territory after the date that we permit you to begin soliciting and recruiting prospective franchisees, we will refer the leads to you.
- 12.4 <u>General Support</u>. Throughout the Term, we will provide you with reasonable levels of ongoing consultation, guidance, assistance and support to enable you to market, develop and support OHM® Fitness franchises and carry out the purposes of this Agreement. On a periodic basis, we may inspect your operations and analyze reports that you submit to us and provide guidance and recommendations on ways to improve the marketing and/or operation of your Business based upon our evaluation of such inspections and reports.

13. FRANCHISE SALES AND DEVELOPMENT.

- 13.1 <u>Development Obligations</u>. You agree to solicit, screen, recruit, develop, service and support in the Development Territory not less than the cumulative number of OHM® Fitness Studios set forth on <u>Attachment "D"</u> (the "Development Schedule") in the manner and within each of the time periods specified therein (the "Minimum Development Obligations"). For each calendar year, you are responsible for maintaining and supporting not less than the cumulative number of open and operating OHM® Fitness Studios specified in the Development Schedule.
- 13.2 Franchise Solicitations and Representations. You may not make any representation to any prospective franchisee about us, you, the franchise, or otherwise, that is: (i) misleading, incomplete, fraudulent or untrue; or (ii) contradicted by the written material provided to such prospect, including the Franchise Disclosure Document. You must ensure that all franchise marketing efforts conducted by you or under your direction are conducted in a courteous, dignified, ethical and responsible manner. You agree that no sales information, earning claims or estimates or financial performance representation will be given to prospective franchisees by you or any person under your control or supervision unless such information is contained in our Franchise Disclosure Document. Moreover, you agree that you will not provide any financial performance information to prospective franchisees regarding the operation of any OHM® Fitness Studio operated by you or your affiliates. With our prior written approval, you may hire the services of third-party brokers or lead generation companies to assist you in soliciting prospective franchisees. However, you are solely responsible for all brokerage fees and other fees you must pay these companies.

You must ensure that any representatives of these companies that speak with prospective franchisees: (i) are listed on the Receipt pages; (ii) complete and file with the appropriate state agency any required Sales Agent Disclosure Form or Franchise Seller Disclosure Form; and (iii) obtain all required licenses and broker registrations that are necessary to perform services on your behalf.

- 13.3 <u>Screening Franchisees</u>. You must screen all prospective franchisees to ensure that they meet our minimum qualifications and requirements (the "<u>Minimum Qualifications</u>"). We may revise the Minimum Qualifications from time to time in our sole discretion. You are required to screen and investigate all prospective franchisees to determine whether they meet the Minimum Qualifications. As part of your investigative responsibilities, you are required to review credit reports, check references and conduct background investigations, including a review of employment and criminal records and a review of any licensing or credentialing required under applicable law in order to own or operate an OHM® Fitness franchise. Before providing a copy of our Franchise Disclosure Document to a prospect, you must first obtain a completed initial application from the prospect to ensure they meet any initial qualifications that we require to be met as a condition of receiving a Franchise Disclosure Document.
- Franchise Disclosure Process. You understand that it is your responsibility to be aware of and comply with all applicable laws and regulations governing the offer and sale of franchises in your Development Territory to the extent your activities are subject to these laws and regulations. Unless an exemption applies and you obtain our prior written consent, you must provide a copy of our then-current Franchise Disclosure Document to each prospective franchisee in the time and manner required by applicable law. We will provide you with our most current form of Franchise Disclosure Document for use in your Development Territory (and all modifications and updates thereto). You understand that you may be prohibited from engaging in franchise sales activity during any period of time during which we do not have an effective franchise registration or business opportunity exemption for one or more states within your Development Territory. We will use commercially reasonable efforts to avoid any lapse in any required state franchise registration or business opportunity exemption, although we will have no liability to you for any interruption in your Business caused by any lapse in such registration or exemption. If you are unable to offer franchises due to our failure to maintain a required registration or exemption, we will offer you a reasonable modification to your Development Schedule to account for delays in your ability to solicit franchises. You agree to comply with any new franchise law that applies to you during the Term, including, without limitation, any obligation for you to prepare your own Franchise Disclosure Document and/or register the franchise offering. Notwithstanding the above, we reserve the right, in our discretion, to exclusively control the franchise disclosure process and distribute our Franchise Disclosure Document to prospective franchisees.
- 13.5 <u>Franchise Seller/Broker Obligations</u>. You agree to provide us with all information that we request from time to time for purposes of preparing our Franchise Disclosure Document and filing any required Franchise Seller Disclosure Form, Sales Agent Disclosure Form, Franchise Broker Registration or other comparable report or filing required under applicable franchise laws. You agree that it is your responsibility to obtain any required franchise broker registration or license at your cost. You further agree that you will promptly notify us in writing of any material change to the information previously submitted to us and/or filed with the state pertaining to you, such as new litigation, employment or bankruptcies.
- 13.6 <u>Franchise Sales</u>. If you believe that a prospective franchisee meets our Minimum Qualifications, you must notify us of this fact. You agree to provide us with all information that we reasonably request pertaining to the applicant. We may, in our commercially reasonable judgment, refuse to sell an OHM® Fitness franchise to a prospective franchisee that meets our Minimum Qualifications, in which case we will send you a written notice setting forth the reasons for our decision. At all times, we will have the right, but not the obligation, to meet with prospective franchisees, and you agree to cooperate with us and help facilitate any such meeting.

- Company Owned Franchises. You must sign a separate Franchise Agreement with us for each OHM® Fitness Studio that you directly own and operate. You must sign a Franchise Agreement for your first three OHM® Fitness Studios concurrently with the execution of this Agreement. We may, in our commercially reasonable judgment, permit you to establish separate affiliated companies for purposes of operating OHM® Fitness Studios, provided that each such company sign a cross guaranty and sign any other documentation that we reasonably require. If we allow you to operate an OHM® Fitness Studio through an affiliate, all references in this Agreement to "you" (with respect to the operation of the OHM® Fitness Studio) shall be modified to refer to the affiliate. Any OHM® Fitness Studio that you own and operate shall count towards satisfaction of your Minimum Development Obligations. You understand that we will not be required to provide you with any of the support or services that you are required to provide to third party franchisees under this Agreement, except in connection with your first OHM® Fitness Studio. Upon the expiration of this Agreement, you may continue to operate your OHM® Fitness Studios pursuant to the Franchise Agreements provided that you are not otherwise default under the terms of the Franchise Agreements. As an area representative, you are required to operate at least three (3) OHM® Fitness Studios for the duration of the Term, unless we agree in our sole discretion to allow you not to own and operate an OHM® Fitness Studio, or fewer than three (3) OHM ® Fitness Studios.
- 14. **TRAINING FRANCHISEES.** We will provide the classroom portion of the initial franchise training program for each franchisee. You agree to provide any additional training that we require from time to time, including, initial on-the-job and on-site training, refresher training and advanced training. You agree to use your OHM® Fitness Studio, or an OHM® Fitness Studio owned by a franchisee in your Development Territory, as a training facility for franchisees in your Development Territory. You agree to offer any initial training programs that we require on a basis sufficient to meet your Minimum Development Obligations and comply with the opening timelines set forth in the Franchise Agreements. We may require that the franchisees attend training or conferences that we conduct, and you agree to help coordinate and facilitate any such training or conference. Upon your request and at no additional charge (except for any on-site assistance that we provide), we will provide you with ongoing guidance and assistance relating to your training obligations.

15. SUPPORTING, SERVICING AND MONITORING FRANCHISEES.

- 15.1 <u>Generally.</u> You understand that we are obligated to provide certain support functions under the terms of the Franchise Agreements and that we have entered into this Agreement with you, in part, to enable us to delegate certain support functions to you. Accordingly, you agree to provide all support functions that we reasonably request from time to time, regardless of whether we are obligated to provide such support under the Franchise Agreements. You agree to provide prompt, courteous and reliable service to the franchisees and to generally promote the OHM® Fitness brand within the Development Territory.
- 15.2 Ongoing Support. You shall provide franchisees with all assistance and services that we reasonably request from time to time in connection with: (i) site selection and lease negotiation; (ii) constructing, developing and equipping OHM® Fitness Studios; (iii) conducting grand openings and sales and marketing support; (iv) operational and quality control issues; (v) the sourcing of equipment, fixtures, furnishings, inventory and supplies; and (vi) the closure, relocation, renewal and transfer of OHM® Fitness Studios. The specific service and support functions, and the proper methods of performing such functions, may be specified in the AR Manual.
- 15.3 <u>Inspections and Enforcement</u>. You agree to conduct a thorough and complete evaluation of each OHM® Fitness Studio within the Development Territory on at least a semi-annual basis in accordance with the standards and procedures that we prescribe from time to time; provided, however, that you agree to conduct evaluations on a more frequent basis (as often as may reasonably be necessary or

prudent) with respect to any OHM® Fitness Studio that is underperforming or in default. In connection with such evaluations, you will prepare and submit to us reports containing all information that we reasonably require within the period of time that we specify ("Evaluation Reports"). We may prescribe the form of Evaluation Report that you will use, including grading for each evaluation and information for the development of a plan to improve operations based on the results of the evaluation. You must ensure that all OHM® Fitness Studios operating your Development Territory achieve satisfactory grades on their Evaluation Reports. You agree to assist us with our enforcement of the provisions of the Franchise Agreements against franchisees that fail to comply with their obligations under such agreements.

15.4 <u>Material Communications</u>. You agree to send us copies of all correspondence and other communications between you and the franchisees relating to (i) any breach or alleged breach of the terms or conditions of a Franchise Agreement, (ii) the potential termination or expiration of a Franchise Agreement and (iii) any other communication that is material to the franchise relationship (collectively, "<u>Material Communications</u>"). You agree to prepare a written memorandum of all verbal Material Communications (which may be in the form of an e-mail). You agree to send us all Material Communications, or written memoranda thereof, within five (5) days after such Material Communication is made to or from the franchisee.

16. **MARKETING.**

- 16.1 Generally. You agree to participate in all promotional and marketing activities that we require from time to time at your cost. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, you may be required to establish, maintain and administer a regional advertising program or facilitate the establishment of regional advertising cooperatives for the benefit of all franchisees within a particular region. All advertisements and promotions that you create, or use must be completely factual and conform to the highest standards of ethical advertising and comply with all federal, state and local laws. You must ensure that your advertisements and promotional materials do not infringe upon the intellectual property rights of others. On an annual basis, you must develop and submit to us upon request a marketing plan for the development of your Development Territory for the ensuing 12-month period, including a reasonable budget for anticipated expenditures to be incurred in the execution of such marketing plan. You are required to spend a minimum of \$1,500 per month to market the franchise opportunity.
- Approval of Advertising. Before you use them, we must approve all advertising and promotional materials that we did not prepare or previously approve (including materials that we prepared or approved, and you or a franchisee modifies). We will be deemed to have approved the materials if we fail to issue our disapproval within 14 days after receipt. You may not use any advertising or promotional materials that we have disapproved (including materials that we previously approved and later disapprove). Similarly, you must ensure that all advertising materials used by franchisees within the Development Territory are approved by us prior to use in accordance with the terms of the Franchise Agreements.
- 16.3 Online Marketing and Website. You may not maintain your own website or solicit franchisees on the Internet or on any social media site or through any other electronic, mobile or digital device, method or system without our prior approval. Specifically, you may not maintain a website, conduct e-commerce, or otherwise maintain a presence or advertise on the Internet or any other public computer network (including social network services and social media sites such as Facebook, Twitter and LinkedIn) in connection with your Business except as we specifically approve or require. We may impose mandatory marketing requirements that involve the use of the Internet or social media sites from time to time, including the use of micro-sites that you will administer in accordance with our policies and other requirements. If we do so, you agree to comply with all policies and procedures we specify from time to time. If we allow you to operate a micro-site or other website, we will own your domain name and associated URLs at all times.

You may not apply for or acquire any domain name or URL that includes any of the Marks without our prior written consent. You agree to comply with any social media policy that we may develop.

17. **OPERATING STANDARDS.**

- Area Representative Manual. We may provide you with mandatory instructions and/or optional recommendations relating to the specific methods, policies, procedures and quality standards by which you will perform your obligations under this Agreement and assist us with the administration of the Franchise System within the Development Territory. We may also provide you with guidance on the legalities associated with offering and selling franchises, although you remain solely responsible for legal compliance and hiring your own attorney to advise you on these issues. Any such information, regardless of form (including written or electronic materials, videos, tutorials, training modules, pictures, recordings, etc.) shall be deemed part of and referred to as the "AR Manual," which shall be binding on you. You agree to comply with all mandatory provisions of the AR Manual, while recognizing that any personnel policies or procedures which ae made available in the AR Manual are for your personal use and are not mandatory. The AR Manual may contain, among other things, policies and procedures, legal compliance topics, service and support functions, training requirements, sourcing requirements and supplier information, reporting and accounting requirements, marketing and promotional requirements, brand enforcement requirements, and any other information that we deem relevant and that is not inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement. The AR Manual may also include online training programs. You understand that we have the right to modify the Franchise System from time to time and that the flexibility to make such modifications is critical to the success of the Franchise System. Accordingly, you agree that we may modify the AR Manual from time to time and you agree to comply with all such modifications.
- 17.2 <u>Standards of Operation</u>. You agree to: (i) comply with the uniform standards that we establish from time to time; and (ii) require all franchisees in the Development Territory to comply with such standards. You agree to implement and support the Operating System in the Development Territory so as to maintain and enhance uniform standards and operations throughout the entire Franchise System. You agree to give prompt, courteous and efficient service, and to be governed by the highest ethical standards of fair dealing and honesty when dealing with the public and all existing and prospective franchisees in order to preserve and enhance the identity, reputation and goodwill built by the Operating System and the value of the Marks.
- 17.3 <u>Authorized Goods and Services</u>. You agree to provide franchisees with all goods and services and engage in all related activities that we require from time to time in our commercially reasonable discretion. You may not offer or provide any other goods or services or engage in any other activities in connection with your Business without our prior written permission. We may, without obligation to do so, modify the services you are authorized to provide, and you must do the same upon notice from us.

17.4 Suppliers and Purchases.

- (a) <u>Required Purchases</u>. You agree to purchase or lease all products, supplies, equipment and other items specified in the AR Manual from time to time. The foregoing items must be obtained by you prior to commencing operation of the Business (and must be replaced on an as needed basis) and must be maintained in good working order throughout the Term.
- (b) <u>Equipment Maintenance and Changes</u>. You agree to maintain all equipment used in connection with the Business in good condition. You shall promptly replace or repair any equipment that is damaged, worn-out or obsolete. Upon our request, you agree to replace, repair or change your equipment within the time periods that we reasonably prescribe. You understand that we may require substantial changes to your equipment, which may require you to make significant additional investments.

- (c) <u>Software and Technology</u>. You must purchase or license, as applicable, and utilize all software and technology that we specify from time to time. We can change the software or technology you must use at any time. At any time, we may also develop proprietary software or technology that must be used by all of our area representatives. If this occurs, you agree to enter into a license agreement with us (or an affiliate of ours) and pay us (or our affiliate) commercially reasonable licensing, support and maintenance fees. The terms of the license agreement will govern the terms pursuant to which you may utilize this software or technology. We also reserve the right to enter into a master software or technology license agreement with a third-party licensor and then sublicense the software or technology to you, in which case we may charge you for all amounts that we must pay to the licensor based on your use of the software or technology plus a reasonable administrative. All fees and costs referenced in this Section shall be due and payable within 10 days after invoicing or as we otherwise specify from time to time.
- Suppliers. To enable us to control the quality and consistency of items and/or services used, sold, displayed or distributed in OHM® Fitness Studios and to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, you agree to ensure that all source restricted goods and services used, sold, displayed, or distributed in OHM® Fitness Studios are purchased from only those sources designated or approved by us from time to time. We may also require that you purchase certain items from approved or designated suppliers. All current designated and approved suppliers are identified in the AR Manual (for your source restricted purchases) or the Franchisee Manual (for source restricted purchases made by OHM® Fitness franchisees). If you wish to purchase or lease, or allow franchisees to purchase or lease, any such items from a non-approved supplier, you must send us a written notice specifying the supplier's name and qualifications and provide any additional information that we request. We will approve or reject your request within 30 days after we receive your notice and all additional information (and samples) that we require. We shall be deemed to have rejected your request if we fail to issue our approval within the 30-day period. We may, at our option, re-inspect the facilities and products of any approved supplier and revoke our approval upon the supplier's failure to meet any of our then current minimum standards and specifications. We may require that you reimburse us for all costs that we incur in reviewing a supplier and/or product that you propose.
- 18. **ADVISORY COUNCIL.** We may, but need not, create an area representative advisory council to provide us with suggestions to improve the Franchise System and the method of operation of area representatives. We will consider all suggestions from the advisory council in good faith, but we are not bound by any such suggestions. The advisory council would be established and operated according to rules and regulations we periodically approve, including procedures governing the selection of representatives of the advisory council who will communicate with us on matters raised by the advisory council. You would have the right to be a member of the advisory council as long as you are not in default under this Agreement and you do not act in a disruptive, abusive or counterproductive manner, as determined by us in our discretion. As a member, you would be entitled to all voting rights and privileges granted to other members of the council. Each member would be granted one (1) vote on all matters on which members are authorized to vote.

19. **RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS**.

19.1 <u>Reason for Covenants</u>. You acknowledge that the Intellectual Property and the training and assistance that we provide would not be acquired except through implementation of this Agreement. You also acknowledge that competition by you, the Owners or persons associated with you, or the Owners (including family members) could seriously jeopardize the entire Franchise System and Operating System because you and the Owners have received an advantage through knowledge of our day-to-day operations and Know-how related to the Franchise System and Operating System. Accordingly, you and the Owners agree to comply with the covenants described in this Section to protect the Intellectual Property, our Franchise System and our Operating System.

- 19.2 Our Know-how. You and the Owners agree: (i) neither you nor any Owner will use the Know-how in any business or capacity other than the operation of your Business pursuant to this Agreement and the operation of a OHM® Fitness Studio pursuant to a Franchise Agreement; (ii) you and the Owners will maintain the confidentiality of the Know-how at all times; (iii) neither you nor any Owner will make unauthorized copies of documents containing any Know-how; (iv) you and the Owners will take all reasonable steps that we require from time to time to prevent unauthorized use or disclosure of the Know-how; and (v) you and the Owners will stop using the Know-how immediately upon the expiration, termination or Transfer of this Agreement (except to the extent you are authorized to use the Intellectual Property pursuant to a Franchise Agreement that continues in good standing subsequent to the expiration, termination or Transfer of this Agreement), and any Owner who ceases to be an Owner before the expiration, termination or Transfer of this Agreement will stop using the Know-how immediately at the time he or she ceases to be an Owner.
- 19.3 <u>Unfair Competition During Term.</u> You and your Owners agree not to unfairly compete with us during the Term or any renewal term by engaging in any of the following activities ("<u>Prohibited Activities</u>"): (i) owning, operating or having any other interest (as an owner, partner, director, officer, employee, manager, consultant, shareholder, creditor, representative, agent or in any similar capacity) in any Competitive Business, other than owning an interest of five percent (5%) or less in a publicly traded company that is a Competitive Business; (ii) diverting or attempting to divert any business from us (or one of our affiliates or franchisees); or (iii) inducing (a) any of our employees or managers (or those of our affiliates or franchisees) to leave their position, (b) any customer of ours (or of one of our affiliates or franchisee or area representative of ours to leave the OHM® Fitness system.
- 19.4 <u>Unfair Competition After Term.</u> During the Post-Term Restricted Period, you and your Owners agree not to engage in any Prohibited Activities. Notwithstanding the foregoing, you and your Owners may have an interest in a Competitive Business during the Post-Term Restricted Period as long as the Competitive Business is not located within and does not provide competitive goods or services from any site that is located within, the Development Territory. If you or an Owner engage in a Prohibited Activity during the Post-Term Restricted Period (other than having an interest in a Competitive Business that is permitted under this Section), then the Post-Term Restricted Period applicable to you or the noncompliant Owner, as applicable, shall be extended by the period of time during which you or the noncompliant Owner, as applicable, engaged in the Prohibited Activity.
- 19.5 Employees and Others Associated with You. You must ensure that all of your employees, officers, directors, partners, members, independent contractors and other persons associated with you or your Business who have access to any of our Know-how sign and send us a Confidentiality Agreement before having access to our Know-how. You must use your best efforts to ensure that these individuals comply with the terms of the Confidentiality Agreements, and you must immediately notify us of any breach that comes to your attention. You agree to reimburse us for all reasonable expenses that we incur in enforcing a Confidentiality Agreement, including reasonable attorneys' fees and court costs.
- 19.6 Covenants Reasonable. You and the Owners acknowledge and agree that: (i) the terms of this Agreement are reasonable both in time and in scope of geographic area; (ii) our use and enforcement of covenants similar to those described above with respect to other OHM® Fitness franchisees and area representatives benefits you and the Owners in that it prevents others from unfairly competing with you; and (iii) you and the Owners have sufficient resources and business experience and opportunities to earn an adequate living while complying with the terms of this Agreement. YOU AND THE OWNERS HEREBY WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO CHALLENGE THE TERMS OF THIS SECTION 19 AS BEING OVERLY BROAD, UNREASONABLE OR OTHERWISE UNENFORCEABLE.

19.7 Breach of Covenants. You and the Owners agree that failure to comply with the terms of this Section 19 will cause substantial and irreparable damage to us and/or other OHM® Fitness franchisees and area representatives for which there is no adequate remedy at law. Therefore, you and the Owners agree that any violation of the terms of this Section 19 will entitle us to injunctive relief. We may apply for such injunctive relief, without bond, but upon due notice, in addition to such further and other relief as may be available at equity or law, and the sole remedy of yours, in the event of the entry of such injunction, will be the dissolution of such injunction, if warranted, upon hearing duly held (all claims for damages by reason of the wrongful issuance of any such injunction being expressly waived hereby). If a court requires the filing of a bond notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the Parties agree that the amount of the bond shall not exceed \$1,000. None of the remedies available to us under this Agreement are exclusive of any other, but may be combined with others under this Agreement, or at law or in equity, including injunctive relief, specific performance and recovery of monetary damages. Any claim, defense or cause of action that you or an Owner may have against us, regardless of cause or origin, cannot be used as a defense against our enforcement of this Section 19.

20. YOUR OTHER RESPONSIBILITIES.

20.1 Reports and Records.

- (a) Books and Records. You agree to prepare and maintain at your office full, complete and accurate books, records, accounts and tax returns pertaining to the Business throughout the Term and for a period of at least five (5) years thereafter. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the books and records must contain all reports that the franchisees are required to provide to you, copies of all correspondence between you and the franchisees, all Evaluation Reports, Material Communications and any other information specified in the AR Manual. Within seven (7) days of our request, you agree to provide us with copies of any of your books or records that we request.
- (b) (b) <u>Periodic Reports</u>. You agree to prepare all reports that we request in the form and manner that we specify. You agree to send us a copy of any report required by this Section upon request. If we require that you purchase a computer system that allows us to electronically retrieve information concerning the operations of your Business, you agree that we will have the right to electronically poll your computer to retrieve and compile information regarding your operations at any time and without notice.
- (c) <u>Financial Statements</u>. Within 90 days after the end of each calendar year, you must prepare a balance sheet for your Business (as of the end of the calendar year) and an annual statement of profit and loss and source and application of funds. Annual financial statements must be: (i) verified and signed by you certifying to us that the information is true, complete, and accurate; and (ii) submitted in any format that we reasonably require. We have the right to require that your financial statements be audited by a certified public accountant if you have previously submitted to us materially inaccurate financial statements. You agree to send us a copy of any financial statement required by this Section upon request. You authorize us to disclose the financial statements, reports, and operating data to prospective franchisees, regulatory agencies and others at our discretion, provided the disclosure is not prohibited by applicable law.
- 20.2 <u>Compliance with Laws</u>. You agree to perform all activities contemplated or authorized under this Agreement, the Franchise Agreements or otherwise, in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in connection with your solicitation of franchisees, you shall comply with, and conduct all franchise promotion, advertising, and other activities in accordance with, all applicable franchise laws regulating the offer and sale of franchises or the relationship between franchisors and franchisees. You must notify us of any changes to these laws that you become

aware of. You understand that it is your responsibility to identify and comply with these laws. You agree to secure and maintain in force all required licenses, permits and bonding relating to the operation of your Business.

Insurance. For your protection and ours, you agree to maintain the following insurance policies: (i) "all risk" property insurance coverage on all assets, including inventory, furniture, fixtures, equipment, supplies and other property used in the operation of your Business, which must include coverage for fire, vandalism and malicious mischief and have coverage limits of at least full replacement cost; (ii) comprehensive general liability insurance against claims for bodily and personal injury, death and property damage caused by or occurring in conjunction with the operation of your Business, containing minimum liability protection of \$1,000,000 combined single limit per occurrence, and \$2,000,000 in the aggregate; (iii) errors and omission insurance, containing minimum liability protection of \$1,000,000 combined single limit per occurrence, and \$2,000,000 in the aggregate; (iv) worker's compensation insurance and employer's liability insurance as required by law; and (v) any other insurance that we specify in the AR Manual from time to time. You agree to provide us with proof of coverage on demand. You agree to obtain these insurance policies from insurance carriers that are rated A or better by Alfred M. Best & Company, Inc. and that are licensed and admitted in the state in which your Business is operated. All insurance policies must be endorsed to: (i) name us (and our members, officers, directors, and employees) as additional insureds; (ii) contain a waiver by the insurance carrier of all subrogation rights against us; and (iii) provide that we receive 10 days' prior written notice of the termination, expiration, cancellation or modification of the policy. If any of your policies fail to meet these criteria, then we may disapprove the policy and you must immediately find additional coverage with an alternative carrier satisfactory to us. Upon 10 days' notice to you, we may increase the minimum protection requirement as of the renewal date of any policy and require different or additional types of insurance at any time, including excess liability (umbrella) insurance, to reflect inflation, identification of special risks, changes in law or standards or liability, higher damage awards or other relevant changes in circumstances. If you fail to maintain any required insurance coverage, we have the right to obtain the coverage on your behalf (which right shall be at our option and in addition to our other rights and remedies in this Agreement), and you must promptly sign all applications and other forms and instruments required to obtain the insurance and pay to us, within 10 days after invoicing, all costs and premiums that we incur.

21. INSPECTIONS AND AUDITS.

- 21.1 <u>Inspections</u>. To ensure compliance with this Agreement, we or our representatives will have the right to enter your area representative office, evaluate your operations and inspect or examine your books, records, accounts and tax returns. Our evaluation may include, among other things: (i) monitoring your provision of services to and interactions with franchisees; (ii) contacting your employees; and (iii) contacting franchisees in your Development Territory to discuss their satisfaction with the services provided by you or to discuss any other matter that we deem appropriate. We may conduct our evaluation at any reasonable time and without prior notice. During the course of our inspections, we and our representatives will use reasonable efforts to minimize our interference with the operation of your Business, and you and your employees will cooperate and not interfere with our inspection. You consent to us accessing your computer system and retrieving any information that we deem appropriate in conducting the inspection.
- 21.2 <u>Audit</u>. We have the right, at any time, to have an independent audit made of your books and financial records. You agree to fully cooperate with us and any third parties that we hire to conduct the audit. Any audit will be performed at our cost and expense unless (i) the audit reveals a material default by you or (ii) the audit is required due to your failure to provide us with a required report or financial statement, in which case you must reimburse us for the cost of the audit or inspection, including without limitation, reasonable accounting and attorneys' fees and travel and lodging expenses that we or our representatives incur. The audit cost reimbursements and late report fee, if applicable, will be due 10 days after invoicing.

22. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY.

- 22.1 Ownership and Use of Intellectual Property. You acknowledge that: (i) we and our affiliates are the sole and exclusive owners (or in some cases licensors) of the Intellectual Property and the goodwill associated with the Marks; (ii) your right to use the Intellectual Property is derived solely from this Agreement (except for any right to use Intellectual Property authorized by a Franchise Agreement); and (iii) your right to use the Intellectual Property is limited to a license granted by us to operate your Business during the Term pursuant to, and only in compliance with, this Agreement, the AR Manual, and all applicable standards, specifications and operating procedures that we prescribe from time to time. You may not use any of the Intellectual Property in connection with the sale of any unauthorized product or service or in any other manner not expressly authorized by us. Any unauthorized use of the Intellectual Property constitutes an infringement of our and our affiliates' rights. You agree to comply with all provisions of the AR Manual governing your use of the Intellectual Property. This Agreement does not confer to you any goodwill, title or interest in any of the Intellectual Property.
- 22.2 <u>Changes to Intellectual Property.</u> We have the right to modify the Intellectual Property at any time in our sole discretion, including by changing the Marks, the Operating System, the Franchise System, the Copyrights and/or the Know-how. If we modify or discontinue use of any of the Intellectual Property, then you must comply with any such instructions from us within 30 days at your expense. We will not be liable to you for any expenses, losses or damages that you incur (including the loss of any goodwill associated with a Mark) because of any addition, modification, substitution or discontinuation of the Intellectual Property and you waive all claims related thereto.
- 22.3 <u>Use of Marks</u>. You agree to use the Marks as the sole identification of your Business; provided, however that you must identify yourself as the independent owner of your Business in the manner that we prescribe. You may not use any Marks in any modified form or as part of any corporate or trade name or with any prefix, suffix, or other modifying words, terms, designs or symbols (other than logos licensed to you by this Agreement). You agree to: (i) prominently display the Marks on or in connection with any media advertising, promotional materials, posters and displays, receipts, stationery and forms that we designate and in the manner that we prescribe to give notice of trade and service mark registrations and copyrights; and (ii) obtain any fictitious or assumed name registrations required under applicable law. You may not use the Marks in signing any contract, lease, mortgage, check, purchase agreement, negotiable instrument or other legal obligation or in any manner that is likely to confuse or result in liability to us for any indebtedness or obligation of yours. You may not use our Marks together with the trademarks, service marks, logos or commercial symbols of any other brand without our prior written consent.
- 22.4 <u>Use of Know-how</u>. We will disclose the Know-how to you in the initial training program, the AR Manual, the Franchisee Manual and in other guidance furnished to you during the Term. You agree that you will not acquire any interest in the Know-how other than the right to utilize it in strict accordance with the terms of this Agreement in the development and operation of your Business. You acknowledge that the Know-how is proprietary and is disclosed to you solely for use in the development and operation of your Business during the Term.
- 22.5 <u>Improvements</u>. If you conceive of or develop any improvements or additions to the Franchise System, the Operating System, the goods or services offered, or the method of operation of, an OHM® Fitness Studio or area representative business, or any advertising or promotional ideas related thereto (collectively, "<u>Improvements</u>"), you agree to promptly and fully disclose the Improvements to us without disclosing the Improvements to others. You must obtain our approval prior to using any such Improvements. Any Improvement that we approve may be used by us and any third parties that we or our affiliates authorize to operate an OHM® Fitness Studio or area representative business, without any obligation to pay you royalties or other fees. You must assign to us or our designee, without charge, all rights

to any such Improvement, including the right to grant sublicenses. In return, we will authorize you to use any Improvements that we or other franchisees or area representatives develop that we authorize for general use in connection with the operation of an OHM® Fitness Studio or area representative business.

- 22.6 <u>Notification of Infringements and Claims</u>. You must immediately notify us of any: (i) apparent infringement of any of the Intellectual Property; (ii) challenge to your, or a franchisee's, use of any of the Intellectual Property; or (iii) claim by any person of any rights in any of the Intellectual Property. You may not communicate with any person other than us and our counsel in connection with any such infringement, challenge or claim. We will have sole discretion to take such action as we deem appropriate. We have the right to exclusively control any litigation, Patent and Trademark Office proceeding, or other proceeding arising out of any such infringement, challenge or claim. You agree to execute any and all instruments and documents, render such assistance, and do such acts and things as may, in the opinion of our counsel, be necessary or advisable to protect and maintain our interest in any such litigation, Patent and Trademark Office proceeding or other proceeding, or to otherwise protect and maintain our interest in the Intellectual Property.
- 23. INDEMNITY. You agree to indemnify the Indemnified Parties and hold them harmless for, from and against any and all Losses and Expenses incurred by any of them as a result of or in connection with any of the following: (i) the establishment, development, marketing or operation of your Business; (ii) the solicitation of franchises, including, but not limited to, improper disclosure or alleged misrepresentations by you or your agents, by statement or omission, in connection with the solicitation of a franchise (except if the only alleged misrepresentation relates to a material fact that we provided to you or that we incorporated into our Franchise Disclosure Document without input from you); or (iii) your performance and/or breach of any of your obligations under this Agreement. The Indemnified Parties shall have the right, in their sole discretion to: (i) retain counsel of their own choosing to represent them with respect to any Claim; and (ii) control the response thereto and the defense thereof, including the right to enter into an agreement to settle such Claim. You may participate in such defense at your own expense. You agree to give your full cooperation to the Indemnified Parties in assisting the Indemnified Parties with the defense of any such Claim, and to reimburse the Indemnified Parties for all of their costs and expenses in defending any such Claim, including court costs and reasonable attorneys' fees, within 10 days of the date of each invoice delivered by such Indemnified Party to you enumerating such costs, expenses and attorneys' fees.

Provided that you are not in default under this Agreement or any other agreement with us, we will indemnify you and your Owners and employees and hold them harmless for, from and against any and all Losses and Expenses incurred by any of them as a result of or in connection with any Claim asserted against you, your Owners and/or employees based upon: (i) the violation of any franchise law caused by materially misleading information that we included in our Franchise Disclosure Document (without input from you) that is provided to a third party franchisee in your Development Territory; (ii) our breach of any material term of a Franchise Agreement that we enter into with a third party franchisee located in your Development Territory; or (iii) the violation of any third party's intellectual property rights based upon your use of our Marks in strict compliance with the terms of this Agreement, the Franchisee Manual and the AR Manual. You must promptly notify us of any such Claim and fully cooperate with us in the defense of such Claim.

24. TRANSFERS.

24.1 <u>By Us.</u> This Agreement and the franchise are fully assignable by us (without prior notice to you) and shall inure to the benefit of any assignee(s) or other legal successor(s) to our interest in this Agreement, provided that we shall, subsequent to any such assignment, remain liable for the performance of our obligations under this Agreement up to the effective date of the assignment. We may also delegate some or all of our obligations under this Agreement to one or more persons without assigning the

Agreement and/or we may hire third party consultants or other service providers to perform some of our obligations under this Agreement.

- 24.2 By You. You understand that the rights and duties created by this Agreement are personal to you and the Owners and that we have granted the area representative franchise in reliance upon the individual or collective character, skill, aptitude, attitude, business ability and financial capacity of you and your Owners. Therefore, neither you nor any Owner may engage in any Transfer other than a Permitted Transfer without our prior written approval. Any Transfer (other than a Permitted Transfer) without our approval shall be void and constitute a breach of this Agreement. We will not unreasonably withhold our approval of any proposed Transfer, provided that the following conditions are all satisfied:
- (i) the proposed transferee is, in our opinion, an individual of good moral character, who has sufficient business experience, qualifications, credentials, aptitude and financial resources to own and operate a representative business and meets all of our other then-applicable standards for area representatives;
- (ii) you and your Owners are in full compliance with the terms of this Agreement and all other agreements with us or our affiliate (including any Franchise Agreement that you sign with us);
- (iii) all of the owners of the transferee have successfully completed, or made arrangements to attend, the initial training program;
- (iv) the transferee and its owners and employees, to the extent necessary, have obtained all licenses and permits required by applicable law in order to own and operate the area representative business;
- (v) the transferee and its owners sign our then current form of area representative agreement (unless we, in our sole discretion, instruct you to assign this Agreement to the transferee), except that: (a) the Term and renewal term(s) shall be the Term and renewal term(s) remaining under this Agreement; and (b) the transferee need not pay a separate development fee;
- (vi) you or the transferee pay us a \$10,000 transfer fee to defray expenses that we incur in connection with the Transfer;
- (vii) you and your Owners sign a General Release for all claims arising before or contemporaneously with the Transfer;
- (viii) unless we agree to the contrary, you assign all Franchise Agreements you have entered into with us to the same transferee (or at our option, the transferee signs our then-current form of Franchise Agreement for each transferred franchise), and you comply with all of the conditions for transfer set forth in such Franchise Agreements;
- (ix) you enter into an agreement with us to subordinate the transferee's obligations to you to the transferee's financial obligations owed to us pursuant to the area representative agreement;
 - (x) we do not elect to exercise our right of first refusal described in <u>Section 24.5</u>; and
- (xi) you or the transferring Owner, as applicable, and the transferee have satisfied any other conditions we reasonably require as a condition to our approval of the Transfer.

17

Our consent to a Transfer shall not constitute a waiver of any claims we may have against the transferor, nor shall it be deemed a waiver of our right to demand exact compliance with any of the terms or conditions of the franchise by the transferee.

- 24.3 <u>Permitted Transfers</u>. You may engage in a Permitted Transfer without our prior approval, but you must give us at least 10 days' prior written notice. You and the Owners (and the transferee) agree to sign all documents that we reasonably request to effectuate and document the Permitted Transfer.
- 24.4 <u>Death or Disability of an Owner</u>. Upon the death or permanent disability of an Owner, the Owner's ownership interest in you or the franchise, as applicable, must be assigned to another Owner or to a third party approved by us within 180 days. Any assignment to a third party will be subject to all of the terms and conditions of <u>Section 24.2</u>. For purposes of this Section, an Owner is deemed to have a "permanent disability" only if the person has a medical or mental problem that prevents the person from substantially complying with his or her obligations under this Agreement or otherwise operating the Business in the manner required by this Agreement and the AR Manual for a continuous period of at least three (3) months.
- 24.5 Our Right of First Refusal. If you or an Owner desire to engage in a Transfer, you or the Owner, as applicable, must obtain a bona fide, signed written offer from the fully disclosed purchaser and submit an exact copy of the offer to us. We will have 30 days after receipt of the offer to decide whether we will purchase the interest in your Business or the ownership interest in you for the same price and upon the same terms contained in the offer (however, we may substitute cash for any form of payment proposed in the offer). If we notify you that we intend to purchase the interest within the 30-day period, you or the Owner, as applicable, must sell the interest to us. We will have at least an additional 30 days to prepare for closing. We will be entitled to receive from you or the Owner, as applicable, all customary representations and warranties given by you as the seller of the assets or the Owner as the seller of the ownership interest or, at our election, the representations and warranties contained in the offer. If we do not exercise our right of first refusal, you or the Owner, as applicable, may complete the Transfer to the purchaser pursuant to and on the terms of the offer, subject to the requirements of Section 24.2 (including our approval of the transferee). However, if the sale to the purchaser is not completed within 120 days after delivery of the offer to us, or there is a material change in the terms of the sale, we will again have the right of first refusal specified in this Section. Our right of first refusal in this Section shall not apply to any Permitted Transfer.

25. TERMINATION.

- 25.1 <u>By You.</u> You may terminate this Agreement if we materially breach this Agreement and fail to cure the breach within 90 days after you send us a written notice specifying the nature of the breach. If you terminate this Agreement, you must still comply with your post-termination obligations described in <u>Section 19</u> and all other obligations that survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement.
- 25.2 <u>Termination By Us Without Cure Period</u>. We may, in our sole discretion, terminate this Agreement upon five (5) days' written notice, without opportunity to cure, for any of the following reasons, all of which constitute material events of default under this Agreement:
- (i) if you become insolvent by reason of your inability to pay your debts as they become due or you file a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or any pleading seeking any reorganization, liquidation, dissolution or composition or other settlement with creditors under any law, or are the subject of an involuntary bankruptcy (which may or may not be enforceable under the Bankruptcy Act of 1978);
- (ii) if your Business, or a substantial portion of the assets associated with your business, are seized, taken over or foreclosed by a government official in the exercise of his or her duties,

or seized, taken over or foreclosed by a creditor, lienholder or lessor; or a final judgment against you remains unsatisfied for 30 days (unless a supersedes or other appeal bond has been filed); or a levy of execution has been made upon the license granted by this Agreement or upon any property used in your Business, and it is not discharged within five (5) days of the levy;

- (iii) if a regulatory authority suspends or revokes a license or permit held by you or an Owner that is required to operate the Business and you fail to overturn the suspension or revocation within 30 days;
- (iv) if you or an Owner (a) is convicted of or pleads no contest to a felony, a crime involving moral turpitude or any other material crime or (b) is subject to any material administrative disciplinary action or (c) fails to comply with any material federal, state or local law or regulation applicable to your Business;
- (v) if you or an Owner commits an act that can reasonably be expected to adversely affect the reputation of the Franchise System or the Operating System or the goodwill associated with the Marks;
- (vi) if you or an Owner make any material misrepresentation to us, whether occurring before or after being granted the franchise;
- (vii) if your Managing Owner ceases to actively manage the Business for any reason and you fail to find an approved substitute Managing Owner that successfully completes our training program within 90 days after the Managing Owner ceases active management or supervision;
- (viii) if you fail to pay any amount owed to us or an affiliate of ours within 10 days after receipt of a demand for payment;
 - (ix) if you or an Owner makes an unauthorized Transfer;
 - (x) if you fail to satisfy any of your Minimum Development Obligations;
 - (xi) if you or an Owner breach any of the restrictive covenants described in Section 19;
 - (xii) if you or an Owner makes an unauthorized use of the Intellectual Property;
- (xiii) if you breach this Agreement three (3) or more times during any 12-month period, regardless of whether such breaches are cured; or
- (xiv) if we terminate any other agreement between you (or an affiliate of yours) and us (including a Franchise Agreement) or if any affiliate of ours terminates any agreement between you (or an affiliate of yours) and our affiliate because of your default.
- 25.3 Additional Conditions of Termination. In addition to our termination rights in Section 25.2, we may, in our sole discretion, terminate this Agreement upon 30 days' written notice if you or an Owner fail to comply with any other provision of this Agreement (including any mandatory provision in the AR Manual) or any other agreement with us, unless such default is cured, as determined by us in our sole discretion, within such 30- day notice period. If we deliver a notice of default to you pursuant to this Section 25.3, we may suspend performance of any of our obligations under this Agreement (including payment of commissions) until you fully cure the breach.

- 25.4 <u>Mutual Agreement to Terminate</u>. If you and we mutually agree in writing to terminate this Agreement, you and we will be deemed to have waived any required notice period.
- 26. **POST-TERM OBLIGATIONS.** After the termination, expiration or Transfer of this Agreement, you and the Owners agree to:
- (i) immediately cease using the Intellectual Property (except to the extent authorized by a Franchise Agreement that remains in good standing subsequent to the termination, expiration or Transfer of this Agreement);
 - (ii) pay us all amounts that you owe us;
- (iii) comply with all covenants described in <u>Section 19</u> that apply after the expiration, termination or Transfer of this Agreement or the disposal of an ownership interest by an Owner;
- (iv) return all copies of the AR Manual and Franchisee Manual, or any portions thereof, as well as all signs, sign faces, brochures, advertising and promotional materials, forms, and any other materials bearing or containing any of the Marks, Copyrights or other identification relating to an OHM® Fitness Studio or area representative business, unless we allow you to transfer such items to an approved transferee;
- (v) take such action as may be required to cancel all fictitious or assumed names or equivalent registrations relating to your use of any of the Marks;
- (vi) provide us with a copy of all of your files and information pertaining to former, existing and prospective franchisees;
- (vii) notify all telephone companies, listing agencies and domain name registration companies (collectively, the "Agencies") of the termination or expiration of your right to use: (a) the telephone numbers and/or domain names, if applicable, related to the operation of your Business; and (b) any regular, classified or other telephone directory listings associated with the Marks (you hereby authorize the Agencies to transfer such telephone numbers, domain names and listings to us and you authorize us, and appoint us and any officer we designate as your attorney-in-fact to direct the Agencies to transfer the telephone numbers, domain names and listings to us if you fail or refuse to do so); and
- (viii) provide us with satisfactory evidence of your compliance with the above obligations within 30 days after the effective date of the termination, expiration or Transfer of this Agreement.
- 27. **DISPUTE RESOLUTION.** The Parties agree to submit any claim, dispute or disagreement, including any matter pertaining to the interpretation of this Agreement or issues relating to the offer and sale of the franchise or the relationship between the Parties (a "<u>Dispute</u>") to mediation before a mutually-agreeable mediator prior to litigation, unless the Dispute involves an alleged breach of <u>Section 19</u> or <u>Section 22</u>. Any mediation shall take place in the county in which we maintain our principal place of business at the time the mediation begins (currently, Maricopa County, Arizona). If the Dispute is not successfully resolved by mediation within 90 days after either party makes a demand for mediation or the Dispute involves an alleged breach of an alleged breach of <u>Section 19</u> or <u>Section 22</u>, either party may file a lawsuit in any state or federal court of general jurisdiction in the county in which we maintain our principal place of business at the time the lawsuit is filed (currently, Maricopa County, Arizona) and we and you irrevocably submit to the jurisdiction of such courts and waive any objection either of us may have to either the jurisdiction or venue of such courts. If we or you must enforce this Agreement in a judicial proceeding,

the substantially prevailing party will be entitled to reimbursement of its costs and expenses, including reasonable accounting and legal fees. In addition, if you breach any term of this Agreement or any other agreement with us or an affiliate of ours, you agree to reimburse us for all reasonable legal fees and other expenses we incur relating to such breach, regardless of whether the breach is cured prior to the commencement of any dispute resolution proceedings. UNLESS PROHIBITED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY DISPUTE (OTHER THAN FOR PAYMENT OF MONIES OWED, FAILURE TO MEET THE DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE OR A VIOLATION OF SECTION 19 OR SECTION 22) MUST BE BROUGHT BY FILING A WRITTEN DEMAND FOR ARBITRATION (OR IF PERMITTED, LITIGATION) WITHIN ONE (1) YEAR FOLLOWING THE CONDUCT, ACT OR OTHER EVENT OR OCCURRENCE GIVING RISE TO THE CLAIM, OR THE RIGHT TO ANY REMEDY WILL BE DEEMED FOREVER WAIVED AND BARRED. THE PARTIES IRREVOCABLY WAIVE: (i) TRIAL BY JURY; AND (ii) THE RIGHT TO ARBITRATE OR LITIGATE ON A CLASS ACTION BASIS, IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM, WHETHER AT LAW OR IN EQUITY, BROUGHT BY EITHER OF THE PARTIES.

YOUR REPRESENTATIONS. YOU HEREBY REPRESENT THAT: (i) YOU HAVE NOT 28. RECEIVED OR RELIED UPON ANY WARRANTY OR GUARANTEE, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO THE POTENTIAL VOLUME, PROFITS OR SUCCESS OF THE BUSINESS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT, EXCEPT FOR ANY INFORMATION DISCLOSED IN THE FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT; (ii) YOU HAVE NO KNOWLEDGE OF ANY REPRESENTATIONS BY US OR ANY OF OUR OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, MEMBERS, EMPLOYEES OR REPRESENTATIVES ABOUT THE BUSINESS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT THAT ARE CONTRARY TO THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT OR THE FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT; (iii) YOU RECEIVED (1) AN EXACT COPY OF THIS AGREEMENT AND ITS ATTACHMENTS AT LEAST SEVEN (7) CALENDAR DAYS PRIOR TO THE DATE ON WHICH THIS AGREEMENT IS EXECUTED; AND (2) OUR FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT AT THE EARLIER OF (A) 14 CALENDAR DAYS BEFORE YOU SIGNED A BINDING AGREEMENT OR PAID ANY MONEY TO US OR OUR AFFILIATES OR (B) AT SUCH EARLIER TIME IN THE SALES PROCESS THAT YOU REQUESTED A COPY; (iv) YOU ARE AWARE OF THE FACT THAT OTHER PRESENT OR FUTURE FRANCHISEES AND AREA REPRESENTATIVES OF OURS MAY OPERATE UNDER DIFFERENT FORMS OF AGREEMENT AND CONSEQUENTLY THAT OUR OBLIGATIONS AND RIGHTS WITH RESPECT TO OUR VARIOUS FRANCHISEES AND AREA REPRESENTATIVES MAY DIFFER MATERIALLY IN CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES; (v) YOU ARE AWARE OF THE FACT THAT WE HAVE NEGOTIATED AREA REPRESENTATIVE AGREEMENTS WITH CERTAIN AREA REPRESENTATIVES AND YOU ARE NOT ENTITLED TO THE SAME OR SIMILAR NEGOTIATED TERMS; AND (vi) YOU HAVE CONDUCTED AN INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATION OF THE BUSINESS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT AND RECOGNIZE THAT IT INVOLVES BUSINESS RISKS, MAKING THE SUCCESS OF THE VENTURE LARGELY DEPENDENT UPON YOUR OWN BUSINESS ABILITIES, EFFORTS AND JUDGMENTS, AND THE SERVICES OF YOU AND THOSE YOU EMPLOY.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

29. **GENERAL PROVISIONS.**

- 29.1 Governing Law. Except as governed by the United States Trademark Act of 1946 (Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1051, et seq.), this Agreement and the franchise relationship shall be governed by the laws of the State of Arizona (without reference to its principles of conflicts of law), but any law of the State of Arizona that regulates the offer and sale of franchises or business opportunities or governs the relationship of a franchisor and its franchisee will not apply unless its jurisdictional requirements are met independently without reference to this Section.
- 29.2 <u>Relationship of the Parties</u>. You understand and agree that nothing in this Agreement creates a fiduciary relationship between the Parties or is intended to make either Party a general or special agent, legal representative, subsidiary, joint venture, partner, employee or servant of the other for any purpose. During the Term, you must conspicuously identify yourself at your base of operations, and in all dealings with third parties, as an area representative of ours and the independent owner of your Business. You agree to place such other notices of independent ownership on such forms, stationery, advertising, business cards and other materials as we may require from time to time. Neither we nor you are permitted to make any express or implied agreement, warranty or representation, or incur any debt, in the name of or on behalf of the other or represent that our relationship is other than franchisor and franchisee. In addition, neither we nor you will be obligated by or have any liability under any agreements or representations made by the other that are not expressly authorized by this Agreement.
- 29.3 <u>Severability and Substitution</u>. Each section, subsection, term and provision of this Agreement, and any portion thereof, shall be considered severable. If any applicable and binding law imposes mandatory, non-waivable terms or conditions that conflict with a provision of this Agreement, the terms or conditions required by such law shall govern to the extent of the inconsistency and supersede the conflicting provision of this Agreement. If a court concludes that any promise or covenant in this Agreement is unreasonable and unenforceable: (i) the court may modify such promise or covenant to the minimum extent necessary to make such promise or covenant enforceable: or (ii) we may unilaterally modify such promise or covenant to the minimum extent necessary to make such promise or covenant enforceable.
- 29.4 <u>Waivers</u>. The Parties may by written instrument unilaterally waive or reduce any obligation of or restriction upon the other. Any waiver granted by us shall be without prejudice to any other rights we may have. Neither Party shall be deemed to have waived or impaired any right, power or option reserved by this Agreement (including the right to demand exact compliance with every term, condition and covenant in this Agreement or to declare any breach of this Agreement to be a default and to terminate the franchise before the expiration of the Term) by virtue of: (i) any custom or practice of a Party at variance with the terms of this Agreement; (ii) any failure, refusal or neglect of a Party to exercise any right under this Agreement or to insist upon exact compliance by the other Party with its obligations under this Agreement, including any mandatory specification, standard, or operating procedure; (iii) any waiver, forbearance, delay, failure or omission by us to exercise any right, power or option, whether of the same, similar or different nature, relating to other franchisees or area representatives; or (iv) the acceptance by us of any payments due from you after breach of this Agreement.
- 29.5 <u>Approvals</u>. Whenever this Agreement requires our approval, you must make a timely written request for approval, and the approval must be in writing in order to bind us. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, if we fail to approve any request for approval within the required period of time, we shall be deemed to have disapproved your request. If we deny approval and you seek legal redress for the denial, the only relief to which you may be entitled is to acquire our approval. You are not entitled to any other relief or damages for our denial of approval.

- 29.6 <u>Force Majeure</u>. Neither we nor you shall be liable for loss or damage or deemed to be in breach of this Agreement if our or your failure to perform our or your obligations results from any event of force majeure. Any delay resulting from an event of force majeure will extend performance accordingly or excuse performance, in whole or in part, as may be reasonable under the circumstances.
- 29.7 <u>Binding Effect</u>. This Agreement is binding upon the Parties to this Agreement and their respective executors, administrators, heirs, assigns and successors in interest. Nothing in this Agreement is intended, nor shall be deemed, to confer any rights or remedies upon any person or legal entity not a party to this Agreement; provided, however, that the additional insureds listed in <u>Section 20.3</u> and you, your Owners and the Indemnified Parties are intended third party beneficiaries under this Agreement with respect to Section 20.3 and Section 23, respectively.
- Integration. THIS AGREEMENT CONSTITUTES THE ENTIRE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES AND MAY NOT, EXCEPT AS PERMITTED BY SECTION 17.1 AND SECTION 29.3, BE CHANGED EXCEPT BY A WRITTEN DOCUMENT SIGNED BY BOTH PARTIES. Any e-mail correspondence or other form of informal electronic communication shall not be deemed to modify this Agreement unless such communication is signed by both Parties and specifically states that it is intended to modify this Agreement. The attachment(s) are part of this Agreement, which, together with any Amendments or Addenda executed on or after the Effective Date, constitutes the entire understanding and agreement of the Parties, and there are no other oral or written understandings or agreements between the Parties about the subject matter of this Agreement. As referenced above, all mandatory provisions of the AR Manual are part of this Agreement. Any representations not specifically contained in this Agreement made before entering into this Agreement do not survive after the signing of this Agreement. This provision is intended to define the nature and extent of the Parties' mutual contractual intent, there being no mutual intent to enter into contract relations, whether by agreement or by implication, other than as set forth above. The Parties acknowledge that these limitations are intended to achieve the highest possible degree of certainty in the definition of the contract being formed, in recognition of the fact that uncertainty creates economic risks for both Parties which, if not addressed as provided in this Agreement, would affect the economic terms of this bargain. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to disclaim any of the representations we made in the Franchise Disclosure Document.
- 29.9 Covenant of Good Faith. If applicable law implies a covenant of good faith and fair dealing in this Agreement, the Parties agree that the covenant shall not imply any rights or obligations that are inconsistent with a fair construction of the terms of this Agreement. Additionally, if applicable law shall imply the covenant, you agree that: (i) this Agreement (and the relationship of the Parties that is inherent in this Agreement) grants us the discretion to make decisions, take actions and/or refrain from taking actions not inconsistent with our explicit rights and obligations under this Agreement that may affect favorably or adversely your interests; (ii) we will use our judgment in exercising the discretion based on our assessment of our own interests and balancing those interests against the interests of our franchisees and area representatives generally (including ourselves and our affiliates if applicable), and specifically without considering your individual interests or the individual interests of any other particular franchisee or area representative; (iii) we will have no liability to you for the exercise of our discretion in this manner, so long as the discretion is not exercised in bad faith; and (iv) in the absence of bad faith, no trier of fact in any arbitration or litigation shall substitute its judgment for our judgment so exercised.
- 29.10 <u>Rights of Parties are Cumulative</u>. The rights of the Parties under this Agreement are cumulative and no exercise or enforcement by either Party of any right or remedy under this Agreement will preclude any other right or remedy available under this Agreement or by law.
- 29.11 <u>Survival</u>. All provisions that expressly or by their nature survive the termination, expiration or Transfer of this Agreement (or the Transfer of an ownership interest in the franchise) shall continue in full

force and effect subsequent to and notwithstanding its termination, expiration or Transfer and until they are satisfied in full or by their nature expire.

- 29.12 <u>Construction</u>. The headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and do not define, limit or construe the contents of the sections or subsections. All references to Sections refer to the Sections contained in this Agreement unless otherwise specified. All references to days in this Agreement refer to calendar days unless otherwise specified. The term "you" as used in this Agreement is applicable to one or more persons or an Entity, and the singular usage includes the plural, and the masculine and neuter usages include the other and the feminine and the possessive. If we allow you to operate one or more OHM® Fitness Studios through an affiliate, each reference to "you" with respect to the OHM® Fitness Studio shall be deemed to refer to your affiliate.
 - 29.13 <u>Time of Essence</u>. Time is of the essence in this Agreement and every term thereof.
- 29.14 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be signed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute but one and the same document.
- 29.15 <u>Notice</u>. All notices given under this Agreement must be in writing, delivered by hand, telegram or first-class mail, to the following addresses (which may be changed upon 10 business days prior written notice):

YOU: As set forth below your signature on this Agreement

US: OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC

15011 N. 75th Street, Suite #2, Scottsdale, Arizona 85260

Notice shall be considered given at the time delivered by hand, or one (1) business day after sending by telegraph or comparable electronic or computer system, or three (3) business days after placed in the mail, postage prepaid, by certified mail with a return receipt requested.

[Signature Page Follows]

The parties to this Agreement have executed this Agreement effective as of the Effective Date first above written.

FRANCHISOR:	
OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC, a Wyoming limited liability company	
By:	
YOU (If you are an entity):	YOU (If you are not an entity):
a(n)	Name:
By:	Name:
	Name:
Area Representative's Principal Business Address:	Name:

ATTACHMENT "A"

Definitions

- "Agencies" is defined in Section 26.
- "Agreement" is defined in the Introductory Paragraph.
- "AR Manual" is defined in Section 17.1.
- "Area Representative Rights" means the right and obligation to solicit, screen, recruit, develop, service and support OHM® Fitness franchises in a specified geographical territory.
- "Business" means the business of soliciting, screening, recruiting, developing, servicing and supporting OHM® Fitness franchises in a specified geographical territory.
- "Claims" means any and all claims, actions, demands, assessments, litigation, or any other form of regulatory or adjudicatory procedures, claims, demands, assessments, investigations, or formal or informal inquiries from any person.
- "Competitive Business" means any business that: (i) is competitive with us that offers fitness and exercise services; (ii) solicits, offers or sells franchises or licenses for any business that is competitive with us that offers fitness and exercise services; and/or (iii) services, trains or supports any business that is competitive with us that offers fitness and exercise services. A Competitive Business does not include an OHM® Fitness Studio operating pursuant to a franchise agreement with us.
- "Confidentiality Agreement" means our form of Confidentiality Agreement, the most current form of which is attached to this Agreement as <u>Attachment "E"</u>.
- "Copyrights" means all works and materials for which we or our affiliate have secured common law or registered copyright protection and that we and our affiliates allow OHM® Fitness franchisees or area representative to use, sell or display in connection with the marketing and/or operation of an OHM® Fitness Studio or the solicitation or offer of an OHM® Fitness franchise, whether now in existence or created in the future.
- "Development Fee" is defined in Section 5.
- "Development Schedule" is defined in Section 13.1.
- "Development Territory" is defined in Section 2(c).
- "Dispute" is defined in Section 27.
- "Effective Date" is defined in the Introductory Paragraph.
- "Entity" means a corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other association or entity.
- "Evaluation Reports" is defined in Section 15.3.
- "Franchise Agreement" means a Franchise Agreement signed by us and a franchisee (including you) for the operation of an OHM® Fitness Studio within the Development Territory.
- "Franchise Disclosure Document" means our franchise disclosure document that is required by applicable law to be prepared and provided by (i) us to you in connection with the offer and sale of the Area Representative Rights or (ii) us to you or a franchisee in connection with the offer and sale of an OHM® Fitness franchise, as the case may be.
- "Franchisee Manual" means the operations manual provided to all OHM® Fitness franchisees relating to our standards and procedures for the operation of an OHM® Fitness Studio in accordance with the Operating System.

- "Franchise System" is defined in Section 2(c).
- "Improvements" is defined in Section 22.5.
- "Indemnified Party" or "Indemnified Parties" means us and each of our past, present and future owners, members,
- officers, directors, employees and agents, as well as our parent companies, subsidiaries and affiliates, and each of their past, present and future owners, members, officers, directors, employees and agents.
- "Intellectual Property" means, collectively or individually as the context may require, the Marks, Copyrights, Know-How, Improvements, Franchise System and Operating System.
- "Interim Manager" is defined in Section 8.3.
- "Interim Term" is defined in Section 7.3.
- "Know-how" means all of our and our affiliates' trade secrets and other proprietary information relating to the development, construction, marketing and/or operation of an OHM® Fitness Studio or area representative business, including, but not limited to, methods, techniques, specifications, procedures, policies, marketing strategies and information comprising the Franchise System, the Operating System, the AR Manual and the Franchisee Manual.
- "Losses and Expenses" means, without limitation, all compensatory, exemplary, and punitive damages; lost profits; fines and penalties; attorneys' fees; experts' fees; court costs; costs associated with investigating and defending against Claims; settlement amounts; judgments; compensation for damages to the indemnified party's reputation and goodwill; and all other costs, damages, liabilities, losses, charges, and expenses associated with any of the foregoing losses and expenses or incurred by the indemnified party as a result of an indemnifiable event.
- "Managing Owner" means _____ or any other individual subsequently designated by you and approved by us to serve as a substitute Managing Owner.
- "Marks" means the logotypes, service marks, and trademarks now or hereafter involved in the operation of an OHM® Fitness Studio, including "OHM® Fitness" and related logos, and any other trademarks, service marks or trade names that we designate for use by OHM® Fitness Studios. The term "Marks" also includes any distinctive trade dress used to identify an OHM® Fitness Studio, whether now in existence or hereafter created.
- "Material Communications" is defined in Section 15.4.
- "Minimum "Development Obligations" is defined in Section 13.1.
- "Minimum "Qualifications" is defined in Section 13.3.
- "Operating System" is defined in Section 2(b).
- "Owner" or "Owners" means any individual who owns a direct or indirect ownership interest in the area representative franchise or the Entity that is the area representative under this Agreement. "Owner" includes both passive and active owners.
- "Parties" is defined in the Introductory Paragraph.
- "Permitted Transfer" means: (i) a Transfer from one Owner to another Owner who was an approved Owner prior to such Transfer, other than a Transfer by an Owner who is the Managing Owner that results in the Managing Owner holding less than a controlling ownership interest in the franchise and/or area representative Entity; and/or (ii) a Transfer to a newly established Entity for which the Owners collectively own and control 100% of the ownership interests and voting power.
- "Post-Term Restricted Period" means a period of 24 months after the termination, expiration or Transfer

of this Agreement.

- "Prohibited Activities" is defined in Section 19.3.
- "OHM® Fitness Studio" is defined in Section 2.
- "Successor Agreement" is defined in Section 7.1.
- "Term" is defined in Section 7.1.
- "Transfer" means any direct or indirect, voluntary or involuntary (including by judicial award, order or decree), assignment, sale, conveyance, subdivision, sublicense or other transfer or disposition of the franchise (or any interest therein), the Business (or any portion thereof) or an ownership interest in an Entity that is the area representative, including by merger or consolidation, by issuance of additional securities representing an ownership interest in the Entity that is the area representative, or by operation of law, will or a trust upon the death of an Owner (including the laws of intestate succession).
- "We" or "us" is defined in the Introductory Paragraph.
- "You" is defined in the Introductory Paragraph.

ATTACHMENT "B"

Development Territory

Development	Territory con	sists of the	following	geographic	area:		

[Attach Map if Appropriate]

^{*} If the boundaries that define the Development Territory change during the term, the boundaries of your Development Territory will remain unaffected and will continue to be defined by the boundaries that were in effect as of the Effective Date.

ATTACHMENT "C"

Franchise Owner Agreement

[See Attached]

FRANCHISE OWNER AGREEMENT

This Franchise Owner Agreement (this "<u>Agreement</u>") is entered into by: (i) each of the undersigned owners of Franchisee (defined below); and (ii) the spouse of each such owner, in favor of OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC, a Wyoming limited liability company, and its successors and assigns ("<u>us</u>"), upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement. Each signatory to this Agreement is referred to as "<u>you</u>".

1. **Definitions.** For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings given to them below:

"AR Agreement"	means the OHM®	Fitness Area Re	epresentative	Agreement	executed by	Area Repres	sentative w	ith an
effective date of_								
"Area Representa	ative" means			<u></u>				
" <i>C</i> D	. " 1		. ,.,.	.4 4	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	1		()

"Competitive Business" means any business that: (i) is competitive with us that offers fitness and exercise services; (ii) solicits, offers or sells franchises or licenses for any business that is competitive with us that offers fitness and exercise services; and/or (iii) services, trains or supports any business that is competitive with us that offers fitness and exercise services. A Competitive Business does not include an OHM® Fitness Studio operating pursuant to a franchise agreement with us.

"Copyrights" means all works and materials for which we or our affiliate have secured common law or registered copyright protection and that we and our affiliates allow OHM® Fitness franchisees or area representative to use, sell or display in connection with the marketing and/or operation of an OHM® Fitness Studio or the solicitation or offer of an OHM® Fitness franchise, whether now in existence or created in the future.

"Franchised Business" means the area representative business operated by Area Representative pursuant to the AR Agreement.

"Franchise System" means the OHM® Fitness franchise system.

"Improvements" means any additions, modifications or improvements to the Franchise System, the Operating System, the goods or services offered, or the method of operation of, an OHM® Fitness Studio or area representative business, or any advertising or promotional ideas related thereto, whether developed by you, Area Representative or any other person.

"Intellectual Property" means, collectively or individually, our Marks, Copyrights, Know-how, Franchise System, Operating System, and Improvements.

"Know-how" means all of our and our affiliates' trade secrets and other proprietary information relating to the development, construction, marketing and/or operation of an OHM® Fitness Studio or area representative business, including, but not limited to, methods, techniques, specifications, procedures, policies, marketing strategies and information comprising the Franchise System, the Operating System, the AR Manual and the Franchisee Manual.

"Manuals" means, collectively, our confidential operations manual for the operation of an OHM® Fitness Studio and our confidential operations manual for the operation of an area representative business.

"Marks" means the logotypes, service marks, and trademarks now or hereafter involved in the operation of an OHM® Fitness Studio, including "OHM® Fitness" and related logos, and any other trademarks, service marks or trade names that we designate for use by OHM® Fitness Studios. The term "Marks" also includes any distinctive trade dress used to identify an OHM® Fitness Studio, whether now in existence or hereafter created.

"Operating System" means the operating system used by OHM® Fitness Studios, the distinctive characteristics of which include logo, proprietary techniques and products, confidential brand standards manual and operating system.

"Prohibited Activities" means any or all of the following: (i) owning, operating or having any other interest (as an owner, partner, director, officer, employee, manager, consultant, shareholder, creditor, representative, agent or in any similar capacity) in a Competitive Business (other than owning an interest of five percent (5%) or less

in a publicly traded company that is a Competitive Business); (ii) diverting or attempting to divert any business from us (or one of our affiliates or franchisees); and/or (iii) inducing (a) any of customer of ours (or of one of our affiliates or franchisees) to transfer their business to Owner or to any other person that is not then a franchisee of ours.

"Restricted Period" means the two (2) year period after the earliest to occur of the following: (i) the termination or expiration of the AR Agreement; (ii) the date on which Area Representative assigns the AR Agreement to another person with respect to whom neither you nor your spouse holds any direct or indirect ownership interest; or (iii) the date on which you cease to be an owner of Area Representative or your spouse ceases to be an owner of Area Representative, as applicable; provided however, that if a court of competent jurisdiction determines that this period of time is too long to be enforceable, then the "Restricted Period" means the one (1) year period after the earliest to occur of the following: (i) the termination or expiration of the AR Agreement; (ii) the date on which Area Representative assigns the AR Agreement to another person with respect to whom neither you nor your spouse holds any direct or indirect ownership interest; or (iii) the date on which you cease to be an owner of Area Representative or your spouse ceases to be an owner of Area Representative, as applicable.

"Restricted Territory" means the Development Territory granted to Area Representative pursuant to the AR Agreement.

2. Background. In your capacity as an owner of Area Representative, or the spouse of an owner of Area Representative, you may gain knowledge of our Franchise System, Operating System and Know-how. You understand that protecting the Intellectual Property is vital to our success and that of our franchisees and area representatives and that you could seriously jeopardize our entire franchise system if you were to unfairly compete with us. In addition, you understand that certain terms of the AR Agreement apply to "owners" and not just Area Representative. You agree to comply with the terms of this Agreement in order to: (i) avoid damaging our Franchise System or Operating System by engaging in unfair competition; and (ii) bind yourself to the terms of the AR Agreement applicable to owners.

3. Brand Protection Covenants.

- (a) Intellectual Property. You agree: (i) you will not use the Know-how in any business or capacity other than the Franchised Business operated by Area Representative; (ii) you will maintain the confidentiality of the Know-how at all times; (iii) you will not make unauthorized copies of documents containing any Know-how; (iv) you will take such reasonable steps as we may ask of you from time to time to prevent unauthorized use or disclosure of the Know-how; and (v) you will stop using the Know-how immediately if you are no longer an owner of Area Representative or your spouse is an owner of Area Representative, as applicable. You further agree that you will not use the Intellectual Property for any purpose other than the development and operation of the Franchised Business pursuant to the terms of the AR Agreement and Manual. You agree to assign to us or our designee, without charge, all rights to any Improvement developed by you, including the right to grant sublicenses. If applicable law precludes you from assigning ownership of any Improvement to us, then such Improvement shall be perpetually licensed by you to us free of charge, with full rights to use, commercialize, and sublicense the same.
- (b) <u>Unfair Competition During Relationship</u>. You agree not to unfairly compete with us at any time while you are an owner of Area Representative or while your spouse is an owner of Area Representative, as applicable, by engaging in any Prohibited Activities.
- (c) <u>Unfair Competition After Relationship.</u> You agree not to unfairly compete with us during the Restricted Period by engaging in any Prohibited Activities; provided, however, that the Prohibited Activity relating to having an interest in a Competitive Business will only apply with respect to a Competitive Business that is located within or provides competitive goods or services to customers who are located within, the Restricted Territory. If you engage in any Prohibited Activities during the Restricted Period, then you agree that your Restricted Period will be extended by the period of time during which you were engaging in the prohibited activity (any such extension of time will not be construed as a waiver of your breach or otherwise impair any of our rights

or remedies relating to your breach).

- Immediate Family Members. You acknowledge that you could circumvent the purpose of this Agreement by disclosing Know-how to an immediate family member (i.e., parent, sibling, child, or grandchild). You also acknowledge that it would be difficult for us to prove whether you disclosed the Know-how to family members. Therefore, you agree that you will be presumed to have violated the terms of this Agreement if any member of your immediate family (i) engages in any Prohibited Activities during any period of time during which you are prohibited from engaging in the Prohibited Activities or (ii) uses or discloses the Know-how. However, you may rebut this presumption by furnishing evidence conclusively showing that you did not disclose the Know-how to the family member.
- (e) <u>Covenants Reasonable</u>. You acknowledge and agree that: (i) the terms of this Agreement are reasonable both in time and in scope of geographic area; and (ii) you have sufficient resources and business experience and opportunities to earn an adequate living while complying with the terms of this Agreement. **YOU HEREBY WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO CHALLENGE THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT AS BEING OVERLY BROAD, UNREASONABLE OR OTHERWISE UNENFORCEABLE.** Although you and we both believe that the covenants in this Agreement are reasonable in terms of scope, duration and geographic are, we may at any time unilaterally modify the terms of the system protection covenants in <u>Section 3</u> of this Agreement, upon written notice to you, by limiting the scope of the Prohibited Activities, narrowing the definition of a Competitive Business, shortening the duration of the Restricted Period, reducing the geographic scope of the Restricted Territory and/or reducing the scope of any other covenant imposed upon you under <u>Section 3</u> of this Agreement to ensure that the terms and covenants are enforceable under applicable law
- (f) Breach. You agree that failure to comply with the covenants in this Section 3 will cause substantial and irreparable damage to us and/or other OHM® Fitness franchisees for which there is no adequate remedy at law. Therefore, you agree that any violation of these covenants will entitle us to injunctive relief. You agree that we may apply for such injunctive relief, without bond, but upon due notice, in addition to such further and other relief as may be available at equity or law, and the sole remedy of yours, in the event of the entry of such injunction, will be the dissolution of such injunction, if warranted, upon hearing duly held (all claims for damages by reason of the wrongful issuance of any such injunction being expressly waived hereby). If a court requires the filing of a bond notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the parties agree that the amount of the bond shall not exceed \$1,000. None of the remedies available to us under this Section are exclusive of any other, but may be combined with others under this Agreement, or at law or in equity, including injunctive relief, specific performance and recovery of monetary damages.
- 4. Transfer Restrictions. If you are an owner of Area Representative, you acknowledge that we must approve all persons who hold a direct or indirect ownership interest in Area Representative. Accordingly, you agree that you will not, directly or indirectly or by operation of law, sell, assign, mortgage, pledge or in any manner transfer any direct or indirect ownership interest in Area Representative except in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in Section 24.2 of the AR Agreement.
- 5. Financial Security. In order to secure Area Representative's financial obligations under the AR Agreement and all ancillary agreements executed by Area Representative in connection with the AR Agreement, including, but not limited to, any agreement for the purchase of goods or services from us or an affiliate of ours and any promissory note related to payments owed to us (collectively, the "Secured Agreements"), you, jointly and severally, personally and unconditionally: (a) guarantee to us and our successor and assigns, that Area Representative shall punctually fulfil all of its payment and other financial obligations under the Secured Agreement; and (b) agree to be personally bound by, and personally liable for, each and every monetary provision in the Secured Agreements. You waive: (1) acceptance and notice of acceptance by us of the foregoing undertakings; (2) notice of demand for payment of any indebtedness guaranteed; (3) protest and notice of default to any party with respect to the indebtedness guaranteed; (4) any right you may have to require that an action be brought against Area Representative or any other person as a condition of liability; and (5) the defense of the statute of limitations in any action hereunder or for the collection of any indebtedness hereby guaranteed. You

agree that: (1) your direct and immediate liability under this guaranty shall be joint and several with Area Representative and all other signatories to this Agreement; (2) you will render any payment required under the Secured Agreements upon demand if Area Representative fails or refuses punctually to do so; (3) your liability shall not be contingent or conditioned upon pursuit by us of any remedies against Area Representative or any other person; and (4) liability shall not be diminished, relieved or otherwise affected by any extension of time, credit or other indulgence that we may grant to Area Representative or to any other person, including the acceptance of any partial payment or performance, or the compromise or release of any claims, none of which shall in any way modify or amend this guarantee, which shall be continuing and irrevocable during the term of each of the Secured Agreements and following the termination, expiration or transfer of each of the Secured Agreements to the extent any financial obligations under any such Secured Agreements survive such termination, expiration or transfer. This guaranty will continue unchanged by the occurrence of any bankruptcy with respect to Area Representative or any assignee or successor of Area Representative or by any abandonment of one or more of the Secured Agreements by a trustee of Area Representative. Neither your obligation to make payment in accordance with the terms of this undertaking nor any remedy for enforcement shall be impaired, modified, changed, released or limited in any manner whatsoever by any impairment, modification, change, release or limitation of the liability of Area Representative or its estate in bankruptcy or of any remedy for enforcement, resulting from the operation of any present or future provision of the U.S. Bankruptcy Act or other statute, or from the decision of any court or agency.

- 6. Dispute Resolution. Any dispute between the parties relating to this Agreement shall be brought in accordance with the dispute resolution procedures set forth in the AR Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any of the dispute resolution procedures set forth in the AR Agreement conflict with any of the terms of this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement shall prevail. You acknowledge and agree that a breach of this Agreement by you shall constitute a material event of default under the AR Agreement, permitting us to terminate the AR Agreement in accordance with the terms thereof.
- 7. **Miscellaneous**. If either party hires an attorney or files suit against the other party in relating to an alleging a breach of this Agreement, the losing party agrees to pay the prevailing party's reasonable attorneys' fees and costs incurred in connection with such breach.
- (a) This Agreement will be governed by, construed and enforced under the laws of Arizona and the courts in that state shall have jurisdiction over any legal proceedings arising out of this Agreement.
- (b) Any claim, defense or cause of action that you may have against us or against Area Representative, regardless of cause or origin, cannot be used as a defense against our enforcement of this Agreement.
- (c) Each section of this Agreement, including each subsection and portion thereof, is severable. In the event that any section, subsection or portion of this Agreement is unenforceable, it shall not affect the enforceability of any other section, subsection or portion; and each party to this Agreement agrees that the court may impose such limitations on the terms of this Agreement as it deems in its discretion necessary to make such terms reasonable in scope, duration and geographic area.
- (d) You agree that we may deliver to you any notice or other communication contemplated by this Agreement in the same manner and to the same address listed in the notice provisions of the AR Agreement and any such delivery shall be deemed effective for purposes of this Agreement. You may change the address to which notices must be sent by sending us a written notice requesting such change, which notice shall be delivered in the manner and to the address listed in the AR Agreement.

OWNER / SPOUSE	
By:	
Name:	
Date:	
OWNER / SPOUSE	
By:	
Name:	
Date:	

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has executed this Agreement as of the date or dates set forth below.

ATTACHMENT "D"

Development Schedule

You agree to comply with the following Minimum Development Obligations as specified in <u>Section 13.1</u> of the Agreement:

DEVELOPMENT PERIOD		CUMULATIVE NUMBER OF
ENDING*	STUDIOS TO BE OPENED	OHM® FITNESS STUDIOS IN
	DURING PERIOD	OPERATION
1 year after Effective Date		
2 years after Effective Date		
3 years after Effective Date		
4 years after Effective Date		
5 years after Effective Date		

ATTACHMENT "E"

Form of Confidentiality Agreement

[See Attached]

Confidentiality Agreement

This Agreement (this "<u>Agreement</u>") is entered into by the undersigned ("<u>you</u>") in favor of OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC, a Wyoming limited liability company, and its successors and assigns ("<u>us</u>"), upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.

- 1. **Definitions.** For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings given to them below:
- "Business" means the business of soliciting, screening, recruiting, developing, servicing and supporting OHM® Fitness franchises in a specified geographical territory.
- "Area Representative" means the OHM® Fitness representative for whom you are an officer, director, employee or independent contractor.
- "Copyrights" means all works and materials for which we or our affiliate have secured common law or registered copyright protection and that we and our affiliates allow OHM® Fitness Studio franchisees or area representatives to use, sell or display in connection with the marketing and/or operation of an OHM® Fitness Studio or the solicitation or offer of an OHM® Fitness Studio franchise, whether now in existence or created in the future.
- "Franchise System" means the OHM® Fitness franchise system.
- "Improvements" means any improvement or addition to the services or products offered at an OHM® Fitness Studio, the Operating System, the Franchise System, or any advertising or promotional ideas relating to an OHM® Fitness Studio or area representative business, that are conceived of or developed by you, Area Representative or another franchisee or area representative that we authorize for use in the Franchise System or Operating System.
- "Intellectual Property" means, collectively or individually, the Marks, Copyrights, Know-how, Improvements, Franchise System and Operating System.
- "Know-how" means all of our and our affiliates' trade secrets and other proprietary information relating to the development, construction, marketing and/or operation of an OHM® Fitness Studio or area representative business, including, but not limited to, methods, techniques, specifications, procedures, policies, marketing strategies and information comprising the Franchise System, the Operating System, the AR Manual and the Franchisee Manual.
- "Manuals" means, collectively, our confidential operations manual for the operation of an OHM® Fitness Studio and for the operation of an area representative business.
- "Marks" means the logotypes, service marks, and trademarks now or hereafter involved in the operation of an OHM® Fitness Studio, including "OHM® Fitness" and related logos, and any other trademarks, service marks or trade names that we designate for use by OHM® Fitness Studios. The term "Marks" also includes any distinctive trade dress used to identify an OHM® Fitness Studio, whether now in existence or hereafter created.
- "Operating System" means the operating system used by OHM® Fitness Studios, the distinctive characteristics of which include logo, proprietary techniques and products, confidential brand standards manual and operating system.
- "OHM® Fitness Studio" an exercise Studio that operates under the name "OHM® Fitness" and specializes in fitness and exercise training and classes utilizing electro muscle stimulation technology.
- **2. Background.** You are an officer, director, employee or independent contractor of Area Representative. As a result of this relationship, you may gain knowledge of the Franchise System, Operating System and Know-how. You understand that protecting the Intellectual Property is vital to our success and that of our franchisees and area representatives and that you could seriously jeopardize our entire Franchise System if you were to unfairly compete with us. In order to avoid such damage, you agree to comply with the terms of this Agreement.
- 3. Intellectual Property. You agree: (i) you will not use the Know-how in any business or capacity other than

the OHM® Fitness Studio and Business operated by Area Representative; (ii) you will maintain the confidentiality of the Know-how at all times; (iii) you will not make unauthorized copies of documents containing any Know-how; (iv) you will take such reasonable steps as we may ask of you from time to time to prevent unauthorized use or disclosure of the Know-how; and (v) you will stop using the Know-how immediately if you are no longer an officer, director, employee or independent contractor of Area Representative. You further agree that you will not use the Intellectual Property for any purpose other than the performance of your duties for Area Representative.

- 4. Immediate Family Members. You acknowledge that you could circumvent the purpose of this Agreement by disclosing Know-how to an immediate family member (i.e., spouse, parent, sibling, child, or grandchild). You also acknowledge that it would be difficult for us to prove whether you disclosed the Know-how to family members. Therefore, you agree that you will be presumed to have violated the terms of this Agreement if any member of your immediate family uses or discloses the Know-how. However, you may rebut this presumption by furnishing evidence conclusively showing that you did not disclose the Know-how to the family member.
- 5. Breach. You agree that failure to comply with the terms of this Agreement will cause substantial and irreparable damage to us, other OHM® Fitness Studios and/or other area representatives for which there is no adequate remedy at law. Therefore, you agree that any violation of the terms of this Agreement will entitle us to injunctive relief. You agree that we may apply for such injunctive relief, without bond, but upon due notice, in addition to such further and other relief as may be available at equity or law, and the sole remedy of yours, in the event of the entry of such injunction, will be the dissolution of such injunction, if warranted, upon hearing duly held (all claims for damages by reason of the wrongful issuance of any such injunction being expressly waived hereby). If a court requires the filing of a bond notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the parties agree that the amount of the bond shall not exceed \$1,000. None of the remedies available to us under this Agreement are exclusive of any other, but may be combined with others under this Agreement, or at law or in equity, including injunctive relief, specific performance and recovery of monetary damages. Any claim, defense or cause of action that you may have against us or against Area Representative, regardless of cause or origin, cannot be used as a defense against our enforcement of this Agreement.

6. Miscellaneous.

- (a) If we hire an attorney or file suit against you because you have breached this Agreement and prevail against you, you agree to pay our reasonable attorneys' fees and costs in doing so.
- (b) This Agreement will be governed by, construed and enforced under the laws of Arizona and the courts in Arizona shall have jurisdiction over any legal proceedings arising out of this Agreement.
- (c) Each section of this Agreement, including each subsection and portion thereof, is severable. In the event that any section, subsection or portion of this Agreement is unenforceable, it shall not affect the enforceability of any other section, subsection or portion; and each party to this Agreement agrees that the court may impose such limitations on the terms of this Agreement as it deems in its discretion necessary to make such terms reasonable in scope, duration and geographic area.

RESTRICTED PARTY			
Bv:	Name:	Date:	

This Confidentiality Agreement is executed as of the date set forth below.

EXHIBIT C TO DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT

TABLE OF CONTENTS OF AREA REPRESENTATIVE MANUAL

Topic	Beginning Page	Total Pages				
AR MANUAL - INTRODUCTION						
OHM Fitness Overview	1	2				
The OHM Fitness Model	3	8				
The OHM Fitness Franchise	11	6				
Area Representative	17	6				
Communication	23	2				
Program Adoption	25	4				
Working Together	29	16				
Success vs. Failure	45	6				
AR MANUAL – RISK MANAGEME	NT					
Risk Management Overview	51	4				
Insurance Coverage Requirements	55	6				
Human Resource Compliance	61	18				
Franchise Sales Overview	79	8				
Franchise Sales leads	87	6				
FranConnect	93	6				
Preparing to Sell the OHM Fitness Franchise	99	18				
Franchise Application Process	117	6				
Franchise Agreement Process	123	4				
Legal & Regulatory Aspects of Franchise Sales	127	23				
AR MANUAL – REAL ESTATE						
Real Estate Overview	150	2				
Studio Development	152	8				
Pre- Development/Site Selection(Lease)	160	17				
Site Negotiation (Lease)	177	14				
Development	191	10				
Construction	201	38				
MARKETING – CO OP OVERV	TEW					
Marketing Co-Op Overview	239	1				
Agency Selection	240	6				
Agency Management	246	6				
Coo-op Meeting Structure	252	27				
AR MANUAL - FINANCE						
Finance Overview	279	1				
Financing	280	4				
Plan for Success	284	13				
OPERATIONS						
Operational Overview	297	1				
KPI's	298	6				
Regional Rankings	304	2				
P&L	306	2				
OHM-Vitality Meter	308	4				

Topic	Beginning Page	Total Pages
OSR Policy	312	3
OSR Coaching	320	8
Action Planning	322	2
Compliance	324	2
Compliance Policy	326	4
Non-Compliance / Conflict Resolution	330	4
Business Relationships	334	14
BUSINESS POLICIES		
Business Policies Overview	348	2
Ancillary Credit Card Policy	350	1
Class Cancellation and Non-Show Policy	351	1
Approved Modalities	352	1
Approved Services & Modalities	353	1
Studio Operating Hours	354	1
Code of Ethics & Zero Tolerance Policy	355	2
Compliance / Promotional Gift Cards	357	1
Complimentary Membership Policy	358	1
Crisis Management	359	1
Dress Code Policy	360	1
Employee Files Policy	361	1
Gift Card Policy	362	1
Grand Opening Marketing Policy	363	1
Introductory Offer Policy	364	1
Introductory Franchise License	365	1
Inappropriate Conduct & Incident Prevention, Handling & Reporting	366	2
Incident Prevention, Control and Cleaning Policy	368	2
Insurance Coverage Requirements	370	2
I.T. Computer Hardware Warranty and Support	370	1
BUSINESS POLICIES	372	1
I.T. Firewall Antivirus Policy	373	2
I.T. Helpdesk Support	375	1
Member Identification Verification Policy	376	2
Membership Cancellation Policy	378	1
Membership Freeze Policy	379	1
Package Class Sharing Policy	380	1
Membership Offering Policy	381	2
Minors Policy	383	1
	384	<u>1</u> 1
Music Policy Operations Standard Povincy (OSP)		3
Operations Standard Review (OSR)	385	2
Profit and Loss Policy	388	
Regional Co-Op Policy	390	1
Regional Price Model Change Policy	391	1
Required and Recommended Vendor Policy	392	2
Resale or Transfer of Franchise License/Studio Policy	394	1
Royalty and Transfer Reconciliation Policy	395	2
Terminating an Employee in Mindboy Online	397	1
Territory Description Policy	398	1

Topic	Beginning Page	Total Pages
Training and Meeting Attendance	399	1
Voids and Refunds	400	1
TOTAL PAGES	40	00

EXHIBIT D TO DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT

Part A (List of Current Area Representatives as of December 31, 2023)

CALIFORNIA

Danielle Conklin, Cole Genovese and Lauren Alles

Territory: San Diego 1726 Blue Water Lane San Marcos, CA 92078 Phone No: 206-409-3202

COLORADO

FRANKLIN OHM AR, LLC

Kathy Franklin and Garrett Franklin

Territory: Colorado 1593 Dry Gulch Rd. Estes Park, CO 80517 Phone No: (925) 451-1808

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA (DC)

KAPNECK OHM LLC

Jake Kapneck and Alyssa Kapneck

Territory: DC

1916 Davis Branch Road Woodstock, MD 21163 Phone No: 973-600-4118

FLORIDA

OHM SOUTH FLORIDA LLC

Will Babin, Josh Coba, Dan Koonin and Erika Garcia

Territory: South Florida 5391 Fisher Island Drive Miami Beach, FL 33109 Phone No: 520-631-4470

FLORIDA

NOAA, LLC

Emil Ashe, Pavan Narra, Roy Adams, Kelli Adams, Jud Owens

Territory: Tampa

7907 20th Pl. W, Bradenton FL 34209

Phone No: 505-321-7778

KANSAS

BALSWB, LLC

Steven Brown, Beth Brown and Jamie Lull

Territory: Kansas and Missouri 9337 Cedar Reserve Drive Prairie Village, KS 66207 Phone No: (913) 660-3350

MISSOURI

BALSWB, LLC

Steven Brown, Beth Brown and Jamie Lull

Territory: Kansas and Missouri 9337 Cedar Reserve Drive Prairie Village, KS 66207 Phone No: (913) 660-3350

NEW JERSEY

KAPNECK OHM LLC

Jake Kapneck

Territory: New Jersey 1916 Davis Branch Road Woodstock, MD 21163 Phone No: 973-600-4118

NORTH CAROLINA

OHM GROUP NC, LLC

Luis Arcos and Liz Arcos Territory: North Carolina 1628 Doubles Ct.

Raleigh, NC 27609

Phone No: (305) 491-3763

TEXAS - AUSTIN / SAN ANTONIO

TEXAS OHMIES LLC

Shivam Khanna

Territory: Austin and San Antonio, TX 3020 Communications Parkway

Plano, TX 75093

Phone No: (469) 323-9797

TEXAS - DALLAS

TEXAS OHMIES LLC

Shivam Khanna Territory: Dallas, TX

3020 Communications Parkway

Plano, TX 75093

Phone No: (469) 323-9797

TEXAS - HOUSTON

TEXAS OHMIES LLC

Shivam Khanna

Territory: Houston, TX

3020 Communications Parkway

Plano, TX 75093

Phone No: (469) 323-9797

<u>Part B</u> (The following have signed an Area Representative Agreement, but have not yet opened their AR Business as of the date of this disclosure document.)

None.

Part C (Former Area Representatives Who Left System During Prior Fiscal Year)

Becky Renner Phoenix, AZ

Phone No: 480-650-1601

If you buy this Area Representative, your contact information may be disclosed to other buyers when you leave the franchise system.

EXHIBIT E TO DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

[See Attached]



Financial Statements and Independent Accountant's Audit Report

OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC

December 31, 2023 and 2022

Table of Contents

Independent Accountant's Audit Report	1-2
Financial Statement:	
Balance Sheets	3
Statements of Operations	4
Statements of Changes in Members' Deficit	5
Statements of Cash Flows	6
Notes to the Financial Statements	′-12



ASSURANCEDIMENSIONS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of **OHM Fitness Franchise**, **LLC**

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC (the "Company"), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related statements of operations, changes in members' deficit, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we:

- Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.



ASSURANCEDIMENSIONS

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.
- Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that we identified during the audit.

Jacksonville, Florida March 7, 2024

Balance Sheets

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022

	2023		2022	
Assets				
Current assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	300,878	\$	1,736,159
Contract asset, current portion		76,657		5,650
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		20,177		48,715
Total current assets		397,712		1,790,524
Long-term assets:				
Property and equipment, net		725,717		416,338
Notes receivable - related parties		1,233,271		290,045
Contract asset, net of current portion		429,510		50,850
Right of use asset, net		269,205		409,660
Total assets	\$	3,055,415	\$	2,957,417
Liabilites and Members' Deficit				
Current liabilities:				
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	\$	317,552	\$	208,829
Due to related parties		1,504,999		74,999
Current portion of lease liability		141,695		124,184
Total current liabilities		1,964,246		408,012
Long-term liabilities:				
Contract liability		3,821,834		1,373,250
Lease liability, net of current portion		145,450		287,145
Total liabilities		5,931,530		2,068,407
Members' deficit		(2,876,115)		889,010
Total liabilities and members' deficit	\$	3,055,415	\$	2,957,417

Statements of Operations

For the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

2023			2022	
	<u> </u>		_	
\$	17,750	\$	20,750	
	24,667		-	
	42,417		20,750	
	3,792,555		1,109,929	
	(3,750,138)		(1,089,179)	
	(12,567)		(1,464)	
\$	(3,762,705)	\$	(1,090,643)	
	\$	\$ 17,750 24,667 42,417 3,792,555 (3,750,138) (12,567)	\$ 17,750 \$ 24,667 42,417 \$ 3,792,555 (3,750,138) (12,567)	

Statements of Changes in Members' Deficit For the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Balance - December 31, 2021	\$ (71,647)
Member contributions Net loss	2,051,300 (1,090,643)
Balance - December 31, 2022	889,010
Member distributions Net loss	(2,420) (3,762,705)
Balance - December 31, 2023	\$ (2,876,115)

Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

	2023			2022		
Cash flows from operating activities:						
Net loss	\$	(3,762,705)	\$	(1,090,643)		
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) to						
net cash provided (used) by operating activities:						
Depreciation and amortization		83,585		463		
Changes in cash due to changes in:						
Contract asset		(449,667)		(56,500)		
Prepaid expenses and other assets		28,538		(48,715)		
Accounts payable and accrued expenses		108,723		208,829		
Contract liability		2,448,584		1,373,250		
Right of use assets and liabilities		16,271		1,669		
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities		(1,526,671)		388,353		
Cash flows from investing activities:						
Purchase of property and equipment		(392,964)		(398,124)		
Net cash used by investing activities		(392,964)		(398,124)		
Cash flows from financing activities						
Member distributions		(2,420)		_		
Member contributions		-		2,051,300		
Borrowings (repayments) from related parties		486,774		(330,045)		
Net cash provided by financing activities		484,354		1,721,255		
Net change in cash		(1,435,281)		1,711,484		
Cash at beginning of year		1,736,159		24,675		
Cash at end of year	\$	300,878	\$	1,736,159		
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:						
Cash paid for interest	\$	12,567	\$	1,464		
Non-Cash Flow Disclosures Information:						
Implementation of ASC 842	\$		\$	421,365		

Notes to the Financial Statement December 31, 2023 and 2022

Note A – Organization and Description of Business

Nature of Business

OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC (the "Company") was incorporated as a Wyoming limited liability company on June 3, 2021. The Company sells franchises to enable franchisees to utilize the Company's fitness concept, which uses the power of electro muscle stimulation in form of a full body workout suit called the EMPower Suit. Each franchise company delivers small group workouts using this wearable technology.

Note B – Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting

The Company prepares its financial statements using the accrual method of accounting in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP").

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

Accounting standards promulgated by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") are subject to change. Changes in such standards may have an impact on the Company's future financial statements. The Company periodically reviews new accounting standards that are issued. Although some of these accounting standards may be applicable to the Company, the Company has not identified any new standards, other than the ones described below, that it believes merit further discussion as the Company expects that none would have a significant impact on its financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2023, the Company adopted the new accounting guidance in ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (ASC 326). This standard replaced the incurred loss methodology with an expected loss methodology that is referred to as the current expected credit loss ("CECL") methodology. CECL requires an estimate of credit losses for the remaining estimated life of the financial asset using historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts, and generally applies to financial assets measured at amortized cost. Financial assets measured at amortized cost will be presented at the net amount expected to be collected by using an allowance for credit losses. The Company adopted the standard using the modified retroactive approach, which did not affect retained earnings.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with an original maturity of less than three months to be cash equivalents.

Notes Receivable

Notes receivable are carried at net realizable value. This value includes an appropriate allowance for estimated credit losses to reflect any loss anticipated on the notes receivable balances based on the probability of default, and charged to the allowance for credit losses. This reserve is calculated based on the history of write-offs, future economic conditions, level of past due accounts, and relationships with and economic status of the borrowers. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, management determined that no allowance for credit losses was needed.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Major additions and improvements which extend the life of the assets are capitalized whereas maintenance and repairs, which do not improve or extend the life of the respective assets, are expensed as incurred. When property or equipment is sold or otherwise disposed of, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss is included in income.

Notes to the Financial Statement December 31, 2023 and 2022

Note B - Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the terms of the leases, while all other assets are depreciated over estimated useful lives.

Capitalized Software Development Costs

The Company follows the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 350-40, *Internal Use Software*. ASC 350-40 provides guidance for determining whether computer software is internal-use software, and on accounting for the proceeds of computer software originally developed or obtained for internal use and then subsequently sold to the public. It also provides guidance on capitalization of the costs incurred for computer software developed or obtained for internal use. The Company expenses all costs incurred during the preliminary project stage of its development, and capitalizes the costs incurred during the application development stage. Costs incurred relating to upgrades and enhancements to the software are capitalized if it is determined that these upgrades or enhancements add additional functionality to the software. Costs incurred to improve and support products after they become available are charged to expense as incurred.

Capitalized software development costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives, currently three years. Management evaluates the useful lives of these assets on an annual basis and tests for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances occur that could impact the recoverability of these assets. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the capitalized book value of developed technology for upgrades placed into service was approximately \$400,000 and \$290,000, respectively, and is included in property and equipment on the accompanying balance sheets.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews the carrying value of property and equipment for impairment whenever events and circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable from the estimated future cash flows expected to result from its use and eventual disposition. In cases where undiscounted expected future cash flows are less than the carrying value, an impairment loss is recognized equal to an amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of assets. The factors considered by management in performing this assessment include current operating results, trends, and prospects, as well as the effects of obsolescence, demand, competition, and other economic factors. The Company did not recognize any impairment loss in 2023 and 2022.

Leases

For any new or modified lease, the Company at the inception of the contract, determines whether a contract is or contains a lease. The Company records right of use ("ROU") assets and lease obligations for its operating leases, which are initially recognized based on the discounted future lease payments over the term of the lease. The Company calculates operating lease liabilities with a risk-free discount rate, using a comparable period with the lease term. Lease term is defined as the non-cancelable period of the lease plus any options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise the option. All lease and non-lease components are combined for all leases. The non-lease components are variable payments, which are primarily composed of common area maintenance and real estate taxes that are passed on from the lessor in proportion to the space leased. Lease payments for leases with a term of 12 months or less are expensed on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease with no lease asset or liability recognized.

Advertising Costs

The Company expenses advertising and promotional costs as they are incurred. Advertising costs charged to franchisee support services were \$275,000 and \$365,000, for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

All revenues from exchange transactions are recorded in accordance with ASC 606 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The Company recognizes revenue when the following criteria are met: (i) a contract with a customer has been identified, (ii) the performance obligation(s) in the contract have been identified, (iii) the transaction price has been determined,

Notes to the Financial Statement December 31, 2023 and 2022

Note B - Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(iv) the transaction price has been allocated to each performance obligation in the contract, and (v) the Company has satisfied the applicable performance obligation at a point in time or over time.

The Company's revenues consist mainly of revenues from the sale of area development agreements to area representatives that give exclusive rights for geographical regions and initial franchise fees. Area development agreement fees are recognized on a pro-rata basis as franchise locations are opened based on the development schedule specified in the contract. Any unrecognized amount at the end of the 10-year contract period will be recognized as revenue.

The Company also collects an initial franchise fee that ranges between \$35,000 - \$50,000. The initial franchise fees are allocated to the performance obligations completed during the initial and follow up training. Allocation of the initial franchise fees are based on an estimated stand-alone price based on a costs-plus margin approach. Any remaining fees are allocated to the performance obligations performed over time during the franchise term, which is either 10 or 15 years. Initial franchise fees are recognized as revenue when all material preliminary services and conditions related to the franchise sale have been substantially performed by the Company. Typically this occurs at the point in time at which the franchise stores open and become operational. Unearned area development agreement fees and initial franchise fees are reported as contract liabilities on the balance sheets. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, contract liabilities totaled approximately \$3,822,000 and \$1,373,000, respectively.

When a franchise or area representative agreement is sold, the Company agrees to provide multiple performance promises in each contract, primarily the delivery of its initial custom training program and the rights to use the associated business processes, systems, access to preferred vendors additional training, access to proprietary software systems and advertising. Franchisees are also required to contribute to national advertising campaigns sponsored by the Company. Revenue from contributions to national advertising campaigns is recognized when funds are expended.

The Company will also recognize franchise royalty fees beginning in 2024, which are 6% of gross sales for each franchise and payable weekly.

The Company's revenues are concentrated in the United States of America and in the fitness industry.

Contract Assets

The Company recognized an asset for the incremental costs of obtaining the contract arising from the sales commissions to employees and external parties because the Company expects to recover those costs. The Company amortizes these contract assets ratably over the franchise license term over 10 years. The Company has included contract assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, of approximately \$506,000 and \$56,000, respectively, which will be amortized ratably over the franchise license term.

Income Taxes

The Company has made an election to be treated as a limited liability company under Subchapter K of the Internal Revenue Code. Accordingly, the income and losses of the Company are taxed directly to its members. Therefore, no provision for income taxes has been made in the financial statements.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and loans receivable. The Company maintains its cash in financial institutions where accounts are secured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation up to \$250,000. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts and the cash balances exceeded these limit by approximately \$51,000 and \$1,490,000 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Fair Value

The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet for cash, contract assets, prepaid expenses and other assets, accounts payable, accrued expenses, and notes payable approximate their estimated fair market value based on the short-term maturity of this instrument. The carrying value of the Company's loans receivable approximate fair value because their terms approximate market rates.

Notes to the Financial Statement December 31, 2023 and 2022

maturity of this instrument. The carrying value of the Company's loans receivable approximate fair value because their terms approximate market rates.

Note B – Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Reclassifications

Certain 2022 financial statement amounts have been reclassified for consistent presentation.

Note C – Liquidity

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company incurred a net loss of approximately \$3,763,000, and had negative cash flows from operations of approximately \$1,527,000. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had an accumulated deficit of approximately \$2,876,000.

The financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 was significantly impacted by the black-out period during which it was unable to sell Area Development or franchise agreements. The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is dependent upon continued sales of Area Development Agreements and franchises and opening franchises. The Company currently has several Area Development Agreements and franchise agreements in contract negotiation, and several more in preliminary discussions. Management expects to generate sufficient cash flows to cover its costs and have positive cash flows from operations in 2024.

Note D – Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following as of December 31:

	2023	2022	Useful Life (Years)
Equipment	\$ 42,511	\$ 18,677	5
Capitalized software	403,712	288,674	3
Video for production	107,202	104,000	3
Leasehold equipment	199,720	5,450	Life of lease
Furniture and fixture	56,620	-	7
	809,765	416,801	
Less: accumulated depreciation	(84,048)	(463)	
Property and equipment, net	\$ 725,717	\$ 416,338	

Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was approximately \$84,000 and \$500, respectively.

Note E – Related Party Transactions

The Company has two affiliated entities that were formed in 2023 that relate to the operations of the Company: OHM Distribution LLC ("OHM Distribution") and OHM at Home LLC ("OHM Home"). During 2023, the Company made advances to OHM Distribution to support their operations, and borrowed money from OHM Home.

OHM Distribution

The Company requires franchisees to order products and services through a single-approved supplier, OHM Distribution. The franchisees purchase proprietary items such as fitness suits, Bluetooth power modules, apparel, marketing items, studio fixtures, red light panels, etc.

The Company advanced money to OHM Distribution during 2023. The advance does not accrue interest or have a maturity date and is not secured. As of December 31, 2023, OHM Distribution owes the Company \$596,070.

Note E – Related Party Transactions (continued)

OHM Home

OHM Home's concept is to provide the Company's studio model outside of the studio in a remote and online platform, allowing members to purchase and utilize suits and power modules with a paid subscription to online classes and content for a monthly fee. This affiliate to the Company is in early development, and currently running test deployments of their products and services sold through franchise studios as resellers of OHM Home products and services. A full rollout of the products and services of OHM Home is planned to launch as early as the second quarter of 2024.

The Company borrowed funds from OHM Home during 2023. The advance does not accrue interest or have a maturity date and is not secured. As of December 31, 2023, the Company owed OHM Home \$330,000.

Other Related Party Transactions

The Company has advanced money to two franchises that have common ownership. The advances do not accrue interest or have a maturity date and are not secured. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, these related franchises owe the Company \$637,201 and \$290,045, respectively.

The Company has borrowed funds from one of its owners during 2023. The loans accrue interest at 5% and mature between August 2028 and October 2028. As of December 31, 2023, the Company owes \$1,100,000.

The Company has a loan from an officer with no stated interest rate or maturity date. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022 the outstanding balance was \$75,000.

Note F – Summary of Franchise Businesses

The following is a summary of changes in the number of Area Development Agreements and franchise businesses sold during the years ended December 31:

Area Development Agreements	2023	2022
Beginning of Year	5	-
New Area Agreements	7	5
Ceased Operations	-	-
End of Year	12	5
Franchised Businesses	2023	2022
Franchised Businesses Beginning of Year	2023	2022
		2022 - 12
Beginning of Year	12	-

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were 2 and 0 franchise locations open and in operation, respectively.

Note G - Leases

The Company leases an office facility under a non-cancelable lease expiring on November 14, 2025. The combined monthly base payments are \$11,500, with a \$1,000 annual increase, plus variable lease costs including applicable taxes and common area maintenance costs.

Notes to the Financial Statement December 31, 2023 and 2022

Note G – Leases (continued)

The ROU asset is summarized below as of December 31:

	2023		2022		
Operating lease ROU asset	\$	409,660	\$	421,365	
Less accumulated reduction		(140,455)		(11,705)	
Balance of ROU asset	\$	269,205	\$	409,660	

Operating lease liability is summarized below as of December 31:

	2023		2022		
Operating lease liability	\$	411,329	\$	421,365	
Reduction of lease liability		(124,184)		(10,036)	
Total	\$	287,145	\$	411,329	

As of December 31, 2023, the minimum lease payments under this lease are as follows:

2024	\$ 151,000
2025	148,500
Total lease payments	299,500
Less: interest	 (12,355)
Present value of lease payments	287,145
Less: current portion	 (141,695)
Lease payments, net of current portion	\$ 145,450

Total lease and rent expense for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, was approximately \$139,000 and \$12,000, respectively. The weighted average remaining lease term was 1.92 years as of December 31, 2023. The weighted average discount rate was 4.17% as of December 31, 2023

Note H – Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may be involved in various litigation proceedings incidental to the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the ultimate liability, if any, resulting from such litigation would not be material in relation to the Company's financial position or results of operations.

Note I – Subsequent Events

Subsequent events have been evaluated through March 7, 2024, which is the date the financial statements were available to be issued.



Financial Statements and Independent Accountant's Audit Report

Ohm Fitness Franchise, LLC

December 31, 2021

Table of Contents

Independent Accountant's Audit Report	2
Financial Statement:	
Balance Sheet	3
Notes to the Financial Statements	l-5



ASSURANCEDIMENSIONS

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of Ohm Fitness Franchise, LLC

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Ohm Fitness Franchise, LLC (the Company) as of December 31, 2021 and the related notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the financial statement referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we:

- Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
 error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining,
 on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
 appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
 Company's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

ASSURANCE DIMENSIONS CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS & ASSOCIATES

also d/b/a McNAMARA and ASSOCIATES, PLLC

TAMPA BAY: 4920 W Cypress Street, Suite 102 | Tampa, Fl. 33607 | Office: 813.443.5048 | Fax: 813.443.5053

JACKSONVILLE: 4720 Salisbury Road, Suite 223 | Jacksonville, Fl. 32256 | Office: 888.410.2323 | Fax: 813.443.5053

ORLANDO: 1800 Pembrook Drive, Suite 300 | Orlando, Fl. 32810 | Office: 888.410.2323 | Fax: 813.443.5053

SOUTH FLORIDA: 2000 Banks Road, Suite 218 | Margate, Fl. 33063 | Office: 754.800.3400 | Fax: 813.443.5053

www.assurancedimensions.com



A S S U R A N C E D I M E N S I O N S

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.
- Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that we identified during the audit.

Assurance Dimensions

Margate, Florida March 31, 2022

Ohm Fitness Franchise, LLC Balance Sheet As of December 31, 2021

<u>Assets</u>		2021
Current assets:		
Cash	\$	24,675
Total current assets		24,675
Property and equipment, net		18,677
Total assets	\$	43,352
Liabilities and Members' Equity		
Current liabilities:	_	20.220
Due from affiliate	\$	30,000
Due from member		84,999
Total current liabilities		114,999
Members' deficit		(71,647)
Total liabilities and members' equity	\$	43,352

Notes to the Financial Statement December 31, 2021

Note A - Organization and Description of Business

Nature of Business

Ohm Fitness Franchise, LLC ("The Company") was organized as a "Limited Liability Company" on June 3, 2021. The Company's fitness concept, utilizes the power of EMS (Electro Muscle Stimulation) in form of Full Body work out Suit.

Note B - Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting

The Company prepares its financial statements using the accrual method of accounting in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP").

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with an original maturity of less than three months to be cash equivalents.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Major additions and improvements which extend the life of the assets are capitalized whereas maintenance and repairs, which do not improve or extend the life of the respective assets, are expensed as incurred. When property or equipment is sold or otherwise disposed of, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss is included in income.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the terms of the leases, while all other assets are depreciated over estimated useful lives.

Income Taxes

The Company has made an election to be treated as a limited liability company under Subchapter K of the Internal Revenue Code. Accordingly, the income and losses of the Company are taxed directly to its members. Therefore, no provision for income taxes has been made in the financial statements.

Note C - Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following as of December 31, 2021:

		Useful Life (years)
Equipment	\$ 18,677	5
	18,677	
Less: accumulated depreciation	(-)	
Property and equipment, net	\$ 18,677	

The equipment has not been placed into service yet and therefore no depreciation has been taken.

Notes to the Financial Statement December 31, 2021

Note D - Related Party Payables

The Company as of December 31, 2021 owed \$30,000 to an affiliated entity. The Company as of December 31, 2021 owed \$84,999 to an officer of the Company.

Note E – Commitments and Contingencies

COVID-19

In December 2019, there was an outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus ("COVID-19"). In March 2020, the World Health Organization made the assessment that the outbreak of COVID-19 can be characterized as a pandemic. As a result, state and local governments across the United States declared a public health emergency and imposed "shelter-in-place" orders, quarantines, executive orders and similar government orders and restrictions for businesses and residents to control the spread of the virus. These orders resulted in business closures, work stoppages, slowdowns and delays, work-from-home policies, travel restrictions and cancellation of events, among other effects, thereby negatively impacting the economy.

Due to the level of risk this virus may have on the global economy, it is at least reasonably possible that it could have an impact on the operations of the Company in the near term that could affect the Company's financials, however management does not believe there will be any future impact. In addition, vaccines and therapeutics coming to market will also help to mitigate any potential future losses.

Note F - Subsequent Events

Subsequent events have been evaluated through March 31, 2022, which is the date the financial statements were available to be issued.

THE FOLLOWING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ARE PREPARED WITHOUT AN AUDIT. PROSPECTIVE FRANCHISEES SHOULD BE ADVISED THAT NO CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT HAS AUDITED THESE FIGURES OR EXPRESSED AN OPINION WITH REGARD TO THE CONTENT OR FORM.

ceterus

Location:	NM - Ohm Fitness Franchisor
	(Closed through 04-30-2024)

Balance Sheet

Reporting Date: Apr 2024

Assets

	101 555 20
Chase Bank*6387	121,777.30
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents	121,777.30
Bill.com Clearing	
Transfer Clearing	-
Prepaid Expenses - Other Receivables	3,592.67
Due To/From - NM - 001 OHM Fitness-McDowell	601,980.75
Due to/From - NM - 001 OHM Fitness-McDowell Due to/From - NM - 0002 Ohm Fitness Desert Ridge	228,006.77
Contract Assets	448,967.00
AP/AR Affiliate - NM - Ohm Fitness Home	(330,000.00)
AP/AR Affiliate - NM - Ohm Fitness Home AP/AR Affiliate - NM - Ohm Fitness Distribution	, , ,
	611,712.83
Unmapped Asset Accounts	782.20
Total Other Current Assets	1,565,042.22
Total Current Assets	1 606 010 50
Total Current Assets	1,686,819.52
Leasehold Improvements	199,719.50
Computer & Software Development	403,711.82
Machinery & Equipment	127,283.70
Furniture & Fixture	60,911.98
Signage	-
Video Equipment	107,201.67
Accumulated Depreciation	(160,569.10)
Total Property & Equipment	738,259.57
rotal Popolity & Equipmont	100,200101
Security Deposit	11,500.00
Franchise License	<u>-</u>
Operating Lease ROU Asset	245,796.08
Accumulated Amortization	- -
Total Other Long-Term Assets	257,296.08

TOTAL ASSETS	2,682,375.17		
Liabilities			
Accounts Payable	198,224.91		
Total Accounts Payable	198,224.91		
Amex CC*74008	23,388.31		
Total Credit Cards	23,388.31		
Other Current Liabilities	_		
Payroll Clearing	_		
Accrued Payroll	_		
Payroll Tax Payable	-		
Deferred Revenue - Area Representative	2,698,584.33		
Deferred Revenue - Franchise Licenses	1,517,789.93		
Operating Lease Liability	264,100.41		
Total Other Current Liabilities	4,480,474.67		
Total Current Liabilities	4,702,087.89		
Total Current Liabilities	4,702,007.09		
Loan from Franchisor	-		
Line of Credit loan Balance	74,999.00		
Owner Loan 2	600,000.00		
Owner Loan 3	500,000.00		
Owner Loan 4	200,000.00		
Total Long Term Liabilities	1,374,999.00		
TOTAL LIABILITIES	6,077,086.89		
Equity			
Beginning Owner Equity - 31.5% Steve Belknap	303,563.96		
Owner Contributions - 31.5% Steve Belknap	-		
Owner Withdrawals - 31.5% Steve Belknap	-		
Beginning Owner Equity - 31.5% Eric Hammann	255,000.00		
Owner Contributions - 31.5% Eric Hammann	-		
Beginning Owner Equity - 27% Douglas Payne	140,317.35		
Owner Contributions - 27% Doug Payne	-		
Owner Withdrawals - 27% Douglas Payne	(87.55)		
Beginning Owner Equity - 10% Coba OHM Franchisor, LLC	1,400,000.00		
Owner Contributions - 10%Coba OHM Franchisor, LLC	-		
Retained Earnings	(4,969,911.96)		
Net Income	(523,593.52)		
Total Equity	(3,394,711.72)		

TOTAL EQUITY	(3,394,711.72)	
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY	2,682,375.17	

ceterus

Store Number: 0061K00000kuhkn

Location: NM - Ohm Fitness Franchisor

(Closed through 04-30-2024)

Start Date: 1/1/2024 End Date: 4/30/2024

PROFIT AND LOSS

Jan	2024	- Apr	2024
-----	------	-------	------

AR Licenses	37,916.67
Franchisee Licenses	1,042,000.00
Total Revenue	1,079,916.67
Direct Labor - Trainer Wages	22,403.55
Direct Labor - Trainer Commissions	1,250.00
Total Cost of Goods/Services	23,653.55

Gross Profit	1,056,263.12
Sales/Reception Salaries	284,559.10
Sales/Reception Bonus	19,150.00
Manager Salaries	107,311.63
Manager Bonus	2,250.00
AR License Commission	132,200.00
Administrative Franchise Fees	51,500.00
Total Personnel (Fixed Costs)	596,970.73

Recruiting Expense	879.44
Contract Labor	133,360.00
401(k) Expense	13,663.35
Other payroll expenses	3,105.65
Payroll Taxes	39,087.62
Payroll Charges	1,883.91
Payroll Charges	1 883 0

Total Tersoniler (Other Oosts)	131,373.37
Rent	51,000.00
Building Repairs & Maintenance	299.95
Janitorial	3,536.53
Utilities	1,295.10
Telephone/Internet	3,354.41

Total Facility	59,485.99		
Insurance Expense	5,375.00		
General Liability Insurance	12,911.19		
Total Insurance	18,286.19		
	·		
Marketing	32,055.68		
Advertising	31,677.56		
Total Marketing	63,733.24		
Bank Service Charges	25.00		
Software	37,128.98		
Equipment Lease	324.16		
Equipment Repairs & Maintenance	7,296.61		
Licenses & Permits	13,867.08		
Office Expenses	24,383.81		
Postage & Delivery	2,243.99		
Printing	314.10		
Professional Fees - Accounting	112,432.12		
Professional Fees - Legal	191,462.46		
Professional Fees - FDA	37,747.00		
Professional Fees - Consulting	95,215.10		
Uniforms	3,339.45		
Dues and Subscriptions	18,264.02		
Total General and Administrative	544,043.88		
Total Expenses	1,474,500.00		
Net Operating Income	(418,236.88)		
3	(2) 22 22		
Other Miscellaneous Income	3,095.50		
Total Other Income	3,095.50		
Automobile Expense	3,345.61		
Charitable Contributions	750.00		
Meals	5,693.47		
Travel	17,727.23		
Miscellaneous Non-Operating Expense	4,049.54		
Depreciation Expense	76,521.44		
Interest & Credit Expense	364.85		
Total Other Expenses	108,452.14		
Net Income	(523,593.52)		
EBITDA	(446,707.23)		

EXHIBIT F TO DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT

FRANCHISEE DISCLOSURE QUESTIONNAIRE

The Franchise Disclosure Questionnaire is not applicable in the following states: California, Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, New York, North Dakota, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Virginia, Washington and Wisconsin

[See Attached]

Do not sign this Disclosure Questionnaire if you are a resident of Maryland or Washington or the business is to be operated in Maryland or Washington

FRANCHISEE DISCLOSURE QUESTIONNAIRE

As you know OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC ("we" or "us), and you are preparing to enter into an Area Representative Agreement (the "Franchise Agreement") for the operation of a OHM® Fitness area representative franchise. The purpose of this Questionnaire is to determine whether any statements or promises were made to you that we have not authorized or that may be untrue, inaccurate or misleading, to be certain that you have been properly represented in this transaction, and to be certain that you understand the limitations on claims you may make by reason of the purchase and operation of your franchise. You cannot sign or date this Questionnaire the same day as the Receipt for the Franchise Disclosure Document but you must sign and date it the same day you sign the Franchise Agreement and pay your franchise fee. Please review each of the following questions carefully and provide honest responses to each question. If you answer "No" to any of the questions below, please explain your answer on the back of this sheet.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

Yes	No	1.	Have you received and personally reviewed the Franchise Agreement and each attachment or schedule attached to it?
Yes	No	2.	Have you received and personally reviewed the Franchise Disclosure Document we provided?
Yes	No	3.	Did you sign a receipt for the Franchise Disclosure Document indicating the date you received it?
Yes	No	4.	Do you understand all the information contained in the Franchise Disclosure Document and Franchise Agreement?
Yes	No	5.	Did you receive the Franchise Disclosure Document at least 14 calendar days before signing any agreement relating to the franchise (other than an NDA) or paying any money?
Yes	No	6.	Did you receive a complete execution copy of the Franchise Agreement at least seven (7) calendar days before you signed it?
Yes	No	7.	Have you reviewed the Franchise Disclosure Document and Franchise Agreement with a lawyer, accountant or other professional advisor?
Yes	No	8.	Have you discussed the benefits and risks of developing and operating a OHM® Fitness franchise with an existing OHM® Fitness franchisee?
Yes	No	9.	Do you understand the risks of developing and operating a OHM® Fitness franchise?
Yes	No	10.	Do you understand the success or failure of your franchise will depend in large part upon your skills, abilities and efforts and those of the persons you employ as well as many factors beyond your control such as competition, interest rates, the economy, inflation, labor and supply costs and other relevant factors?
Yes	No	11.	Do you understand all disputes or claims you may have arising out of or relating to the Franchise Agreement must be litigated in Arizona, if not resolved informally or by mediation?
Yes	No	12.	Do you understand that you must satisfactorily complete the initial training course before we will allow your franchised business to open or consent to a transfer?
Yes	No	13.	Do you agree that no employee or other person speaking on our behalf made any statement or promise regarding the costs involved in operating a OHM® Fitness franchise that is not

			information contained in the Fran	losure Document or that is contrary to, or different from, the nchise Disclosure Document?		
Yes	No	14.	Do you agree that no employee or other person speaking on our behalf made any statement or promise or agreement, other than those matters addressed in your Franchise Agreement, concerning advertising, marketing, media support, marketing penetration, training, support service or assistance that is contrary to, or different from, the information contained in the Franchise Disclosure Document?			
Yes	No	15.	Do you agree that no employee or other person speaking on our behalf made any statement or promise regarding the actual, average or projected profits or earnings, the likelihood of success, the amount of money you may earn, or the total amount of revenue a OHM® Fitness franchise will generate, that is not contained in the Franchise Disclosure Document or that is contrary to, or different from, the information contained in the Franchise Disclosure Document?			
Yes	No	16.	Do you understand that the Franchise Agreement and attachments to the Franchise Agreement contain the entire agreement between us and you concerning the franchise for the OHM® Fitness business, meaning any prior oral or written statements not set out in the Franchise Agreement or the attachments to the Franchise Agreement will not be binding?			
THEM. B	Y SIGNINO	THIS		RE IMPORTANT TO US AND THAT WE WILL RELY ON REPRESENTING THAT YOU HAVE CONSIDERED EACH TO THE ABOVE QUESTIONS.		
Signature	of Franchis	e Appli	cant	Signature of Franchise Applicant		
Name (ple	ease print)			Name (please print)		
Dated				Dated		
Signature	of Franchis	e Appli	cant	Signature of Franchise Applicant		
Name (please print)				Name (please print)		
Dated				Dated		

2. <u>EXPLANATION OF ANY NEGATIVE RESPONSES [REFER TO QUESTION NUMBER]:</u>

EXHIBIT G TO DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT STATE SPECIFIC ADDENDUM AND RIDERS

[See Attached]

CALIFORNIA ADDENDA & RIDER

ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT FOR OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC STATE OF CALIFORNIA

The registration of this franchise offering by the California Department of Financial Protection and Innovation does not constitute approval, recommendation, or endorsement by the commissioner.

The following paragraphs are added to the disclosure document:

OUR WEBSITE HAS NOT BEEN REVIEWED OR APPROVED BY THE CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL PROTECTION AND INNOVATION. ANY COMPLAINTS CONCERNING THE CONTENT OF THIS WEBSITE MAY BE DIRECTED TO THE CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL PROTECTION AND INNOVATION at www.dfpi.ca.gov.

THE CALIFORNIA FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW REQUIRES THAT A COPY OF ALL PROPOSED AGREEMENTS RELATING TO THE SALE OF THE FRANCHISE BE DELIVERED TOGETHER WITH THE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT.

The Franchise Compliance Certificate is not applicable in California.

The following paragraphs are added at the end of Item 17 of the Disclosure Document pursuant to regulations promulgated under the California Franchise Investment Law:

California Law Regarding Termination and Nonrenewal. California Business and Professions Code Sections 20000 through 20043 provide rights to the franchisee concerning termination, transfer, or nonrenewal of a franchise. If the Area Representative Agreement contains a provision that is inconsistent with the law, the law will control.

Termination Upon Bankruptcy. The Area Representative Agreement provides for termination upon bankruptcy. This provision may not be enforceable under federal bankruptcy law (11 U.S.C.A. Sec. 101 et. seq.).

Post-Termination Noncompetition and Non-solicitation Covenants. The Area Representative Agreement contains a covenant not to compete which extends beyond the termination of the respective agreement. These provisions may not be enforceable under California law. The franchisor will not enforce in California the prohibition on franchisee employing or soliciting for employment any current or former employee of franchisor or its affiliates (also known as a no-poach/non-solicitation provision) in Section 19 of the Area Representative Agreement that is disclosed in Item 17, rows q and r.

Applicable Law. The Area Representative Agreement requires application of the laws of the State of Arizona with certain exceptions. These provisions may not be enforceable under California law.

California's Franchise Investment Law (Corporations Code sections 31512 and 31512.1) states that any provision of a franchise agreement or related document requiring the franchisee to waive specific provisions of the law is contrary to public policy and is void and unenforceable. The law also prohibits a franchisor from disclaiming or denying (i) representations it, its employees, or its agents make to you, (ii) your ability to rely on any representations it makes to you, or (iii) any violations of the law.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any

applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

The highest interest rate allowed by law in California is 10% annually.

The California Franchise Investment Law requires a copy of all proposed agreements relating to the sale of the franchise be delivered together with the Franchise Disclosure Document.

Neither the franchisor, nor any person or franchise broker listed in Item 2 of the disclosure document is subject to any currently effective order of any national securities association or national securities exchange as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C.A. §78A et seq.), suspending or expelling these persons from membership in such association or exchange.

The registration of this franchise offering by the California Department of Financial Protection and Innovation does not constitute approval, recommendation, or endorsement by the commissioner.

RIDER TO OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC AREA REPRESENTATIVE AGREEMENT FOR USE IN CALIFORNIA

This Rider is entered into this	(the "Effective Date"), between OHM FITNESS
FRANCHISE, LLC ("we," "us" or "our"), and _	· //
"you" or "your"), whose address is	(collectively,
you and we are referred to as the "parties" and indi	vidually sometimes referred to as a "party") and amends
the Area Representative Agreement between the p	arties dated as of the Effective Date (the "Agreement").

- 1. <u>Precedence and Defined Terms</u>. This Rider is incorporated into the Agreement and supersedes any inconsistent or conflicting provisions of the Agreement. Terms not otherwise defined in this Rider have the meanings as defined in the Agreement.
 - 3. **Acknowledgments.** Section 28 is deleted in its entirety.
- 4. <u>Non-Solicitation</u>. The franchisor will not enforce in California the prohibition on franchisee employing or soliciting for employment any current or former employee of franchisor or its affiliates (also known as a no-poach/non-solicitation provision) in the Agreement that is disclosed in Item 17, rows q and r.
- 4. <u>Waiver of Punitive Damages and Limitations of Claims</u>. Section 27 of the Agreement is amended by adding the following:

These provisions may violate California Corporations Code section 31512, since Corporations Code section 31300 provides for damages without limitation, 31303 provides a four-year statute of limitations, 31304 provides a two-year statute of limitations for certain claims under the California Franchise Investment Law.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

California's Franchise Investment Law (Corporations Code sections 31512 and 31512.1) states that any provision of a franchise agreement or related document requiring the franchisee to waive specific provisions of the law is contrary to public policy and is void and unenforceable. The law also prohibits a franchisor from disclaiming or denying (i) representations it, its employees, or its agents make to you, (ii) your ability to rely on any representations it makes to you, or (iii) any violations of the law.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

The highest interest rate allowed by law in California is 10% annually.

The California Franchise Investment Law requires a copy of all proposed agreements relating to the sale of the franchise be delivered together with the Franchise Disclosure Document.

Neither the franchisor, nor any person or franchise broker listed in Item 2 of the disclosure document is subject to any currently effective order of any national securities association or national securities

exchange as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C.A. §78A et seq.), suspending or expelling these persons from membership in such association or exchange.

Intending to be bound, the parties sign and deliver this Rider in 2 counterparts effective on the Effective Date, regardless of the actual date of signature.

"YOU"	"WE"
	OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC
Ву:	By:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
Date:	Date:

HAWAII ADDENDA AND RIDER

ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT FOR OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC STATE OF HAWAII

1. The following paragraphs are added to the disclosure document:

THESE FRANCHISES WILL BE/HAVE BEEN FILED UNDER THE FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW OF THE STATE OF HAWAII. FILING DOES NOT CONSTITUTE APPROVAL, RECOMMENDATION OR ENDORSEMENT BY THE DIRECTOR OF REGULATORY AGENCIES OR A FINDING BY THE DIRECTOR OF REGULATORY AGENCIES THAT THE INFORMATION PROVIDED HEREIN IS TRUE, COMPLETE AND NOT MISLEADING.

THE FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW MAKES IT UNLAWFUL TO OFFER OR SELL ANY FRANCHISE IN THIS STATE WITHOUT FIRST PROVIDING TO THE PROSPECTIVE FRANCHISEE, OR SUBFRANCHISOR, AT LEAST SEVEN DAYS PRIOR TO THE EXECUTION BY THE PROSPECTIVE FRANCHISEE OF ANY BINDING FRANCHISE OR OTHER AGREEMENT, OR AT LEAST SEVEN DAYS PRIOR TO THE PAYMENT OF ANY CONSIDERATION BY THE FRANCHISEE, OR SUBFRANCHISOR, WHICHEVER OCCURS FIRST, A COPY OF THE OFFERING CIRCULAR, TOGETHER WITH A COPY OF ALL PROPOSED AGREEMENTS RELATING TO THE SALE OF THE FRANCHISE.

THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR CONTAINS A SUMMARY ONLY OF CERTAIN MATERIAL PROVISIONS OF THE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT. THE CONTRACT OR AGREEMENT SHOULD BE REFERRED TO FOR A STATEMENT OF ALL RIGHTS, CONDITIONS, RESTRICTIONS AND OBLIGATIONS OF BOTH THE FRANCHISOR AND THE FRANCHISEE.

2. The following is added to Items 5 and 21 of the disclosure document.

The payment of initial franchise fees and any other payments due us are deferred until the Franchisor has performed all initial obligations owed the Area Representative and the Area Representative has commenced doing business. This financial assurance requirement is imposed by the Hawaii Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs based on our financial condition.

RIDER OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC AREA REPRESENTATIVE AGREEMENT FOR USE IN HAWAII

This Rider is entered into this	, 20 (the "Effective Date"), between OHM
FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC ("we," "us	" or "our"), whose principal place of business is
located at 1085 SW 15th Avenue, Unit E3, D	elray Beach, Florida 33444, and
	r"), whose address is
	are referred to as the "parties" and individually
sometimes referred to as a "party") and amen	nds the Area Representative Agreement between the
parties dated as of the Effective Date (the "A	
1. Precedence and Defined Ter and supersedes any inconsistent or conflicting defined in this Rider have the meanings as de	rms. This Rider is incorporated into the Agreement g provisions of the Agreement. Terms not otherwise fined in the Agreement.
are deferred until the Franchisor has performe and the Area Representative has commenced of	initial franchise fees and any other payments due us d all initial obligations owed the Area Representative doing business. This financial assurance requirement amerce and Consumer Affairs based on our financial
Intending to be bound, the parties sign the Agreement Date, regardless of the actual	and deliver this Rider in 2 counterparts effective on date of signature.
"YOU"	"WE"
	OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC
By:	By:
By: Name:	By:Name:
Title.	Title.
Data	Data

ILLINOIS ADDENDA & RIDER

ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT FOR OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC STATE OF ILLINOIS

The following is added to the disclosure document:

No statement, questionnaire or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of: (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on behalf of the Franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

The following is added to Item 17 of the disclosure document:

Illinois law governs the Area Representative Agreement(s).

Section 4 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act states that any provision in an Area Representative Agreement that designates jurisdiction and venue in a forum outside the State of Illinois is void. However, an Area Representative Agreement may provide for arbitration to take place outside of Illinois

Franchisees' rights upon termination and non-renewal are set forth in Sections 19 and 20 of the Illinois Disclosure Act.

Section 41 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act provides that any condition, stipulation or provision purporting to bind any person acquiring any franchise to waive compliance with the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act or any other law of Illinois is void.

RIDER TO OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC AREA REPRESENTATIVE AGREEMENT FOR USE IN ILLINOIS

This Rider is entered into this	(the "Effective Date"), between OHM FITNESS
FRANCHISE, LLC ("we," "us" or "our"), and _	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
"you" or "your"), whose address is	(collectively,
you and we are referred to as the "parties" and indi-	vidually sometimes referred to as a "party") and amends
the Area Representative Agreement between the pa	arties dated as of the Effective Date (the "Agreement").

- 1. <u>Precedence and Defined Terms</u>. This Rider is incorporated into the Agreement and supersedes any inconsistent or conflicting provisions of the Agreement. Terms not otherwise defined in this Rider have the meanings as defined in the Agreement.
 - 2. **Termination**. The following is added to Section 25 of the Agreement:

The conditions under which this franchise can be terminated and a franchisee's rights upon nonrenewal are set forth in Section 19 and 20 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act.

- 6. <u>Questionnaires and Acknowledgements</u>. No statement, questionnaire or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of: (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on behalf of the Franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.
- 7. **Governing Law and Jurisdiction**. Section 29 of the Agreement is amended by adding the following:

Illinois law governs the Area Representative Agreement(s). Section 4 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act states that any provision in an Area Representative Agreement that designates jurisdiction and venue in a forum outside the State of Illinois is void. However, an Area Representative Agreement may provide for arbitration to take place outside of Illinois.

- 8. **Waiver of Jury Trial**. The jury trial waiver in Section 27 of the Agreement is deleted in its entirety.
- 9. <u>No Waiver</u>. Be advised that any condition, stipulation, or provision purporting to bind any person requiring any franchise to waive compliance with any provision of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Law or any other law of Illinois is void.
- 10. <u>Integration</u>. Add the following to this paragraph: Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this or an related agreement is intended to disclaim the express representations made in the Franchise Disclosure Document, its exhibits and amendments.

Intending to be bound, the parties sign and deliver this Rider in 2 counterparts effective on the Agreement Date, regardless of the actual date of signature.	
"YOU"	"WE"
	OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC
By:	By:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:

Date:

Date:

MARYLAND ADDENDA & RIDER

ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT FOR OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC STATE OF MARYLAND

The following is added to the disclosure document:

The Franchise Disclosure Questionnaire is not applicable in Maryland.

The following is added to Section 5 of the disclosure document:

Based upon the franchisor's financial condition, the Maryland Securities Commissioner has required a financial assurance. Therefore, we have posted a Surety Bond to satisfy this financial assurance condition. A copy of the Surety Bond is attached as Exhibit "A" to this Addendum.

Item 17 is amended by adding the following language after the table:

Any General Release required as a condition of renewal, sale and/or assignment or transfer does not apply to any liability under the Maryland Registration and Disclosure Law.

You may sue in Maryland for claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law. Any claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law must be brought within 3 years after the grant of the franchise.

The provision in the Area Representative Agreement which provides for termination upon bankruptcy of the franchisee may not be enforceable under Federal Bankruptcy Law (11 U.S.C. Section 1010 et seq.)

The Area Representative Agreement provides that disputes are resolved through arbitration. A Maryland franchise regulation state that it is an unfair or deceptive practice to require a franchisee to waive its right to file a lawsuit in Maryland claiming a violation of the Maryland Franchise Law. In light of the Federal Arbitration Act, there is some dispute as to whether this forum selection requirement is legally enforceable.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

EXHIBIT A

TO

ADDENDUM

TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT FOR OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC

STATE OF MARYLAND

BOND NO. 7901155791

STATE OF MARYLAND SECURITIES DIVISION FRANCHISOR SURETY BOND

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, THAT

	Franchise LLC dba OHM Fitr	ness
(Name of Fr	ranchisor)	
a LLC		Wyoming
` .		tate of Incorporation), with business offices at
15011 North (Address)	75th Street, SCOTTSDALE AZ	85260
as Principal, and	Nationwide Mutual Insurance (Name of Surety)	Company a corporation duly organized
business in the S	f the State of <u>Ohio</u> State of Maryland, as Surety, are hereby ed Fifty Thousand Dollars	and authorized to do held and firmly bound to the State of Maryland, in the sum
Thousand Dollars representatives,	s (\$150,000). For the payi successors and assigns, jointly and seve	ment of this sum, Principal and Surety bind themselves, their erally by these presents.
required under th		n as a franchisor to offer and sell franchises in Maryland, as Disclosure Law, Title 14, Subtitle 2, Business Regulation he Maryland Franchise Law); and
WHERE condition of its re	EAS, Principal executes this surety bond gistration to offer and sell franchises in l	under §14-217 of the Maryland Franchise Law, as a Maryland;
NOW, T	HEREFORE, the Principal agrees as fo	llows:
1.		ulations and statutes of the State of Maryland, now or ws now or hereafter existing, affecting or relating to the offer or sale
2.	this bond by existing and future statutes, rul	ny and all applicable requirements and provisions required to be in es and regulations of the State of Maryland, and laws, the same as ere fully set forth in this bond, and by reference such requirements
3.	subfranchisor's business is fully operational	erform and fulfill, up to and until the time at which a franchisee's or all undertakings, covenants, terms, conditions and agreements of stract duly authorized by the parties to the contract, that the subfranchisors.
4.	This bond is for the benefit of the State of M from Principal.	laryland and all persons purchasing franchises and area franchises
5.	This bond shall become effective at12	2:01am on 09/20/2023
	It may be cancelled by Surety and Surety re by Principal after the effective date of cance Securities Commissioner and Principal rece	of day) (date) llieved of liability with respect to a franchise agreement entered into ellation. Cancellation is effective 90 days after the Maryland vive written notice from Surety of cancellation. Notwithstanding any dremains effective with respect to any franchise agreements e date of cancellation.
Nationwide M	lutual Insurance Company	OHM Fitness Franchise LLC dba OHM Fitness
(Name of Surety)) ,	(Name of Franchisor)
By:	Com the	By:
	orney in Fact) Christopher Kolger	(Signature of Officer, Partner, or Sole Proprietor)
******	************	********************
Approved as to form	n:	
Assistan	t Attorney General	Date

INSTRUCTIONS: 1. This side is to be completed by a notary public for both the Principal and the Surety. Please attach the Power of Attorney and Certified Copy of the Corporate Resolution for the Surety 2. STATE OF **ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF PRINCIPAL** COUNTY OF _____ (INDIVIDUAL PROPRIETORSHIP) The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____day of _____, ____ (Name of Person Acknowledged) (CORPORATION) The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this day of , (Name of Corporation President) (State of Incorporation) (Name of Corporation) corporation, on behalf of the corporation. (PARTNERSHIP) The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____day of ______, ___ _____, a partner on behalf of (Name of Acknowledging Partner) _____, a partnership. (Name of Partnership) Notary Public NOTARY SEAL Cty: _____ Comm. Exp: ____ STATE OF Colorado **ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF SURETY** COUNTY OF Denver The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this 26th day of September . 2023 Attorney-in-Fact _{bv}Christopher Kolger (Name and Title of Officer or Agent) of Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company (Name of Corporation Acknowledging) a Ohio corporation, on behalf of the corporation. (State of Incorporation) **Notary Public** Cty: Indianapolis State of Colorado Notary Public Commission No. 20234025521 y Commission Expires 07/07/2027 Comm. Exp: 02/29/2024

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS THAT:

Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company, an Ohio corporation

hereinafter referred to severally as the Company and collectively as the Companies does hereby make, constitute and appoint: CHRISTOPHER KOLGER; JOSEPH J PERSCHY; AARON STEFFEY;

each in their individual capacity, its true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power and authority to sign, seal, and execute on its behalf any and all bonds and undertakings, and other obligatory instruments of similar nature, in penalties not exceeding the sum of

FIVE MILLION AND NO/100 DOLLARS (\$5,000,000.00)

and to bind the Company thereby, as fully and to the same extent as if such instruments were signed by the duly authorized officers of the Company; and all acts of said Attorney pursuant to the authority given are hereby ratified and confirmed.

This power of attorney is made and executed pursuant to and by authority of the following resolution duly adopted by the board of directors of the Company:

RESOLVED, that the president, or any vice president be, and each hereby is, authorized and empowered to appoint attorneys-in-fact of the Company, and to authorize them to execute and deliver on behalf of the Company any and all bonds, forms, applications, memorandums, undertakings, recognizances, transfers, contracts of indemnity, policies, contracts guaranteeing the fidelity of persons holding positions of public or private trust, and other writings obligatory in nature that the business of the Company may require; and to modify or revoke, with or without cause, any such appointment or authority; provided, however, that the authority granted hereby shall in no way limit the authority of other duly authorized agents to sign and countersign any of said documents on behalf of the Company.

RESOLVED FURTHER, that such attorneys-in-fact shall have full power and authority to execute and deliver any and all such documents and to bind the Company subject to the terms and limitations of the power of attorney issued to them, and to affix the seal of the Company thereto; provided, however, that said seal shall not be necessary for the validity of any such documents.

This power of attorney is signed and sealed under and by the following bylaws duly adopted by the board of directors of the Company.

Execution of Instruments. Any vice president, any assistant secretary or any assistant treasurer shall have the power and authority to sign or attest all approved documents, instruments, contracts, or other papers in connection with the operation of the business of the company in addition to the chairman of the board, the chief executive officer, president, treasurer or secretary; provided, however, the signature of any of them may be printed, engraved, or stamped on any approved document, contract, instrument, or other papers of the Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this instrument to be sealed and duly attested by the signature of its officer the 20th day of August, 2021.



Antonio C. Albanese, Vice President of Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

STATE OF NEW YORK COUNTY OF NEW YORK: ss

On this 20th day of August, 2021, before me came the above-named officer for the Company aforesaid, to me personally known to be the officer described in and who executed the preceding instrument, and he acknowledged the execution of the same, and being by me duly sworn, deposes and says, that he is the officer of the Company aforesaid, that the seal affixed hereto is the corporate seal of said Company, and the said corporate seal and his signature were duly affixed and subscribed to said instrument by the authority and direction of said Company.

Stephanie Rubino McArthur Notary Public, State of New York No. 02MC6270117 Qualified in New York County Commission Expires October 19, 2024

Notary Public

My Commission Expires October 19, 2024

CERTIFICATE

I, Laura B. Guy, Assistant Secretary of the Company, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the original power of attorney issued by the Company; that the resolution included therein is a true and correct transcript from the minutes of the meetings of the boards of directors and the same has not been revoked or amended in any manner; that said Antonio C. Albanese was on the date of the execution of the foregoing power of attorney the duly elected officer of the Company, and the corporate seal and his signature as officer were duly affixed and subscribed to the said instrument by the authority of said board of directors; and the foregoing power of attorney is still in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed my name as Assistant Secretary, and affixed the corporate seal of said Company this 26th day of September, 2023

Assistant Secretary

BDJ 1(08-21)00



SURETY BOND SEAL ADDENDUM

Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company

Due to logistical issues associated with the use of traditional seals during the COVID-19 pandemic, Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company has authorized its Attorneys-in-Fact to affix Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company's corporate seal to any bond executed on behalf of Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company by any such Attorney-in-Fact by attaching this Addendum to said bond.

To the extent this Addendum is attached to a bond that is executed on behalf of Nationwide Mutual Dated this Insurance Company by its Attorney-in-Fact, Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company hereby agrees that the seal below shall be deemed affixed to said bond to the same extent as ifits raised corporate seal was physically affixed to the face of the bond.

Dated this 2 day of April, 2020.

Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company

Antonio C. Albanos

Antonio C. Albanese, Vice President - Surety

Nation ide Mutual Insurance Company

RIDER TO OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC AREA REPRESENTATIVE AGREEMENT FOR USE IN MARYLAND

This Rider is entered into this	(the "Effective Date"), between OHM
FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC ("we," "us" or "our"	"), and
"you" or "your"), whose address is _	
(collectively, you and we are referred to as the "par	ties" and individually sometimes referred to
as a "party") and amends the Area Representative A	greement between the parties dated as of the
Effective Date (the "Agreement").	

- 1. <u>Precedence and Defined Terms</u>. This Rider is incorporated into the Agreement and supersedes any inconsistent or conflicting provisions of the Agreement. Terms not otherwise defined in this Rider have the meanings as defined in the Agreement.
- 2. <u>Development Fee</u>. Based upon the franchisor's financial condition, the Maryland Securities Commissioner has required a financial assurance. Therefore, we have posted a Surety Bond to satisfy this financial assurance condition.
- 3. <u>No Release, Estoppel or Waiver of State Law</u>. All representations requiring prospective franchisees to assent to a release, estoppel or waiver of liability are not intended to nor shall they act as a release, estoppel or waiver of any liability incurred under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.
- 4. <u>Development Fee</u>. Based upon the franchisor's financial condition, the Maryland Securities Commissioner has required a financial assurance. Therefore, we have posted a Surety Bond to satisfy this financial assurance condition.
- 5. <u>Jurisdiction</u>. Any litigation arising on claims under Maryland Law may be brought by the Franchisee in Maryland.
- 6. <u>Limitation on Claims</u>. Nothing in this Agreement will reduce the 3-year statute of limitations afforded a franchisee for bringing a claim arising under Maryland Law. All claims arising under the Maryland Law must be brought within 3 years after the grant of the franchise.
- 7. <u>General Release</u>. Any General Release required as a condition of renewal, sale and/or assignment or transfer does not apply to any liability under the Maryland Registration and Disclosure Law.
- 8. <u>Your Representations</u>. Section 28 of the Agreement is deleted in its entirety. No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf

of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

Intending to be bound, the parties sign and deliver this Rider in 2 counterparts effective on the Agreement Date, regardless of the actual date of signature.

"YOU"	"WE"
	OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC
By:	By:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
Date:	Date:

MINNESOTA ADDENDA & RIDER

ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT FOR OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC STATE OF MINNESOTA

The following is added to the disclosure document:

The Franchise Disclosure Questionnaire is not applicable in Minnesota.

Risk Factor:

Minnesota Broker's License Required. The training program provided by the franchisor (see Item 11) is not designed to provide an area representative the broker's license that will be necessary to operate the franchise business in the state of Minnesota. Area Representatives will either need to possess or acquire a broker license, associate with another person that holds a broker's license, or hire employee(s) that possess a broker's license.

The following is added to Section 5 of the disclosure document:

Based upon the franchisor's financial condition, the Minnesota Securities Commissioner has required a financial assurance. Therefore, we have posted a Surety Bond to satisfy this financial assurance condition. A copy of the Surety Bond is attached as Exhibit "A" to this Addendum.

Item 17, summary column for (f) is amended to add the following:

With respect to franchises governed by Minnesota law, we will comply with Minn. Stat. Sec. 80C.14, subds. 3, 4 and 5 which require, except in certain specified cases, that you be given 90 days' notice of termination (with 60 days to cure) and 180 days' notice for non-renewal of the Area Representative Agreement; and that consent to the transfer of the franchise will not be unreasonably withheld.

Item 17, summary column for (m) is amended to add the following:

Any release signed as a condition of transfer will not apply to any claims you may have under the Minnesota Franchise Act. Minnesota Rules 2860.4400(D) [revisor.leg.state.mn.us] prohibits a franchisor from requiring a franchisee to assent to a general release.

Item 17, summary columns for (v) and (w) are amended to add the following:

Minnesota Statute 80C.21 [revisor.leg.state.mn.us] and Minnesota Rule 2860.4400(J) [revisor.leg.state.mn.us] prohibit the franchiser from requiring litigation to be conducted outside Minnesota, requiring waiver of a jury trial, or requiring the franchisee to consent to liquidated damages, termination penalties or judgment notes. In addition, nothing in the Franchise Disclosure Document or agreement(s) can abrogate or reduce (1) any of the franchisee's rights as provided for in Minnesota Statute 80C [revisor.leg.state.mn.us]or (2) franchisee's rights to any procedure, forum, or remedies provided for by the laws of the jurisdiction. e. NSF checks are governed by Minnesota Statute 604.113, which puts a cap of \$30 on service charges.

Minnesota considers it unfair to not protect the franchisee's right to use the trademarks. Refer to Minnesota Statute 80C.12 Subd. 1(G) [revisor.mn.gov]. The franchisor will protect the franchisee's rights to use the trademarks, service marks, trade names, logotypes, or other commercial symbols or indemnify the franchisee from any loss, costs, or expenses arising out of any claim, suit, or demand regarding the use of the name.

The Limitations of Claims section must comply with Minnesota Statute 80C.17 Subd. 5. [revisor.leg.state.mn.us].

NSF checks are governed by Minnesota Statute 60-5.113, which puts a cap of \$30 on service charges.

Minnesota Rules 2860.4400(G) prohibits a franchisor from imposing on a franchisee by contract or rule, whether written or oral, any standard of conduct that is unreasonable.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including, fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with this franchise.

EXHIBIT A

TO

ADDENDUM

TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT FOR

OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC

STATE OF MINNESOTA

BOND NO. 107926584

STATE OF MINNESOTA FRANCHISOR SURETY BOND

THE TT THE THEFT OF THE OWN THE	NTS, THAT OHM Fitness Franchise LLC
a WY	(Name of Franchisor)
(Address)	
as Principal and Travelers Casualty and Su	urety Company of America , a corporation duly
(Name of Sure	ty) - han han manintana area-transport area stransport and stransport
rganized under the laws of the State of CONI	NECTICUT, and authorized to do
usiness in the State of Minnesota, as Surety, a	are hereby held and firmly bound to the State of
innesota, in the sum of One Hundred and	Fifty Thousand
ollars (\$150,000.00). For the payment of the paymen	of this sum, Principal and Surety bind and assigns, jointly and severally by these presents.
The parties further agree that:	
The purpose of this obligation	is to secure the compliance by Principal with its franchise contract
legistration Number) in accordant 2860.1900.	dance with Minnesota Statutes, Section 80C.05 and Minnesota Rules,
This bond is for the benefit of ncipal.	the State of Minnesota and all persons purchasing franchises from
If Principal shall violate the fra	anchise contract by failing to provide real estate, improvements.
uipment, inventory, training or any other items nchise business, the Commissioner of Comm a result of such violation, shall have, in additi	anchise contract by failing to provide real estate, improvements, is included in the offering, prior to the time of the opening of the nerce of the State of Minnesota, as well as any franchisee damaged ion to all other legal remedies, a right of action on this Bond in the he injured party.
quipment, inventory, training or any other items anchise business, the Commissioner of Comm a result of such violation, shall have, in additi	is included in the offering, prior to the time of the opening of the herce of the State of Minnesota, as well as any franchisee damaged ion to all other legal remedies, a right of action on this Bond in the he injured party. October 12, 2023
quipment, inventory, training or any other items inchise business, the Commissioner of Commissioner of Such violation, shall have, in additione of the injured party for loss sustained by the sustained by the sustained by the sustained by Surety and Surety relieves incipal after the effective date of cancellation. In the sustained by Surety and Surety relieves incipal after the effective date of cancellation. In the sustained by Surety and Surety relieves incipal after the effective date of cancellation. In the sustained by Surety and Surety relieves incipal after the effective date of cancellation.	is included in the offering, prior to the time of the opening of the herce of the State of Minnesota, as well as any franchisee damaged ion to all other legal remedies, a right of action on this Bond in the he injured party.
quipment, inventory, training or any other items inchise business, the Commissioner of Commissioner of Such violation, shall have, in additione of the injured party for loss sustained by the su	s included in the offering, prior to the time of the opening of the herce of the State of Minnesota, as well as any franchisee damaged ion to all other legal remedies, a right of action on this Bond in the he injured party. Stive at 12:00am on October 12, 2023 (time of day) (date) Cancellation is effective 30 days after the Commissioner of from Surety of cancellation. Notwithstanding any such cancellation, respect to any franchise agreements entered into by Principal prior
uipment, inventory, training or any other items inchise business, the Commissioner of Comm a result of such violation, shall have, in additine of the injured party for loss sustained by the sustained by the sustained by the sustained by Surety and Surety relieve nay be cancelled by Surety and Surety relieve nay be cancelled by Surety and Surety relieve nay be cancelled by Surety and Surety relieve nay after the effective date of cancellation. In the sum of	s included in the offering, prior to the time of the opening of the sterce of the State of Minnesota, as well as any franchisee damaged on to all other legal remedies, a right of action on this Bond in the he injured party. Stive at 12:00am October 12, 2023 (time of day) (date) ed of liability with respect to franchise agreements entered into by Cancellation is effective 30 days after the Commissioner of rom Surety of cancellation. Notwithstanding any such cancellation, respect to any franchise agreements entered into by Principal prior rica OHM Fitness Franchise LLC (Name of Franchisor)
uipment, inventory, training or any other items nchise business, the Commissioner of Comm a result of such violation, shall have, in additine of the injured party for loss sustained by the substance of the injured party for loss sustained by the substance of the injured party for loss sustained by the substance of the injured party for loss sustained by the substance of the injured party for loss sustained by the substance of the injured party for loss sustained by the substance of the injured party for loss sustained by the substance of the injured party for loss sustained by the substance of the injured party for loss sustained by the substance of the injured party for loss sustained by the substance of the injured party for loss sustained by the injured	s included in the offering, prior to the time of the opening of the sterce of the State of Minnesota, as well as any franchisee damaged ion to all other legal remedies, a right of action on this Bond in the he injured party. The at 12:00am on October 12, 2023 (time of day) (date) and of liability with respect to franchise agreements entered into by Cancellation is effective 30 days after the Commissioner of from Surety of cancellation. Notwithstanding any such cancellation, respect to any franchise agreements entered into by Principal prior of the state of
ruipment, inventory, training or any other items inchise business, the Commissioner of Comm a result of such violation, shall have, in additione of the injured party for loss sustained by the sustained by the sustained by the sustained by the sustained by Surety and Surety relieve any be cancelled by Surety and Surety relieve any be cancelled by Surety and Surety relieve and after the effective date of cancellation. In more cand Principal receive written notice for the effective date of cancellation. Savelers Casualty and Surety Company of American Charles of Surety)	sincluded in the offering, prior to the time of the opening of the herce of the State of Minnesota, as well as any franchisee damaged ion to all other legal remedies, a right of action on this Bond in the he injured party. Itive at 12:00am on October 12, 2023 (time of day) (date) It do do liability with respect to franchise agreements entered into by Cancellation is effective 30 days after the Commissioner of from Surety of cancellation. Notwithstanding any such cancellation, respect to any franchise agreements entered into by Principal prior OHM Fitness Franchise LLC (Name of Franchisor) By: (Signature of Officer, Partner, or Sole Proprietor)
quipment, inventory, training or any other items anchise business, the Commissioner of Commissioner of Such violation, shall have, in additioner of the injured party for loss sustained by the sum of the injured party for loss sustained by the sum of the injured party for loss sustained by the sum of the injured party for loss sustained by the sum of the injured party for loss sustained by the sum of the injured party for loss sustained by the effective day and Surety and Surety relieve incipal after the effective date of cancellation. This bond shall become effect the effective date of cancellation with the effective date of cancellation. The sum of the injured party effective with the effective date of cancellation. The sum of the injured party effective with the effective date of cancellation. The sum of the injured party for loss sustained by the sum of the injured party effective with the effective date of cancellation. The sum of the injured party for loss sustained by the sum of the injured party in the sum of the injured party	s included in the offering, prior to the time of the opening of the herce of the State of Minnesota, as well as any franchisee damaged ion to all other legal remedies, a right of action on this Bond in the he injured party. Itive at 12:00am October 12, 2023 (time of day) (date) ed of liability with respect to franchise agreements entered into by Cancellation is effective 30 days after the Commissioner of from Surety of cancellation. Notwithstanding any such cancellation, respect to any franchise agreements entered into by Principal prior rica OHM Fitness Franchise LLC (Name of Franchisor) By:
quipment, inventory, training or any other items anchise business, the Commissioner of Commissioner of Commissioner of Sa result of such violation, shall have, in additioner of the injured party for loss sustained by the same of the injured party for loss sustained by the same of the injured party for loss sustained by the same of the injured party for loss sustained by the same of the injured party and Surety relieve incipal after the effective date of cancellation. This bond shall become effect and surety relieve incipal after the effective date of cancellation. This bond shall become effect and surety effective with the effective and Principal receive written notice for verage under this bond remains effective with the effective date of cancellation. The verage under the effective date of cancellation.	sincluded in the offering, prior to the time of the opening of the state of Minnesota, as well as any franchisee damaged on to all other legal remedies, a right of action on this Bond in the he injured party. Itive at 12:00am October 12, 2023 (time of day) (date) and of liability with respect to franchise agreements entered into by Cancellation is effective 30 days after the Commissioner of from Surety of cancellation. Notwithstanding any such cancellation, respect to any franchise agreements entered into by Principal prior Trica OHM Fitness Franchise LLC (Name of Franchisor) By: (Signature of Officer, Partner, or Sole Proprietor) Steve Belknap Vice President-Regional States of the States of Minnesof Franchisor)

Instructions:	
1. This side is to be completed by a notary public for both	the Principal and the Surety.
2. Please attach the Power of Attorney and Certified listed herein.	Copy of the Corporate Resolution for the Surety
STATE OF Arizona	erinus, correction and agencial familieral. Alternative registrature, all Attending become
COUNTY OF Maricopa	ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF PRINCIPAL
(INDIVIDUAL PROPRIETORSHIP)	
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me th	isday of,
(Name of Person Acknowledged)	We all the
хежновамых Limited Liability Company	
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me the	
2023 , by Steve Belknap, Vice President-R	egional Sales _{residentot} x Of
(Name of Cornoration President)	Wyoming limited liability company
(Name of Control Acknowledging)	(State of known protection)
EXCENTIONS, on behalf of the someonism limited liability	ty companyxx
(PARTNERSHIP)	
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me the	nis day of KNAWAAAAAA ,
EXECUTE . by	, a partner on behalf of
(Name of Acknowledging Partner)	partnership.
ALEXANDRIA HARTSWORM Notary Public, State of Arizona Maricopa County Commission # 579200 My Commission Expires January 31, 2024	A. Hortoubun Notary Public Cty: Scottsdale Comm. Exp: 1/31/2024
NOTARY SEAL	ag fine files. No Turbustania, any Assistant Frankrita, the Corporate Science of the Corporate S
STATE OF Arizona	procurement in this or hear contribution or have providence and authority of the last the contribution of
COUNTY OF Maricopa) ss.	ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF SURETY
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me the	nis 12 day of October
2023 by VALERIE ABER	Attorney-In-Fact of
(Name and Title of Officer or Agent) Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America	CONNECTICUT
(Name of Corporation Acknowledging) corporation, on behalf of the corporation.	(State of Incorporation)
AMANDA LYNN TURNER Notery Public, State of Arizona Mericopa County Commission # 637078 My Commission Expires September 27, 2026	Motary Public

NOTARY SEAL

Cty: Litchfield Park, AZ Comm. Exp: 09/27/2026



Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America Travelers Casualty and Surety Company St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company Farmington Casualty Company

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: That Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America, Travelers Casualty and Surety Company, St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company, and Famington Casualty Company are corporations duly organized under the laws of the State of Connecticut (herein collectively called the "Companies"), and that the Companies do hereby make, constitute and appoint VALERIE ABER, of PHOENIX, AZ, their true and lawful Attorney(s)-in-Fact, to sign, execute, seal and acknowledge the following bond:

Surety Bond No.: 107926584

Principal: OHM Fitness Franchise LLC

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Companies have caused this instrument to be signed and their corporate seals to be hereto affixed, this 21st day of April, 2021.



State of Connecticut

City of Hartford ss.

By:

Robert L. Raney, Senior Vice President

On this the 21st day of April, 2021, before me personally appeared Robert L. Raney, who acknowledged himself to be the Senior Vice President of each of the Companies, and that he, as such, being authorized so to do, executed the foregoing instrument for the purposes therein contained by signing on behalf of said Companies by himself as a duly authorized officer.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and official seal.

My Commission expires the 30th day of June, 2026

MOTANY OF PARE & Marile Notice

Anna P. Nowik, Notary Public

This Power of Attorney is granted under and by the authority of the following resolutions adopted by the Boards of Directors of each of the Companies, which resolutions are now in full force and effect, reading as follows:

RESOLVED, that the Chairman, the President, any Vice Chairman, any Executive Vice President, any Senior Vice President, any Vice President, any Second Vice President, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the Corporate Secretary or any Assistant Secretary may appoint Attorneys-in-Fact and Agents to act for and on behalf of the Company and may give such appointee such authority as his or her certificate of authority may prescribe to sign with the Company's name and seal with the Company's seal bonds, recognizances, contracts of indemnity, and other writings obligatory in the nature of a bond, recognizance, or conditional undertaking, and any of said officers or the Board of Directors at any time may remove any such appointee and revoke the power given him or her; and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Chairman, the President, any Vice Chairman, any Executive Vice President, any Senior Vice President or any Vice President may delegate all or any part of the foregoing authority to one or more officers or employees of this Company, provided that each such delegation is in writing and a copy thereof is filed in the office of the Secretary; and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that any bond, recognizance, contract of indemnity, or writing obligatory in the nature of a bond, recognizance, or conditional undertaking shall be valid and binding upon the Company when (a) signed by the President, any Vice Chairman, any Executive Vice President, any Serior Vice President or any Vice President, any Second Vice President, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the Corporate Secretary or any Assistant Secretary and duly attested and sealed with the Company's seal by a Secretary or Assistant Secretary; or (b) duly executed (under seal, if required) by one or more Attorneys-in-Fact and Agents pursuant to the power prescribed in his or her certificate or their certificates of authority or by one or more Company officers pursuant to a written delegation of authority; and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the signature of each of the following officers: President, any Executive Vice President, any Senior Vice President, any Vice President, any Assistant Vice President, any Secretary, and the seal of the Company may be affixed by facsimile to any Power of Attorney or to any certificate relating thereto appointing Resident Vice Presidents, Resident Assistant Secretaries or Attorneys-in-Fact for purposes only of executing and attesting bonds and undertakings and other writings obligatory in the nature thereof, and any such Power of Attorney or certificate bearing such facsimile signature or facsimile seal shall be valid and binding upon the Company and any such power so executed and certified by such facsimile signature and facsimile seal shall be valid and binding on the Company in the future with respect to any bond or understanding to which it is attached.

I, Kevin E. Hughes, the undersigned, Assistant Secretary of each of the Companies, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing is a true and correct copy of the Power of Attorney executed by said Companies, which remains in full force and effect.

Dated this 12 day of October, 2023.









Har E. Huylan
Kevin F. Huylan Assistant Secretary

Kevin E. Hughes, Assistant Secretary

RIDER TO OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC AREA REPRESENTATIVE AGREEMENT FOR USE IN MINNESOTA

This Rider is entered into this	(the "Effective Date"), between OHM FITNESS
FRANCHISE, LLC ("we," "us" or "our"), and	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
"you" or "your"), whose address is	(collectively,
you and we are referred to as the "parties" and indiv	vidually sometimes referred to as a "party") and amends
the Area Representative Agreement between the pa	arties dated as of the Effective Date (the "Agreement").

- 1. <u>Precedence and Defined Terms</u>. This Rider is incorporated into the Agreement and supersedes any inconsistent or conflicting provisions of the Agreement. Terms not otherwise defined in this Rider have the meanings as defined in the Agreement.
- 2. <u>Development Fee.</u> Based upon the franchisor's financial condition, the Minnesota Securities Commissioner has required a financial assurance. Therefore, we have posted a Surety Bond to satisfy this financial assurance condition.
- 3. <u>Insufficient Funds</u>. Insufficient Funds checks are governed by Minnesota Statute 60-5.113, which puts a cap of \$30 on service charges
 - 4. <u>Transfer</u>. Section 24 of the Agreement is amended to add the following:

Our consent to the transfer of the franchise will not be unreasonably withheld. Any release signed as a condition of transfer will not apply to any claims you may have under the Minnesota Franchise Act. Minnesota Rules 2860.4400(D) [revisor.leg.state.mn.us] prohibits a franchisor from requiring a franchisee to assent to a general releasec.

5. <u>Expiration of this Agreement</u>. Section 7 of the Agreement is amended to add the following:

With respect to franchises governed by Minnesota Law, we will comply with Minn. Stat. Sec. 80c.14, subds. 3, 4, and 5, which require, except in certain specified cases, that you be given 180 days' notice of non-renewal of the Area Representative Agreement.

6. **Termination**. Section 25 of the Agreement is amended to add the following:

With respect to franchises governed by Minnesota Law, we will comply with Minn. Stat. Sec. 80c.14, subds. 3, 4, and 5, which require, except in certain specified cases, that you be given 90 days' notice of termination (with 60 days to cure). Any release signed as a condition of transfer will not apply to any claims you may have under the Minnesota Franchise Act. Minnesota Rules 2860.4400(D) [revisor.leg.state.mn.us] prohibits a franchisor from requiring a franchisee to assent to a general releasec.

7. **Jurisdiction**. The following is added to Section 29:

Minn. Stat. Sec. 80C.21 and Minn. Rules 2860.4400J prohibit us from requiring litigation to be conducted outside Minnesota. In addition, nothing in the Disclosure Document or Area Representative Agreement can abrogate or reduce any of your rights as provided for

in Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 80C, or your rights to any procedure, forum or remedies provided for by the laws of the jurisdiction.

- 8. **Waiver of Jury Trial**. The jury trial waiver in Section 27 of the Agreement is deleted in its entirety.
 - 9. **Limitation of Claims**. Section 27 is amended to add the following:

No action may be commenced for claims coming under Minnesota Law more than 3 years after the cause of action accrues.

- 10. <u>Injunctive Relief</u>. The Franchisee does not consent to the Franchisor obtaining injunctive relief for any matters coming under Minnesota Law; but the Franchisor may seek such injunctive relief.
- 11. <u>General Release</u>. Pursuant to Minn. Rule 2860.4400D the general release required as a condition of renewal, sale and/or assignment/transfer shall not apply to any liability under the Minnesota Franchise Act.
 - 12. <u>Miscellaneous</u>. The following provisions are added to this Agreement:
 - a. Minnesota Rules 2860.4400(G) prohibits a franchisor from imposing on a franchisee by contract or rule, whether written or oral, any standard of conduct that is unreasonable.
 - b. No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including, fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with this franchise

Intending to be bound, the parties sign and deliver this Rider in 2 counterparts effective on the Agreement Date, regardless of the actual date of signature.

"YOU"	" W E"
	OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC
By:	By:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
Date:	Date:

NEW YORK ADDENDA

ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT FOR OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC STATE OF NEW YORK

The following is added to the disclosure document:

The Franchise Disclosure Questionnaire is not applicable in New York.

The following information is added to the cover page of the disclosure document:

INFORMATION COMPARING FRANCHISORS IS AVAILABLE. CALL THE STATE ADMINISTRATORS LISTED IN EXHIBIT A OR YOUR PUBLIC LIBRARY FOR SOURCES OF INFORMATION. REGISTRATION OF THIS FRANCHISE BY NEW YORK STATE DOES NOT MEAN THAT NEW YORK STATE RECOMMENDS IT OR HAS VERIFIED THE INFORMATION IN THIS FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT. IF YOU LEARN THAT ANYTHING IN THE FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT IS UNTRUE, CONTACT THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION AND NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF LAW, INVESTOR PROTECTION BUREAU, 28 LIBERTY STREET, 21ST FLOOR, NEW YORK, NEW YORK 10005. THE FRANCHISOR MAY, IF IT CHOOSES, NEGOTIATE WITH YOU ABOUT ITEMS COVERED IN THE FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT. HOWEVER, THE FRANCHISOR CANNOT USE THE NEGOTIATING PROCESS TO PREVAIL UPON A PROSPECTIVE FRANCHISEE TO ACCEPT TERMS WHICH ARE LESS FAVORABLE THAN THOSE SET FORTH IN THIS FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT.

The following is added at the end of Item 3 of the disclosure document:

Except as provided above, with regard to the franchisor, its predecessor, a person identified in Item 2, or an affiliate offering franchises under the franchisor's principal trademark:

- A. No such party has an administrative, criminal or civil action pending against that person alleging: a felony, a violation of a franchise, antitrust, or securities law, fraud, embezzlement, fraudulent conversion, misappropriation of property, unfair or deceptive practices, or comparable civil or misdemeanor allegations.
- B. No such party has pending actions, other than routine litigation incidental to the business, which are significant in the context of the number of franchisees and the size, nature or financial condition of the franchise system or its business operations.
- C. No such party has been convicted of a felony or pleaded nolo contendere to a felony charge or, within the 10 year period immediately preceding the application for registration, has been convicted of or pleaded nolo contendere to a misdemeanor charge or has been the subject of a civil action alleging: violation of a franchise, antifraud, or securities law; fraud; embezzlement; fraudulent conversion or misappropriation of property; or unfair or deceptive practices or comparable allegations.
- D. No such party is subject to a currently effective injunctive or restrictive order or decree relating to the franchise, or under a Federal, State, or Canadian franchise, securities, antitrust, trade regulation or trade practice law, resulting from a concluded or pending action or proceeding brought by a public agency; or is subject to any currently effective order of any national securities

association or national securities exchange, as defined in the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, suspending or expelling such person from membership in such association or exchange; or is subject to a currently effective injunctive or restrictive order relating to any other business activity as a result of an action brought by a public agency or department, including, without limitation, actions affecting a license as a real estate broker or sales agent.

The following is added to the end of Item 4 of the disclosure document:

Neither the franchisor, its affiliate, its predecessor, officers, or general partner during the 10-year period immediately before the date of the offering circular: (a) filed as debtor (or had filed against it) a petition to start an action under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code; (b) obtained a discharge of its debts under the bankruptcy code; or (c) was a principal officer of a company or a general partner in a partnership that either filed as a debtor (or had filed against it) a petition to start an action under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or that obtained a discharge of its debts under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code during or within 1 year after that officer or general partner of the franchisor held this position in the company or partnership.

The following is added to the end of Item 5 of the disclosure document:

The initial franchise fee constitutes part of our general operating funds and will be used as such in our discretion.

The following is added to the end of the "Summary" sections of Item 17(c), titled "Requirements for franchisee to renew or extend," and Item 17(m), entitled "Conditions for franchisor approval of transfer":

However, to the extent required by applicable law, all rights you enjoy and any causes of action arising in your favor from the provisions of Article 33 of the General Business Law of the State of New York and the regulations issued thereunder shall remain in force; it being the intent of this proviso that the non-waiver provisions of General Business Law Sections 687.4 and 687.5 be satisfied.

The following language replaces the "Summary" section of Item 17(d), titled "Termination by franchisee":

You may terminate the agreement on any grounds available by law.

The following is added to the end of the "Summary" section of Item 17(j), titled "Assignment of contract by franchisor":

However, no assignment will be made except to an assignee who in good faith and judgment of the franchisor, is willing and financially able to assume the franchisor's obligations under the Area Representative Agreement.

The following is added to the end of the "Summary" sections of Item 17(v), titled "Choice of forum", and Item 17(w), titled "Choice of law":

The foregoing choice of law should not be considered a waiver of any right conferred upon the franchisor or upon the franchisee by Article 33 of the General Business Law of the State of New York.

NORTH DAKOTA ADDENDA & RIDER

ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT FOR OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA

The following is added to the disclosure document:

The Franchise Disclosure Questionnaire is not applicable in North Dakota.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

The following is added to Section 5 of the disclosure document:

Based upon the franchisor's financial condition, the North Dakota Securities Commissioner has required a financial assurance. Therefore, we have posted a Surety Bond to satisfy this financial assurance condition. A copy of the Surety Bond is attached as Exhibit "A" to this Addendum.

The Summary column of Item 17 paragraph (c) of the disclosure document is modified to read as follows:

Give us at least 90 days' notice of your intention to renew, sign our current form of Area Representative Agreement and ancillary agreements, and sign a release (except for matters coming under the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law (the ND Law").

The Summary column of Item 17 paragraph (r) of the disclosure document is modified by adding the following at the end of the sentence:

Covenants not to compete such as those mentioned above are generally considered unenforceable in the State of North Dakota.

The Summary column of Item 17 paragraph (u) of the disclosure document is amended by adding the following at the end of the paragraph:

The site of arbitration or mediation will be agreeable to all parties and may not be remote from the franchisee place of business.

The Summary column of Item 17 paragraph (v) of the disclosure document is amended to read as follows:

Except for matters coming under the ND Law, litigation must be in Maricopa County, Arizona.

The Summary column of Item 17 paragraph (w) of the disclosure document is amended to read as follows:

Except for matters coming under the ND Law, the law of Arizona (subject to state law).*

The Franchisee is not required to waive jury trial for any matters coming under ND Law.

EXHIBIT A

TO

ADDENDUM

TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT FOR OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA

400		40000000
Dand	MI	107935500
DUILU	NO.	10//0000

SURETY BOND For Single Unit and Area Representative Franchises

We OHM Fitness Franchise LLC	a Representative Franchises a corporation with principal offices at
15011 N 75th St #2, SCOTTSDALE, AZ 85260	, as principal, and
Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America	, a surety company incorporated under the law
of the State (Province) of <u>CONNECTICUT</u> , and authorized to <u>NORTH DAKOTA</u> , as Surety, are indebted to administrator, <u>I</u>	conduct business in the State (Province) of
Obligee, in the sum of \$59,000.00 to be	paid to the Obligee or its legal representatives, successors,
or assigns, for which payment we bind ourselves and our legal WHEREAS, the above-named principal has made applic	
franchises under the N.D.C.C. 51-19; and WHEREAS, the Principal proposes to offer in NORTH D	AKOTA franchise(s) within one
year from the effective date of the proposed registration under WHEREAS, the administrator has authority to require a finand/or services to assist its franchisees in establishing and optimanchise fees and other payments or other means acceptable WHEREAS, one of the means by which a franchisor can furnishing of a security bond in form and with surety acceptable WHEREAS, the administrator finds this bond and surety WHEREAS, the Obligee intends to assign this bond to the	r N.D.C.C. 51-19 and ranchisor to assure its financial capability to furnish goods ening their franchise businesses by the escrow of to the administrator; and give such assurance of financial capability is the e to the administrator; and acceptable on the conditions herein stated; and the respective purchaser(s) of the aforementioned
franchise(s) upon sale of the aforementioned franchise(s) to sa THEREFORE, the condition of this bond is that if the Pri shall:	
1. Comply with the <u>N.D.C.C. 51-19</u> and all rules and	orders promulgated thereunder; and
 Pay all damages suffered by any person by reason of the or orders promulgated thereunder of any acts, rules or thereto, or hereafter enacted, or by reason of any missing material fact necessary in order to make any statement statement was made, not misleading, including, but no 	orders amendatory thereof and/or supplementary epresentation, deceit, fraud or omission to state a standard in light of the circumstances under which such

3. Fully completes its obligations under the franchise agreement and all related agreements to provide real estate, improvements, equipment, inventory, training, and other items included in the franchise offering;

N.D.C.C. 51-19 and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, the true financial condition of

franchisor; and

In the event that any action or proceeding is initiated with respect to this bond, the parties agree that the venue thereof shall be the state of province in which the offer or sale of the franchise occurred.

Litchfield Park, AZ	,this	30	day of	October	
		Ç	HM Fitness Fr	anchise LLC	\
SEAL)		P	rincipal		
			y Stove I	Belknap-Membe	or.
			Name and T	itle	
(SEAL)		Т	ravelers Casualt	y and Surety Compa	ny of America
		1	urety	/ M	
				illiett	fr
		A	torney-in-Fact	VALERIE ABÈ	R
		1.	3341 Windian	School Rd, Suite 30:	5 - 10- Jan 19
		Ā	ddress of Attorr	ney-in-Fact	
		L	itchfield Park, A	Z 85340	



Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America Travelers Casualty and Surety Company St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company Farmington Casualty Company

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: That Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America, Travelers Casualty and Surety Company, St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company, and Farmington Casualty Company are corporations duly organized under the laws of the State of Connecticut (herein collectively called the "Companies"), and that the Companies do hereby make, constitute and appoint VALERIE ABER, of PHOENIX, AZ, their true and lawful Attorney(s)-in-Fact, to sign, execute, seal and acknowledge the following bond:

Surety Bond No.: 107935500

Principal: OHM Fitness Franchise LLC

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Companies have caused this instrument to be signed and their corporate seals to be hereto affixed, this 21st day of April, 2021.









State of Connecticut

City of Hartford ss.

Robert L. Raney, Senior Vice President

On this the 21st day of April, 2021, before me personally appeared Robert L. Raney, who acknowledged himself to be the Senior Vice President of each of the Companies, and that he, as such, being authorized so to do, executed the foregoing instrument for the purposes therein contained by signing on behalf of said Companies by himself as a duly authorized officer.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and official seal.

My Commission expires the 30th day of June, 2026

WOTAN AP NOWIK

Anna P. Nowik, Notary Public

This Power of Attorney is granted under and by the authority of the following resolutions adopted by the Boards of Directors of each of the Companies, which resolutions are now in full force and effect, reading as follows:

RESOLVED, that the Chairman, the President, any Vice Chairman, any Executive Vice President, any Senior Vice President, any Vice President, any Second Vice President, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the Corporate Secretary or any Assistant Secretary may appoint Attorneys-in-Fact and Agents to act for and on behalf of the Company and may give such appointee such authority as his or her certificate of authority may prescribe to sign with the Company's name and seal with the Company's seal bonds, recognizances, contracts of indemnity, and other writings obligatory in the nature of a bond, recognizance, or conditional undertaking, and any of said officers or the Board of Directors at any time may remove any such appointee and revoke the power given him or her; and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Chairman, the President, any Vice Chairman, any Executive Vice President, any Senior Vice President or any Vice President may delegate all or any part of the foregoing authority to one or more officers or employees of this Company, provided that each such delegation is in writing and a copy thereof is filed in the office of the Secretary; and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that any bond, recognizance, contract of indemnity, or writing obligatory in the nature of a bond, recognizance, or conditional undertaking shall be valid and binding upon the Company when (a) signed by the President, any Vice Chairman, any Executive Vice President, any Senior Vice President or any Vice President, any Second Vice President, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the Corporate Secretary or any Assistant Secretary and duly attested and sealed with the Company's seal by a Secretary or Assistant Secretary; or (b) duly executed (under seal, if required) by one or more Attorneys-in-Fact and Agents pursuant to the power prescribed in his or her certificate or their certificates of authority or by one or more Company officers pursuant to a written delegation of authority; and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the signature of each of the following officers: President, any Executive Vice President, any Senior Vice President, any Vice President, any Assistant Vice President, any Assistant Vice President, any Assistant Vice President, any Secretary, and the seal of the Company may be affixed by facsimile to any Power of Attorney or to any certificate relating thereto appointing Resident Vice Presidents, Resident Assistant Secretaries or Attorneys-in-Fact for purposes only of executing and attesting bonds and undertakings and other writings obligatory in the nature thereof, and any such Power of Attorney or certificate bearing such facsimile signature or facsimile seal shall be valid and binding upon the Company and any such power so executed and certified by such facsimile signature and facsimile seal shall be valid and binding on the Company in the future with respect to any bond or understanding to which it is attached.

I, Kevin E. Hughes, the undersigned, Assistant Secretary of each of the Companies, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing is a true and correct copy of the Power of Attorney executed by said Companies, which remains in full force and effect.

Dated this 30 day of October, 2023.









Kevin E. Hughes, Assistant Secretary

To verify the authenticity of this Power of Attorney, please call us at 1-800-421-3880.

Please refer to the above-named Attorney(s)-in-Fact and the details of the bond to which this Power of Attorney is attached.

RIDER TO OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC AREA REPRESENTATIVE AGREEMENT FOR USE IN NORTH DAKOTA

This Rider is entered into this (the "Effective")	e Date"), between OHM
FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC ("we," "us" or "our"), and	·
"you" or "your"), whose address is	
(collectively, you and we are referred to as the "parties" and individua	ally sometimes referred to
as a "party") and amends the Area Representative Agreement between	the parties dated as of the
Effective Date (the "Agreement").	-

- 1. <u>Precedence and Defined Terms</u>. This Rider is incorporated into the Agreement and supersedes any inconsistent or conflicting provisions of the Agreement. Terms not otherwise defined in this Rider have the meanings as defined in the Agreement.
- 2. <u>Development Fee</u>. Based upon the franchisor's financial condition, the North Dakota Securities Commissioner has required a financial assurance. Therefore, we have posted a Surety Bond to satisfy this financial assurance condition.
- 2. <u>Grant of Successor Franchise</u>. You are not required to sign a general release as to any matters coming under the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law (the "ND Law").
- 3. <u>Post-Term Competitive Restrictions</u>. Covenants not to compete, such as those mentioned in this section, are generally unenforceable in the State of North Dakota.
- 4. **Jurisdiction**. All matters coming under the ND Law may be brought in the courts of North Dakota.
- 5. <u>Waiver of Jury Trial</u>. The jury trial waiver in Section 27 of the Agreement is deleted in its entirety.
- 7. <u>Limitation of Claims</u>. The statute of limitations under ND Law applies to all matters coming under ND Law.
 - 8. **Governing Law**. This Agreement will be governed by North Dakota law.
- 9. <u>Mediation and/or Arbitration</u>. The site of arbitration or mediation will be agreeable to all parties and may not be remote from the franchisee place of business.
- 10. <u>No Waiver</u>. No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

Intending to be bound, the parties sign and deliver this Rider in 2 counterparts effective on the Agreement Date, regardless of the actual date of signature.

"YOU"	"WE"
	OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC
By:	By:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
Date:	Date:

RHODE ISLAND ADDENDA

ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT FOR OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC STATE OF RHODE ISLAND

The following is added to the disclosure document:

The Franchise Disclosure Questionnaire is not applicable in Rhode Island.

The following sentence is added to Item 17 (v) and (w): A provision in an Area Representative Agreement restricting jurisdiction or venue to a forum outside Rhode Island or requiring the application of the laws of another state is void with respect to a claim otherwise enforceable under the Rhode Island Franchise Investment Act.

VIRGINIA ADDENDA & RIDER

ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT FOR OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC STATE OF VIRGINIA

The following is added to the disclosure document:

The Franchise Disclosure Questionnaire is not applicable in Virginia.

Item 17(h) of the disclosure document is amended to add the following language:

Under Section 13.1-564 of the Virginia Retail Franchising Act, it is unlawful for a franchisor to cancel a franchise without reasonable cause. If any grounds for default or termination stated in the Area Representative Agreement does not constitute "reasonable cause," as that term may be defined in the Virginia Retail Franchising Act or the laws of Virginia, that provision may not be enforceable.

WASHINGTON ADDENDA & RIDER

ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT FOR OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC STATE OF WASHINGTON

The following is added to the disclosure document:

The Franchise Disclosure Questionnaire is not applicable in Washington.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of: (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement; or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

An Area Representative may be required to register as a franchise broker in Washington pursuant to RCW 19.100.140.

The following is added to Section 5 of the disclosure document:

Based upon the franchisor's financial condition, the Washington State Securities Division has required a financial assurance. Therefore, we have posted a Surety Bond to satisfy this financial assurance condition. A copy of the Surety Bond is attached as Exhibit "A" to this Addendum.

In the event of a conflict of laws, the provisions of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, Chapter 19.100 RCW will prevail.

RCW 19.100.180 may supersede the Area Representative Agreement in your relationship with the franchisor including the areas of termination and renewal of your franchise. There may also be court decisions which may supersede the Area Representative Agreement in your relationship with the franchisor including the areas of termination and renewal of your franchise.

In any arbitration or mediation involving a franchise purchased in Washington, the arbitration or mediation site will be either in the state of Washington, or in a place mutually agreed upon at the time of the arbitration or mediation, or as determined by the arbitrator or mediator at the time of arbitration or mediation. In addition, if litigation is not precluded by the Area Representative Agreement, a franchisee may bring an action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with the sale of franchises, or a violation of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, in Washington.

A release or waiver of rights executed by a franchisee may not include rights under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act or any rule or order thereunder except when executed pursuant to a negotiated settlement after the agreement is in effect and where the parties are represented by independent counsel. Provisions such as those which unreasonably restrict or limit the statute of limitations period for claims under the Act, or rights or remedies under the Act such as a right to a jury trial, may not be enforceable.

Transfer fees are collectable to the extent that they reflect the franchisor's reasonable estimated or actual costs in effecting a transfer.

Pursuant to RCW 49.62.020, a noncompetition covenant is void and unenforceable against an employee, including an employee of a franchisee, unless the employee's earnings from the party seeking enforcement, when annualized, exceed \$100,000 per year (an amount that will be adjusted annually for inflation). In addition, a noncompetition covenant is void and unenforceable against an independent contractor of a franchisee under RCW 49.62.030 unless the independent contractor's earnings from the party seeking enforcement, when annualized, exceed \$250,000 per year (an amount that will be adjusted annually for inflation). As a result, any provisions contained in the Area Representative Agreement or elsewhere that conflict with these limitations are void and unenforceable in Washington.

RCW 49.62.060 prohibits a franchisor from restricting, restraining, or prohibiting a franchisee from (i) soliciting or hiring any employee of a franchisee of the same franchisor or (ii) soliciting or hiring any employee of the franchisor. As a result, any such provisions contained in the Area Representative Agreement or elsewhere are void and unenforceable in Washington.

EXHIBIT A

TO

ADDENDUM

TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT FOR OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC

STATE OF WASHINGTON

RIDER TO OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC AREA REPRESENTATIVE AGREEMENT FOR USE IN WASHINGTON

This Rider is entered into this	(the "Effective Date"), between OHM FITNESS
FRANCHISE, LLC ("we," "us" or "our"), and	
"you" or "your"), whose address is	(collectively,
you and we are referred to as the "parties" and indi	ividually sometimes referred to as a "party") and amends
the Area Representative Agreement between the p	parties dated as of the Effective Date (the "Agreement").

- 1. <u>Precedence and Defined Terms</u>. This Rider is incorporated into the Agreement and supersedes any inconsistent or conflicting provisions of the Agreement. Terms not otherwise defined in this Rider have the meanings as defined in the Agreement.
- 2. <u>Development Fee.</u> Based upon the franchisor's financial condition, the Administrator of the Washington State Securities Division has required a financial assurance. Therefore, we have posted a Surety Bond to satisfy this financial assurance condition.
- 3. **Register as Franchise Broker.** You may be required to register as a franchise broker in Washington pursuant to RCW 19.100.140.
- 4. <u>Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act:</u> In the event of a conflict of laws, the provisions of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, Chapter 19.100 RCW will prevail.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of: (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement; or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

RCW 19.100.180 may supersede the Area Representative Agreement in your relationship with the franchisor including the areas of termination and renewal of your franchise. There may also be court decisions which may supersede the Area Representative Agreement in your relationship with the franchisor including the areas of termination and renewal of your franchise.

In any arbitration or mediation involving a franchise purchased in Washington, the arbitration or mediation site will be either in the state of Washington, or in a place mutually agreed upon at the time of the arbitration or mediation, or as determined by the arbitrator or mediator at the time of arbitration or mediation. In addition, if litigation is not precluded by the Area Representative Agreement, a franchisee may bring an action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with the sale of franchises, or a violation of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, in Washington.

A release or waiver of rights executed by a franchisee may not include rights under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act or any rule or order thereunder except when executed pursuant to a negotiated settlement after the agreement is in effect and where the parties are represented by independent counsel. Provisions such as those which unreasonably restrict or limit the statute of limitations period for claims under the Act, or rights or remedies under the Act such as a right to a jury trial, may not be enforceable.

Transfer fees are collectable to the extent that they reflect the franchisor's reasonable estimated or actual costs in effecting a transfer.

Pursuant to RCW 49.62.020, a noncompetition covenant is void and unenforceable against an employee, including an employee of a franchisee, unless the employee's earnings from the party seeking enforcement, when annualized, exceed \$100,000 per year (an amount that will be adjusted annually for inflation). In addition, a noncompetition covenant is void and unenforceable against an independent contractor of a franchisee under RCW 49.62.030 unless the independent contractor's earnings from the party seeking enforcement, when annualized, exceed \$250,000 per year (an amount that will be adjusted annually for inflation). As a result, any provisions contained in the Area Representative Agreement or elsewhere that conflict with these limitations are void and unenforceable in Washington.

RCW 49.62.060 prohibits a franchisor from restricting, restraining, or prohibiting a franchisee from (i) soliciting or hiring any employee of a franchisee of the same franchisor or (ii) soliciting or hiring any employee of the franchisor. As a result, any such provisions contained in the Area Representative Agreement or elsewhere are void and unenforceable in Washington.

- 5. <u>Commission on Royalty Fees</u>. Revised Section 6.2 of the Agreement to state that the royalty fee is currently equal to 6%.
- 6. <u>General Release</u>. In accordance with RCW 19.100.220, a General Release will not apply to claims arising under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, Chapter 19.100 RCW, or the rules adopted thereunder.
- 7. <u>Certain Covenants</u>. Sections 19.6 and 19.7 of the Agreement; Section 3(e) and 3(f) of Attachment C to the Agreement and Section 5 in Attachment E to the Agreement will not apply to Washington Area Representatives.
- 8. <u>Indemnity</u>. Your obligations to indemnify, defend, reimburse, and hold harmless referenced in Section 23 of the Agreement do not extend to liabilities caused by the Indemnified Parties' negligence, willful misconduct, strict liability, or fraud. You will not indemnify, defend, reimburse, and hold harmless the Indemnified Parties for claims, causes of action, lawsuits, demands, proceedings, investigations, and/or hearings related to the Indemnified Parties' violation of state or federal franchise law.
- 9. <u>Disput Resolution</u>. The provisions of Section 27 of the Agreement placing a one-year limit for you and the Franchisor to bring claims against the other will not to Washington Area Representatives.
- 10. <u>Your Representations</u>. The provisions of Section 28 of the agreement will not apply to Washington Area Representatives.
- 11. **Relationship of the Parties**. The following provisions of Section 29.2 will not apply to Washington Area Representatives: "In addition, neither we nor you will be obligated by or have any liability under any agreement or representation made by the other that are not expressly authorized by this Agreement."
 - 12. **Integration**. Section 29.8 of the Agreement is deleted in its entirety.
 - 13. **Covenant of Good Faith.** Section 29.9 will not apply to Washington area representatives.
- 12. **Financial Security**. Sections 5 of the Attachment C of the Agreement does not apply to Washington area representatives.

Intending to be bound, the Agreement Date, regardless of the action of t	parties sign and deliver this Rider in 2 counterparts effective on the ctual date of signature.
"YOU"	"WE"
	OHM FITNESS FRANCHISE, LLC
By:Name:	By: Name:
Title: Date:	Title: Date:

and Section 4 of Attachment E to the Agreement will not apply to Washington area representatives.

This Rider applies to all related agreements.

<u>Unfair Competition After Relationship</u>. Section 3(d) of Attachment C to the Agreement

EXHIBIT H TO DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT GENERAL RELEASE

[See Attached]

WAIVER AND RELEASE OF CLAIMS

WINVER IN DICEINGE OF CERTIFIC
This Waiver and Release of Claims (the "Release") is made as of, 20 by, a(n)("Franchisee"), and each individual holding an ownership interest in Franchisee (collectively with Franchisee, "Releasor") in favor of OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC, a Wyoming limited liability company ("Franchisor," and together with Releasor, the "Parties"). This Release will not apply to claims arising under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, Chapter 19.100 RCW, or the rules adopted thereunder.
WHEREAS, Franchisor and Franchisee have entered into an Area Representative Agreement (the " <u>Agreement</u> ") pursuant to which Franchisee was granted the right to own and operate an OHM® Fitness area representative business;
WHEREAS, Franchisee has notified Franchisor of its desire to transfer the Agreement and all rights related thereto, or an ownership interest in Franchisee, to a transferee, [enter into a successor franchise agreement] and Franchisor has consented to such transfer [agreed to enter into a successor franchise agreement]; and
WHEREAS, as a condition to Franchisor's consent to the transfer [Franchisee's ability to enter into a successor franchise agreement], Releasor has agreed to execute this Release upon the terms and conditions stated below.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of Franchisor's consent to the transfer [Franchisor entering into a successor franchise agreement], and for other good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency and receipt of which are hereby acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound, Releasor hereby agrees as follows:
Representations and Warranties2. Releasor represents and warrants that it is duly authorized to enter into this Release and to perform the terms and obligations herein contained, and has not assigned, transferred or conveyed, either voluntarily or by operation of law, any of its rights or claims against Franchisor or any of the rights, claims or obligations being terminated and released hereunder. [
Release3. Releasor and its subsidiaries, affiliates, parents, divisions, successors and assigns and all persons or firms claiming by, through, under, or on behalf of any or all of them, hereby release, acquit and forever discharge Franchisor, any and all of its affiliates, parents, subsidiaries or related companies, divisions and partnerships, and its and their past and present officers, directors, agents, partners, shareholders, employees, representatives, successors and assigns, and attorneys, and the spouses of such individuals (collectively, the "Released Parties"), from any and all claims, liabilities, damages, expenses, actions or causes of action which Releasor may now have or has ever had, whether known or unknown, past or present, absolute or contingent, suspected or unsuspected, of any nature whatsoever, including without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all claims, liabilities, damages, expenses, actions or causes of action directly or indirectly arising out of or relating to the execution and performance of the Agreement and the offer and sale of the franchise related thereto.

<u>Non-disparagement</u>4. Releasor expressly covenants and agrees not to make any false representation of facts, or to defame, disparage, discredit or deprecate any of the Released Parties or otherwise communicate with any person or entity in a manner intending to damage any of the Released Parties, their business or their reputation. This restriction does not apply to communication with any state or federal regulatory or law enforcement agencies.

Miscellaneous5..

Releasor agrees that it has read and fully understands this Release and that the opportunity has been afforded to Releasor to discuss the terms and contents of said Release with legal counsel and/or that such a discussion with legal counsel has occurred.

This Release shall be construed and governed by the laws of the Arizona.

Each individual and entity that comprises Releasor shall be jointly and severally liable for the obligations of Releasor.

In the event that it shall be necessary for any Party to institute legal action to enforce or for the breach of any of the terms and conditions or provisions of this Release, the prevailing Party in such action shall be entitled to recover all of its reasonable costs and attorneys' fees.

All of the provisions of this Release shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their current and future respective directors, officers, partners, attorneys, agents, employees, shareholders and the spouses of such individuals, successors, affiliates, and assigns. No other party shall be a third-party beneficiary to this Release.

This Release constitutes the entire agreement and, as such, supersedes all prior oral and written agreements or understandings between and among the Parties regarding the subject matter hereof. This Release may not be modified except in a writing signed by all of the Parties. This Release may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute but one and the same document.

If one or more of the provisions of this Release shall for any reason be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect or impair any other provision of this Release, but this Release shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had not been contained herein.

The Parties agree to do such further acts and things and to execute and deliver such additional agreements and instruments as any Party may reasonably require to consummate, evidence, or confirm the Release contained herein in the matter contemplated hereby.

[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF Releasor has executed this Release as of the date first written above.

FRANCHISEE

		_, a	
Name	e:	_	
	FRANCHISEE'S OWNERS		
Date		Signature	
		Typed or Printed Name	
	STATE OF	SS.	
	The foregoing instrument was acknowled	edged before me this day of	, by
Notary	Public		
	My commission expires:		

Date		Signature	
		Signature	
		Typed or Printed Name	
	STATE OF		
	County of) ss.)	
	The foregoing instrument was acl	knowledged before me this day of	, by
Notary			
	My commission expires:		
Date			
		Signature	
		Typed or Printed Name	
	STATE OF)) ss.	
	County of		
	The foregoing instrument was acl	knowledged before me this day of	, by
Notary	Public		
	My commission expires:		

EXHIBIT I TO DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT State Effective Dates

The following states have franchise laws that require that the Franchise Disclosure Document be registered or filed with the state, or be exempt from registration: California, Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, New York, North Dakota, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Virginia, Washington, and Wisconsin.

This document is effective and may be used in the following states, where the document is filed, registered or exempt from registration, as of the Effective Date stated below:

State	Effective Date	
California	Pending	
Hawaii	June 20, 2024	
Illinois	Pending	
Indiana	Effective August 24, 2023	
Maryland	Effective November 30, 2023, amended	
	effective , 2024	
Michigan	Effective August 11, 2023	
Minnesota	Effective December 8, 2023, amended	
	effective July 1 2024	
New York	Pending	
North Dakota	Effective December 14, 2023, amended	
	effective July 12, 2024	
Rhode Island	Effective August 22, 2023, amended	
	effective July 11, 2024	
South Dakota	Effective August 13, 2023	
Virginia	Effective October 23, 2023, amended	
	effective , 2024	
Washington	Pending	
Wisconsin	Effective August 12, 2023, amended	
	effective May 15, 2024	

Other states may require registration, filing, or exemption of a franchise under other laws, such as those that regulate the offer and sale of business opportunities or seller-assisted marketing plans.

EXHIBIT J TO DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT

RECEIPTS

[See Attached]

RECEIPT

This disclosure document (area representative) summarizes certain provisions of the franchise agreement and other information in plain language. Read this disclosure document and all agreements carefully.

If OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC offers you a franchise, it must provide this disclosure document to you 14 calendar days before you sign a binding agreement with, or make a payment to, the franchisor or an affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale. New York requires that we give you this disclosure document at the earlier of the first personal meeting or 10 business days before the execution of the franchise or other agreement, or payment of any consideration that relates to the franchise relationship. Michigan requires that we give you this disclosure document at least 10 business days before the execution of any binding franchise or other agreement, or payment of any consideration, whichever occurs first.

If OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC does not deliver this disclosure document on time or if it contains a false or misleading statement, or a material omission, a violation of federal law and state law may have occurred and should be reported to the Federal Trade Commission, Washington, D.C. 20580 and any applicable state agency (as listed in Exhibit "A" to this disclosure document).

The franchisor is OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC, located at 15011 N. 75th Street, Suite #2, Scottsdale, Arizona 85260. Its telephone number is (480) 797-2854.

We authorize the respective state agencies identified on Exhibit "A" to receive service of process for us if we are registered in the particular state.

Issuance Date: May 1, 2024

The name, principal business address, and telephone number of the franchise sellers offering the franchise are:

Name	Principal Business Address	Telephone Number
Steven Belknap Douglas Payne Eric Hamann Joshua Coba Jordan Krams	15011 N. 75th Street, Suite #2 Scottsdale, Arizona 85260	(480) 797-2854

I received a disclosure document dated May 1, 2024 (the state effective dates are listed on the pages preceding the table of contents). The disclosure document included the following Exhibits:

Exhibit "A"	State Agencies And Administrators And Agent For Service Of Process
Exhibit "B"	Area Representative Agreement
Exhibit "C"	Table Of Contents Of Area Representative Brand Standards Manual
Exhibit "D"	List Of Area Representatives
Exhibit "E"	Financial Statements
Exhibit "F"	Franchisee Disclosure Questionnaire
Exhibit "G"	State Addenda And Riders
Exhibit "H"	General Release
Exhibit "I"	State Effective Dates
Exhibit "J"	Receipts
	Prospective
Date	Franchisee

(Keep this page for your records)

RECEIPT

This disclosure document (area representative) summarizes certain provisions of the franchise agreement and other information in plain language. Read this disclosure document and all agreements carefully.

If OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC offers you a franchise, it must provide this disclosure document to you 14 calendar days before you sign a binding agreement with, or make a payment to, the franchisor or an affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale. New York requires that we give you this disclosure document at the earlier of the first personal meeting or 10 business days before the execution of the franchise or other agreement, or payment of any consideration that relates to the franchise relationship. Michigan requires that we give you this disclosure document at least 10 business days before the execution of any binding franchise or other agreement, or payment of any consideration, whichever occurs first.

If OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC does not deliver this disclosure document on time or if it contains a false or misleading statement, or a material omission, a violation of federal law and state law may have occurred and should be reported to the Federal Trade Commission, Washington, D.C. 20580 and any applicable state agency (as listed in Exhibit "A" to this disclosure document).

The franchisor is OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC, located at 15011 N. 75th Street, Suite #2, Scottsdale, Arizona 85260. Its telephone number is (480) 797-2854.

We authorize the respective state agencies identified on Exhibit "A" to receive service of process for us if we are registered in the particular state.

Issuance Date: May 1, 2024

The name, principal business address, and telephone number of the franchise sellers offering the franchise are:

Name	Principal Business Address	Telephone Number
Steven Belknap Douglas Payne Eric Hamann Joshua Coba Jordan Krams	15011 N. 75th Street, Suite #2 Scottsdale, Arizona 85260	(480) 797-2854

I received a disclosure document dated May 1, 2024 (the state effective dates are listed on the pages preceding the table of contents). The disclosure document included the following Exhibits:

Exhibit "A"	State Agencies And Administrators And Agent For Service Of Process
Exhibit "B"	Area Representative Agreement
Exhibit "C"	Table Of Contents Of Area Representative Brand Standards Manual
Exhibit "D"	List Of Area Representatives
Exhibit "E"	Financial Statements
Exhibit "F"	Franchisee Disclosure Questionnaire
Exhibit "G"	State Addenda And Riders
Exhibit "H"	General Release
Exhibit "I"	State Effective Dates
Exhibit "J"	Receipts
	Prospective
Date	Franchisee

Sign and return this copy to: OHM Fitness Franchise, LLC 15011 N. 75th Street, Suite #2 Scottsdale, Arizona 85260